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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements about us and our industry that involve substantial risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future financial condition, future operations, projected costs, prospects, plans, 
objectives of management and expected market growth, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-
looking statements by terminology such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “can,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” 
“design,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “future,” “goal,” “guidance,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” 
“ongoing,” “positioned,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “shall,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and other 
similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends, or the negative of these terms or other 
comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

• the impact on our business of the civil settlement agreement with the U.S. government that resolved the investigation by the 
U.S. Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) related to insurance claims for reimbursement submitted to various federal employee 
health plans under the Federal Employee Health Benefits (“FEHB”) program, the extent to which we may be able to validate 
and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement to health plans under the FEHB 
program, and our ability to obtain, maintain or increase insurance coverage for our hearing aids in the future;

• our expectations with regard to changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices, including the implementation of 
the United States Food and Drug Administration’s new over-the-counter (“OTC”) hearing aid regulatory framework and any 
potential Medicare coverage for certain hearing aids, as well as any potential actions insurance providers may take following 
such regulatory changes;

• the expense, timing and outcome of the purported securities class action litigation alleging that certain of our disclosures 
about our business, operations and prospects, including reimbursement from third-party payors, violated the federal securities 
laws and the purported derivative action alleging that our directors breached their fiduciary duties by failing to implement 
and maintain an effective system of internal controls;

• estimates of our future revenue and expenses;

• estimates of our future capital needs and our ability to raise capital on favorable terms, if at all, including the timing of future 
capital requirements and the terms or timing of any future financings;

• our expectations regarding our omni-channel business, including commercial partnerships with retailers, resellers and other 
distributors, and our ability to execute additional commercial partnerships and expand our customers’ experience of and 
access to our devices through such commercial partnerships;

• our ability to attract and retain customers; 

• our expectations concerning additional orders by existing customers;

• our expectations regarding the potential market size and size of the potential consumer populations for our products and any 
future products, including our ability to obtain, maintain or increase insurance coverage of, and reimbursement of insurance 
claims for, Eargo hearing aids, which is substantially dependent on, among other things, the outcomes of our efforts to 
validate and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement from various federal health 
plans, any third-party payor audits and pending regulations;

• our ability to release new hearing aids and the anticipated features of any such hearing aids and our ability to transition our 
existing customers to new hearing aids, including when older models are discontinued;

• developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing products;

• our ability to maintain our competitive technological advantages against new entrants in our industry;

• the pricing of our hearing aids;

• our expectations regarding the availability, supply, cost and inflationary pressures related to the component parts of our 
hearing aids;

• our expectations regarding the ability to make certain claims related to the performance of our hearing aids relative to 
competitive products;

• our commercialization and marketing capabilities and expectations;

• our relationships with, and the capabilities of, our component manufacturers, suppliers and freight carriers;

• the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business, products and technology;
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• the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our products, including 
the projected terms of patent protection;

• our ability to effectively manage our business in light of the civil settlement agreement with the U.S. government, any third-
party payor claims audits and medical records reviews, purported securities class action and derivative litigations, and 
pending regulations;

• our ability to retain existing talent and attract new, highly skilled talent; 

• our expectations regarding macroeconomic conditions, including but not limited to, the impact of COVID-19, inflationary 
trends, uncertainty or volatility in the market (including recent and potential disruption in the banking system and financial 
markets) and geopolitical events (such as the conflict in Ukraine and tensions across the Taiwan Strait) on our business and 
results of operations; and

• our future financial performance.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about future 
events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial 
needs. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not rely upon forward-looking 
statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement 
contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance or events 
and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur at all. You should refer to the section titled 
“Risk Factors” for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or 
implied by our forward-looking statements. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may 
be material. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

Eargo, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited) 
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

    March 31,     December 31,  
    2023     2022  

ASSETS            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 79,776     $ 101,238  
Accounts receivable, net     1,920       1,910  
Inventories     4,837       5,036  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     11,104       7,846  

Total current assets     97,637       116,030  
Operating lease right-of-use assets     7,835       5,765  
Property and equipment, net     6,430       7,441  
Intangible assets, net     956       1,063  
Goodwill     873       873  
Other assets     779       906  
Total assets   $ 114,510     $ 132,078  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable   $ 8,976     $ 6,504  
Accrued expenses     8,114       12,715  
Sales returns reserve     5,840       3,942  
Other current liabilities     1,379       1,462  
Lease liability, current portion     695       628  

Total current liabilities     25,004       25,251  
Lease liability, noncurrent portion     7,166       5,973  
Total liabilities     32,170       31,224  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)            
Stockholders’ equity:            
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 5,000,000 shares authorized
   as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; zero shares
   issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
   respectively     —       —  
Common stock; $0.0001 par value; 450,000,000 shares authorized 
   as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 
   20,741,841 and 20,726,965 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023
   and December 31, 2022, respectively     2       2  
Additional paid-in capital     618,559       615,151  
Accumulated deficit     (536,221 )     (514,299 )
Total stockholders’ equity     82,340       100,854  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 114,510     $ 132,078  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  

Revenue, net   $ 11,813     $ 9,176  
Cost of revenue     6,691       5,491  
Gross profit     5,122       3,685  
Operating expenses:            

Research and development    4,605       5,847  
Sales and marketing    13,401       13,290  
General and administrative    9,908       14,934  

Total operating expenses     27,914       34,071  
Loss from operations     (22,792 )     (30,386 )
Other income (expense), net:            

Interest income    870       5  
Interest expense    —       (264 )

Total other income (expense), net     870       (259 )
Loss before income taxes     (21,922 )     (30,645 )
Income tax provision     —       —  
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $ (21,922 )   $ (30,645 )
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   $ (21,922 )   $ (30,645 )
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   $ (1.06 )   $ (15.59 )
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share
   attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted     20,734,403       1,966,154  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited) 

(In thousands, except share amounts)
 

    Common stock    
Additional

paid-in     Accumulated    
Total

stockholders’  
    Shares     Amount     capital     deficit     equity  

Balance December 31, 2022     20,726,965     $ 2     $ 615,151     $ (514,299 )   $ 100,854  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       3,408       —       3,408  
Release of restricted stock units     14,876       —       —       —       —  
Net loss and comprehensive loss     —       —       —       (21,922 )     (21,922 )

Balance March 31, 2023     20,741,841       2       618,559       (536,221 )     82,340  
 

    Common stock    
Additional

paid-in       Accumulated    
Total

stockholders’  
    Shares     Amount     capital       deficit     equity  
 Balance December 31, 2021     1,965,347     $ —     $ 425,976       $ (356,812 )   $ 69,164  

 Stock-based compensation     —       —       3,024         —       3,024  
 Exercise of stock options     1,871       —       92         —       92  
 Restricted stock units cash settlement     —       —       (69 )       —       (69 )
 Net loss and comprehensive loss     —       —       —         (30,645 )     (30,645 )

 Balance March 31, 2022     1,967,218     $ —     $ 429,023       $ (387,457 )   $ 41,566  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited) 

(In thousands)
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
Operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (21,922 )   $ (30,645 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:            

Depreciation and amortization     1,280       1,419  
Stock-based compensation     3,408       2,985  
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of debt discount     —       105  
Non-cash operating lease expense     226       371  
Bad debt expense     123       174  
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     —       28  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Accounts receivable     (133 )     120  
Inventories     199       (75 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (3,510 )     1,345  
Other assets     (1,465 )     665  
Accounts payable     3,389       2,962  
Accrued expenses     (4,601 )     107  
Sales returns reserve     1,898       (141 )
Settlement liability     —       57  
Other current and noncurrent liabilities     (83 )     257  
Operating lease liabilities     (139 )     (84 )

Net cash used in operating activities     (21,330 )     (20,350 )
Investing activities:            

Purchases of property and equipment     (102 )     (685 )
Capitalized software development costs     (30 )     (257 )

Net cash used in investing activities     (132 )     (942 )
Financing activities:            

Proceeds from stock options exercised     —       93  
Restricted stock units settled in cash     —       (69 )

Net cash provided by financing activities     —       24  
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (21,462 )     (21,268 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     101,238       110,500  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 79,776     $ 89,232  
Non-cash operating activities:            

Lease liability obtained in exchange for right-of-use asset   $ 1,399     $ —  
Non-cash investing and financing activities:            

Property and equipment and capitalized software costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 30     $ 116  
Stock-based compensation included in capitalized software costs   $ —     $ 39  
Convertible preferred stock issuance costs included in accounts payable   $ —     $ 600  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of business and other matters

Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) is a medical device company dedicated to improving the quality of life of people with hearing loss. The 
Company’s innovative product and go-to-market approach address the major challenges of traditional hearing aid adoption, including 
social stigma, accessibility and cost.

Reverse stock split

In January 2023, the Company effected a reverse split of shares of the Company’s common stock on a 1-for-20 basis (the “Reverse 
Stock Split”). The Company’s common stock began trading on a post-split basis on January 18, 2023. The number of authorized 
shares of the common stock was not adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. All share and per share data in these unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the effect of the Reverse Stock Split for all 
periods presented. The shares of common stock retain a par value of $0.0001 per share. Accordingly, an amount equal to the par value 
of the decreased shares resulting from the Reverse Stock Split was reclassified from common stock to additional paid-in capital.

DOJ investigation and settlement 

On September 21, 2021, the Company was informed that it was the target of a criminal investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice 
(the “DOJ”) related to insurance claims for reimbursement the Company submitted on behalf of its customers covered by various 
federal employee health plans under the Federal Employee Health Benefits (“FEHB”) program, which is administered by the Office of 
Personnel Management (the “OPM”). The investigation also pertained to Eargo’s role in claim submissions to federal employee health 
plans (collectively, the “DOJ investigation”). Total payments the Company received from the government in relation to claims 
submitted under the FEHB program, as subject to the DOJ investigation, net of any product returns and associated refunds, were 
approximately $44.0 million. Additionally, the third-party payor with whom the Company historically had the largest volume, which is 
one of the carriers contracted with the OPM under the FEHB program (“largest third-party payor”), conducted an audit of insurance 
claims for reimbursement (“claims”) submitted by the Company (the “Primary Audit”), which included a review of medical records. 
On January 4, 2022, the DOJ confirmed to the Company that the investigation had been referred to the Civil Division of the DOJ and 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Texas and the criminal investigation was no longer active.

On April 29, 2022, the Company entered into a civil settlement agreement with the U.S. government that resolved the DOJ 
investigation related to the Company’s role in claim submissions to various federal employee health plans under the FEHB program. 
The settlement agreement provided for the Company’s payment of approximately $34.4 million to the U.S. government and resolved 
allegations that the Company submitted or caused the submission of claims for payment to the FEHB program using unsupported 
hearing loss-related diagnostic codes. As discussed further in Note 5, based on the settlement agreement with the U.S. government, the 
Company recorded a settlement liability of $34.4 million as of December 31, 2021. The settlement amount was treated as 
consideration payable to a customer and was recorded as a reduction of revenue in the third quarter of 2021. On May 2, 2022, the 
Company paid the settlement amount.

In September 2022, the Company made the determination not to seek payment for approximately $16.1 million from customers with 
unsubmitted and unpaid claims which was accounted for as a pricing concession (the “Pricing Concession”). During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a $16.1 million reduction to its insurance-related accounts receivable balance along with 
related reduction to net revenue of $11.6 million and an allowance for credit losses balance of $4.5 million for such unsubmitted and 
unpaid claims. Further, the Company simultaneously recorded a decrease in its insurance-related sales return reserve of $11.3 million 
along with a corresponding increase of $11.3 million to net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to unsubmitted and 
unpaid claims. These changes resulted in a decrease in net revenue of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Liquidity and going concern

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the 
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities during the normal course of business. The Company has incurred losses and 
negative cash flows from operations since its inception and management expects to incur additional substantial losses in the 
foreseeable future. As of March 31, 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $79.8 million and an accumulated deficit of 
$536.2 million. 

Since the announcement of the DOJ investigation, there has been and may continue to be a significant reduction in shipments, revenue 
and gross margin, which has and could continue to negatively impact the Company’s liquidity and working capital, including by 
impacting its ability to access additional capital. It is difficult to assess or predict at this time the extent to which the Company is able 
to validate and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement to health plans, including those 
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under the FEHB program, and the future impacts of the implementation of an over-the-counter (“OTC”) hearing aid regulatory 
framework (which may lead insurance providers to take actions limiting the Company’s ability to access insurance coverage).

The Company believes that, without an alternative future financing, its current resources are insufficient to satisfy its obligations as 
they become due within one year after the date that these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are issued. The 
negative cash flows and current lack of financial resources of the Company raise substantial doubt as to the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If the Company is unable to raise additional funding to meet its operational needs, it will be forced to 
limit or cease its operations.

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of the 
uncertainty.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting of 
Eargo, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated 
financial statements and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary to present 
fairly, in all material respects, the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial 
statements and related notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed 
with the SEC on March 23, 2023.

Use of estimates 

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, 
assumptions, and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
as of the date of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions made in the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements include, but are not limited to, the sales returns reserve, the present value of lease liabilities, the fair value of equity 
securities, the fair value of financial instruments, the allowance for credit losses, the net realizable value of inventory, the fair value of 
assets acquired in a business combination, the useful lives of long-lived assets, accrued product warranty reserve, legal and other 
contingencies, certain other accruals and recoverability of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and the related valuation allowance. 
Management periodically evaluates its estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Significant accounting policies

There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2023, as compared to the 
significant accounting policies described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s audited 
consolidated financial statements included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is generated from the sale of products, including hearing aid systems and related accessories. Revenue is 
recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to end-use customers, distributors, or retail partners in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services by following a five-step 
process: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the 
transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or 
as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

Identify the contract with a customer. The Company generally considers completion of an Eargo sales order (which requires customer 
acceptance of the Company’s click-through terms and conditions for website sales and authorization of payment through credit card or 
another form of payment for sales made over the phone) as a customer contract provided that collection is considered probable. For 
payments that are not made upfront by credit card, the Company assesses insurance eligibility or customer creditworthiness based on 
credit checks, payment history, and/or other circumstances. For orders involving insurance payors, the Company validates customer 
eligibility and potential reimbursement amounts prior to shipping the product. If the criteria to establish a contract with a customer is 
not met, revenue is not recognized. 
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Identify the performance obligations in the contract. Product performance obligations include hearing aid systems and related 
accessories and service performance obligations include extended warranty coverage. The Company also offers customers a one-time 
replacement of certain components of the hearing aid system for a fee (i.e., “loss and damage policy”), which represents an option 
with material right. However, as the historical redemption rate under the policy has been low, the option is not accounted for as a 
separate performance obligation. The Company does not assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if 
they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the customer. 

The Company has elected to treat shipping and handling activities performed after a customer obtains control of products as a 
fulfillment activity. 

Determine the transaction price and allocation to performance obligations. The transaction price in the Company’s customer contracts 
consists of both fixed and variable consideration. Fixed consideration includes amounts to be contractually billed to the customer 
while variable consideration may include concessions, product returns, discounts, incentives, or other similar items. Variable 
consideration is estimated based on contractual terms and historical analysis using specific data for the type of consideration being 
assessed. 

• Product Returns: The Company’s customer contracts include the general 45-day right of return that applies to all products 
and the extended right of return offered for certain shipments to direct plan access customers involving certain insurance 
payors. To estimate product returns, the Company analyzes various factors, including historical return levels, current 
economic trends, and insurance coverage. Based on this information, the Company reserves a percentage of product sale 
revenue and accounts for the estimated impact as a reduction in the transaction price. Consideration paid or payable to a 
customer that is not for a distinct good or service is accounted for as a reduction of the transaction price and recorded as a 
reduction in revenue in the period it becomes payable.

• Concessions: Concessions are generally viewed as any post-execution change to the original agreement between the 
Company and customer that increase the customer’s rights or the Company’s obligations without a commensurate increase to 
the consideration due the Company. Concessions may take many forms and include, but are not limited to, (i) accepting 
returns that are not required under the terms of the original arrangement, (ii) reducing the arrangement fee, and (iii) extending 
the terms of payment. While the Company granted a price concession to its customers with unsubmitted and unpaid claims 
during the year ended December 31, 2022 (please see caption “DOJ investigation and settlement” in Note 1), the Company 
does not have an established history of providing concessions to its customers and has determined that no adjustments should 
made to the transaction price in the Company’s ongoing customer arrangements. However, for each reporting period, the 
Company will re-evaluate the occurrence and level of materiality of concessions and will assess any potential impact on the 
transaction price accordingly.

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. For contracts that contain multiple performance 
obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. 
Standalone selling prices are based on multiple factors including, but not limited to, historical discounting trends for products and 
services, gross margin objectives, internal costs, competitor pricing strategies, and industry technology lifecycles. 

Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation. Revenue for products (hearing aid systems and related 
accessories) is recognized at a point in time, which is generally upon shipment, provided all other revenue recognition criteria have 
been met. The Company does not have material contract liabilities related to unsatisfied performance obligations as of March 31, 
2023. 

Contract costs 

The Company applies the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as expense when incurred if 
the amortization period would be one year or less. These incremental costs include processing fees paid to third-party financing 
vendors, who provide the Company’s customers with the option to finance their purchases. If a customer elects to utilize this service, 
the Company receives a non-recourse upfront payment for the product sold, less processing fee withheld by the financing vendor. 
These processing fees are recognized in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as 
incurred.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of demand deposit accounts, money 
market accounts and accounts receivable, including credit card receivables. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents, 
which may, at times, exceed federally insured limits, with financial institutions of high credit standing. As of March 31, 2023, the 
Company has not experienced any losses on its deposit accounts and money market accounts. As of March 31, 2023, the Company 
does not believe there is significant financial risk from nonperformance by the issuers of the Company’s deposit accounts and money 
market accounts.

As of March 31, 2023, approximately 44% of the Company’s gross accounts receivable were due from its retail partner, Victra. During 
the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company derived 22% of net revenue from sales to Victra. As of December 31, 2022, 
there was no credit risk concentration in the Company's accounts receivable. There was no concentration of revenue during the three 
months ended March 31, 2022.
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3. Fair value measurements 

There were no financial assets and liabilities outstanding that were remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2023 
and December 31, 2022. The carrying amounts reflected in the condensed consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. 

4. Balance sheet components 

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of raw materials related to component parts and finished goods. The following is a summary of the 
Company’s inventories by category: 
 

    March 31,     December 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  

Raw materials   $ 352     $ 410  
Finished goods     4,485       4,626  

Total inventories   $ 4,837     $ 5,036  
 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:
 

    March 31,     December 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Advanced payroll deposits   $ 2,939     $ 1,686  
Insurance costs     2,166       78  
Advances to suppliers     2,000       2,000  
Software subscriptions     1,624       1,553  
Marketing costs     1,275       1,709  
Product launch fee     300       252  
Other     800       568  

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 11,104     $ 7,846  
 

Property and equipment, net 

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following: 
 

  March 31,     December 31,  
  2023     2022  
  (in thousands)  
Capitalized software $ 11,610     $ 11,579  
Tools and lab equipment   5,218       5,087  
Furniture and fixtures   2,440       2,440  
Leasehold improvements   993       993  
Computer and equipment   482       482  
   20,743       20,581  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (14,313 )     (13,140 )

Total property and equipment, net $ 6,430     $ 7,441  
 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to $1.2 million and $1.3 
million, respectively, which includes amortization of capitalized software costs of $0.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively. 
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Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets, net consist of the following: 
 

    March 31, 2023  

   
Gross carrying 

value    
Accumulated 
amortization    

Net carrying 
value  

    (in thousands)  
Developed technologies   $ 1,700     $ 744     $ 956  
Other     290       290       —  

Total intangible assets, net   $ 1,990     $ 1,034     $ 956  
 

    December 31, 2022  

   
Gross carrying 

value    
Accumulated 
amortization    

Net carrying 
value  

    (in thousands)  
Developed technologies   $ 1,700     $ 637     $ 1,063  
Other     290       290       —  

Total intangible assets, net   $ 1,990     $ 927     $ 1,063  
 

Amortization expense was $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

The following table summarizes the estimated future amortization expense of finite-lived intangible assets, net as of March 31, 2023:
 

    Amount  
    (in thousands)  
Remainder of 2023   $ 318  
2024     425  
2025     213  

Total   $ 956  
 

Accrued expenses 

Accrued expenses consist of the following: 
 

    March 31,     December 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Accrued compensation   $ 3,359     $ 8,070  
Accrued warranty reserve     4,066       3,765  
Refunds due to customers     639       580  
Other accrued expenses     50       300  

Total accrued expenses   $ 8,114     $ 12,715  
 

Sales returns reserve

The sales returns reserve consists of the following activity: 
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Sales returns reserve, beginning balance   $ 3,942     $ 13,827  

Reduction of revenue     7,409       4,584  
Utilization of sales returns reserve     (5,511 )     (4,725 )

Sales returns reserve, ending balance   $ 5,840     $ 13,686  

In September 2022, as part of the Pricing Concession, the Company recorded a decrease in its insurance-related sales return reserve 
liability of $11.3 million related to unsubmitted and unpaid claims, which was recorded against revenue in the consolidated statement 
of operations. Please see caption “DOJ investigation and settlement” in Note 1.
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Allowance for credit losses

The allowance for credit losses consists of the following activity: 
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Allowance for credit losses, beginning balance   $ 158     $ 4,838  

Charged to expense     123       174  
Accounts written off, net of recoveries     (101 )     (292 )

Allowance for credit losses, ending balance   $ 180     $ 4,720  
 

Accrued warranty reserve

The accrued warranty reserve consists of the following activity: 
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Accrued warranty reserve, beginning balance   $ 3,765     $ 4,014  

Charged to cost of revenue     1,111       958  
Utilization of accrued warranty reserve     (810 )     (732 )

Accrued warranty reserve, ending balance   $ 4,066     $ 4,240  
 

5. Commitments and contingencies 

Operating leases 

Nashville office space lease

In January 2023, the Company entered into a lease agreement for approximately 17,572 sq. ft. of office space in Nashville, Tennessee. 
The tenant improvements of $0.9 million were funded by the Company and considered to be lessor-owned for accounting purposes. As 
such, the tenant improvement funding was recorded as part of the right-of-use asset. The Company recorded a right-of-use asset of 
$2.3 million and the corresponding lease liability of $1.4 million as of the commencement date in March 2023.

The initial term of the lease is 76 months with the option to extend the lease term once for additional 5 years. The Company has 
elected to apply the tenant improvement allowance of $0.9 million against the lease payments, and this amount was excluded from the 
operating lease liability. The right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for the Nashville lease were estimated using an 
incremental borrowing rate of 11.2%. 

Operating lease costs and minimum lease payments

For the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company incurred $0.4 million of operating lease costs. Variable lease payments for 
operating expenses and costs related to short-term leases were immaterial for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

As of March 31, 2023, undiscounted future minimum lease payments due under the non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

    Amount  
    (in thousands)  
Remainder of 2023   $ 849  
2024     1,081  
2025     1,635  
2026     1,886  
2027     1,945  
Thereafter     3,066  

Total minimum future lease payments     10,462  
Present value adjustment for minimum lease commitments     (2,601 )

Total lease liability   $ 7,861  
 

Legal and other contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business and may become involved in additional legal 
proceedings. Other than those listed below, the Company does not believe that any lawsuits or claims currently pending against it, 
individually or in the aggregate, are material or will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows. The Company may enter into settlement discussions, and may enter into settlement agreements, if it believes settlement is 
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders. Unless stated otherwise, the matters discussed below, if decided adversely or 
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settled by the Company, individually or in the aggregate, may result in a liability material to the Company’s financial condition, results 
of operations or cash flows.

The Company is also subject to review from federal and state taxing authorities in order to validate the amounts of income, sales and 
use taxes which have been claimed and remitted. The Company has estimated exposure and established reserves for its estimated sales 
tax audit liability. 

In the normal course of business, the Company may agree to indemnify third parties with whom it enters into contractual relationships, 
including customers, lessors, and parties to other transactions with the Company, with respect to certain matters. The Company has 
agreed, under certain conditions, to hold these third parties harmless against specified losses, such as those arising from a breach of 
representations or covenants, other third-party claims that the Company’s products, when used for their intended purposes, infringe the 
intellectual property rights of such other third parties, or other claims made against certain parties. It is not possible to determine the 
maximum potential amount of liability under these indemnification obligations due to the Company’s limited history of prior 
indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances that are likely to be involved in any particular claim. 

Securities Class Action

On October 6, 2021, putative shareholder Joseph Fazio filed a purported securities class action against the Company and certain of its 
officers, captioned Fazio v. Eargo, Inc., et al., No. 21-cv-07848 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 6, 2021) (the “Fazio Action”). Plaintiff Fazio alleges 
that certain of the Company’s disclosures about its business, operations, and prospects, including reimbursement from third-party 
payors, violated federal securities laws. Fazio voluntarily dismissed his complaint on December 6, 2021. On November 4, 2021, 
putative shareholder Alden Chung filed a purported class action lawsuit substantially similar to the Fazio Action, captioned Chung v. 
Eargo, Inc., et al., No. 21-cv-08597 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 4, 2021) (the “Chung Action”). On November 10, 2021, putative shareholder 
IBEW Local 353 Pension Plan filed a purported class action substantially similar to the Fazio and Chung Actions and also asserting 
claims under the federal securities laws against current and former members of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board of 
Directors”) and the underwriters of the Company’s October 15, 2020 initial public offering of common stock, captioned IBEW Local 
353 Pension Plan v. Eargo, Inc., et al., No. 21-cv-08747 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 10, 2021) (the “IBEW Action”). These class actions, which 
seek damages and other relief, were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. The Fazio and 
Chung Actions were brought purportedly on behalf of a class of investors who purchased or otherwise acquired Eargo securities 
between February 25, 2021 and September 22, 2021. The IBEW Local 353 Action was brought purportedly on behalf of a class of 
investors who purchased or otherwise acquired: (i) Eargo shares in or traceable to the Company’s October 15, 2020 initial public 
offering of common stock; and/or (ii) shares of Eargo common stock between October 15, 2020 and September 22, 2021. On January 
5, 2022, the court consolidated the foregoing class actions (as consolidated, the “Securities Class Action”) under the caption In re 
Eargo, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. 21-cv-08597-CRB, and appointed IBEW Local 353 Pension Plan and Xiaobin Cai as Lead 
Plaintiffs and Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP and Block & Leviton LLP as Lead Counsel. On May 20, 2022, Lead 
Plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint, which purported to extend the class period through March 2, 2022. Defendants filed 
a motion to dismiss on July 29, 2022. The Court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss on February 14, 2023. Plaintiffs filed a 
second amended complaint on March 16, 2023 and defendants filed a second motion to dismiss on April 21, 2023. Plaintiffs have until 
May 26, 2023 to file an opposition to defendants’ motion.

The Company intends to vigorously defend the Securities Class Action and cannot reasonably estimate any loss or range of loss that 
may arise from the litigation. Accordingly, the Company can provide no assurance as to the scope and outcome of this matter and no 
assurance as to whether its business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows will not be materially adversely affected.

Derivative Action 

On December 3, 2021, putative shareholder Barbara Wolfson filed a derivative complaint purportedly on the Company’s behalf 
against members of the Board of Directors and the Company as nominal defendant, captioned Wolfson v. Gormsen, et. al., No. 21-cv-
09342 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 3, 2021) (the “Wolfson Action”). Plaintiff asserts, among other things, that the defendants breached their 
fiduciary duties by allegedly failing to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls related to the Company’s 
financial reporting, public disclosures and compliance with laws, rules and regulations governing the business. Plaintiff purports to 
assert derivative claims on the Company’s behalf for alleged violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, breach of fiduciary duty, waste of corporate assets, and aiding and abetting. On March 1, 2022, the court entered the parties’ 
stipulation staying the Wolfson Action until the resolution of the motion to dismiss in the Securities Class Action. On June 9, 2022, 
putative shareholder Brodie Woodward filed a derivative complaint purportedly on Eargo’s behalf against the same defendants as in 
the Wolfson Action, as well as Juliet Tammenoms Bakker, Adam Laponis, and Geoff Pardo, captioned Woodward v. Gormsen, et al., 
No. 22-cv-03419 (N.D. Cal. June 9, 2022) (together with the Wolfson Action, the “Derivative Action”). Plaintiff Woodward asserts 
substantively similar allegations and causes of action as those asserted in the Wolfson Action. On August 4, 2022, the court granted the 
parties’ stipulation to consolidate the Derivative Action and to stay the consolidated action until the resolution of the motion to dismiss 
in the Securities Class Action.

The defendants intend to vigorously defend the Derivative Action and cannot reasonably estimate any loss or range of loss that may 
arise from the litigations. Accordingly, the Company can provide no assurance as to the scope and outcome of these matters and no 
assurance as to whether its business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows will not be materially adversely affected.
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Proxy Statement Class Action

On September 14, 2022, putative shareholder Adam C. Wolfe filed a purposed securities class action against members of the Board of 
Directors and the Company as nominal defendant, captioned Wolfe v. Gormsen, et al., No. 2022-0812-MTZ (Del. Ch. Sept. 14, 2022) 
(the “Wolfe Action”). Plaintiff Wolfe asserted, among other things, breaches of fiduciary duty by the Board of Directors in connection 
with the Note issuance, as well as that the Company’s proxy statement omitted material information concerning the Note issuance. 
Plaintiff Wolfe sought injunctive relief and attorneys’ fees and costs, among other remedies. Although the Company believes no 
supplemental disclosures were required under applicable law, to alleviate the costs, risks and uncertainties inherent in litigation, avoid 
any potential delay in the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders or the Company’s rights offering and provide additional 
information to its stockholders, on October 3, 2022, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to voluntarily supplement its 
proxy statement disclosures. On October 17, 2022, Plaintiff Wolfe filed a notice of dismissal with the court, which the court granted on 
October 24, 2022. On March 15, 2023, the parties agreed that the Company would pay $249,500 to Plaintiff Wolfe’s counsel in full 
satisfaction of Plaintiff Wolfe’s claim for attorneys’ fees and expenses in the Wolfe Action. The court was not asked to review, and did 
not pass judgment on, the payment of the attorneys’ fees and expenses or their reasonableness. As of December 31, 2022, the 
Company recorded a settlement liability in such amount in the consolidated balance sheet, which amount was paid during the three 
months ended March 31, 2023.   

6. Stock-based compensation 

Total stock-based compensation is as follows: 
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
    2023     2022  
    (in thousands)  
Cost of revenue   $ 42     $ 22  
Research and development     653       985  
Sales and marketing     890       637  
General and administrative     1,823       1,341  

Total stock-based compensation   $ 3,408     $ 2,985  
 

Equity incentive plans

As of March 31, 2023, 218,330 shares of common stock were issuable upon the exercise of outstanding awards under the 2010 Equity 
Incentive Plan. As of March 31, 2023, the Company had reserved 3,930,595 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2020 
Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”), of which 1,249,144 were available for issuance in connection with grants of future awards.

Service-based stock options

Service-based stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2023 is set forth below:
 

 

 
Number of

shares    

Weighted
average
exercise

price    

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

term    
Aggregate

intrinsic value  
                (in years)     (in thousands)  
Balance December 31, 2022     309,315     $ 82.08       5.60     $ —  

Grants     1,224,374       11.55              
Cancelled or forfeited     (27,880 )     62.27              

Balance March 31, 2023     1,505,809     $ 25.00       8.92     $ —  
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2023     217,101     $ 70.17       5.17     $ —  
 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of service-based stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2023 was 
$8.13 per share. As of March 31, 2023, the unrecognized stock-based compensation related to outstanding unvested service-based 
stock options was $14.5 million, which the Company expects to recognize over a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 
4.5 years.

The following assumptions were used to estimate the grant date fair value of the service-based options granted during the three months 
ended March 31, 2023:
 

Black-Scholes model assumptions:    
Expected volatility   76.5 - 77.0%
Expected term, years   6.4 - 6.5
Risk-free interest rate   3.45% - 4.09%
Dividend yield   —
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Market-based stock options

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 1,224,370 shares of 
common stock that include a market condition (the “Market-Based Options”). The Market-Based Options vest on the date on which 
the volume-weighted average closing price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $20.00 per share over 360 consecutive 
calendar days within a specified period that starts after the grant date. The Market-Based Options vesting is subject to continued 
service through the applicable vesting date. Prior to March 31, 2023, 13,625 shares were forfeited due to the termination of service by 
the grantees. 

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the fair value of the Market-Based Options was estimated as of the grant dates using 
the Monte Carlo simulation using the following assumptions: 
 

Monte Carlo simulation assumptions:    
Expected volatility   76.5 - 77.0%
Cost of equity   25.0%
Risk-free interest rate   3.39% - 3.93%
Dividend yield   —

 

The Market-Based Options have exercise prices equal to the closing prices of the Company’s common stock on the applicable grant 
dates. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the Market-Based Options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2023 
was $6.36 per share. The Company will recognize the aggregate fair value of the Market-Based Options of $7.8 million as 
compensation expense over the derived service period of approximately 1.6 years. 
 

As of March 31, 2023, the unrecognized stock-based compensation related to Market-Based Options was $6.9 million, which the 
Company expects to recognize over a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 1.5 years.

Restricted stock units

RSUs granted under the 2020 Plan represent share-based awards that generally entitle the holder to receive freely tradable shares of 
the Company’s common stock upon vesting. The RSUs cannot be transferred and the awards are subject to forfeiture if the holder’s 
service to the Company terminates prior to the satisfaction of the vesting restrictions.

RSU activity for the three months ended March 31, 2023 is set forth below:
 

 

 
Number of

shares    

Weighted average
grant date fair value

per share  
             
Balance December 31, 2022     176,063     $ 101.76  

RSUs vested     (14,876 )     155.29  
RSUs forfeited     (4,048 )     93.22  

Balance March 31, 2023     157,139     $ 96.90  
 

As of March 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested RSUs was $14.2 million, which the Company 
expects to recognize over a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 3.2 years.

Employee stock purchase plan

As of March 31, 2023, the Company reserved 282,384 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan (the “ESPP”), of which 273,738 were available for future issuance. The ESPP was suspended on November 9, 2021, and there 
were no offering periods in effect through March 31, 2023.

7. Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

The following outstanding potentially dilutive common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss 
per share for the periods presented due to their anti-dilutive effect: 
 

    March 31, 2023     March 31, 2022  
Service-based options issued and outstanding     1,505,809       267,705  
Market-based options issued and outstanding     1,210,745     —  
Restricted stock units     157,139       102,009  

Total     2,873,693       369,714  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
and for a full understanding of Eargo’s results of operations and financial condition, in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and notes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 contained in the Company’s Form 10-K filed on March 23, 2023. 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements about 
us and our industry that involve substantial risks, uncertainties and assumptions. All statements other than statements of historical 
facts contained in this item, including statements regarding factors affecting our business, trends and uncertainties, are forward-
looking statements. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by these forward-looking statements. 
You should carefully read the “Risk Factors” to gain an understanding of the important factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from our forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a medical device company dedicated to improving the quality of life of people with hearing loss. Our innovative products and 
go-to-market approach address the major challenges of traditional hearing aid adoption, including social stigma, accessibility and cost. 

We believe our Eargo hearing aids are the first ever virtually invisible, rechargeable, completely in-the-canal, FDA-regulated devices 
indicated to compensate for mild to moderate hearing loss. Our rapid pace of innovation is enabled by our deep industry and technical 
expertise across mechanical engineering, product design, audio processing, clinical and hearing science, consumer electronics and 
embedded software design, and is supported by our strategic intellectual property portfolio. 

We market and sell our hearing aids primarily in a direct-to-consumer format with a personalized, consumer-centric approach. Our 
commercial organization consists of a marketing team with deep experience in consumer-focused brand and performance marketing, a 
team of inside sales consultants, retail field sales team, and a dedicated customer support team. 

We believe that our differentiated hearing aids and consumer-oriented approach have fueled the rapid adoption of our hearing aids and 
high customer satisfaction, as evidenced by over 116,000 Eargo hearing aid systems shipped, net of returns, as of March 31, 2023. To 
date, all our revenue has been generated from customers in the United States.

For the three months ended March 31, 2023, we generated net revenue of $11.8 million, an increase of $2.6 million from the three 
months ended March 31, 2022. Our gross systems shipped during the three months ended March 31, 2023 were 8,705, compared to 
5,773 during the comparable period in 2022. The increase in shipment volume was largely driven by our commercial arrangement 
with Victra, our retail partner, launched in the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Our net losses were $21.9 million and $30.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of March 
31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $536.2 million. We expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. As of 
March 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $79.8 million, which are available to fund operations. As of March 31, 2023, we 
had no debt outstanding.

DOJ investigation and settlement

As previously disclosed, on September 21, 2021, we were informed that we were the target of a criminal investigation by the DOJ 
related to insurance claims we submitted for reimbursement on behalf of our customers covered by various federal employee health 
plans under the Federal Employee Health Benefits (“FEHB”) program, which is administered by the Office of Personnel Management 
(the “OPM”). The investigation also pertained to our role in claim submissions to federal employee health plans (collectively, the 
“DOJ investigation”). Total payments the Company received from the government in relation to claims submitted under the FEHB 
program, as subject to the DOJ investigation, net of any product returns and associated refunds, were approximately $44.0 million. 
Also as previously disclosed, the third-party payor with whom historically we had the largest volume, which is one of the carriers 
contracted with the OPM under the FEHB program (“largest third-party payor”), conducted an audit of insurance claims for 
reimbursement (“claims”) submitted by us (the “Primary Audit”), which included a review of medical records. On January 4, 2022, the 
DOJ confirmed to us that the investigation had been referred to the Civil Division of the DOJ and the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the 
Northern District of Texas and the criminal investigation was no longer active.

On April 29, 2022, we entered into a civil settlement agreement with the U.S. government that resolved the DOJ investigation related 
to our role in claim submissions to various federal employee health plans under the FEHB program. We cooperated fully with the DOJ 
investigation. We deny the allegations in the settlement agreement, and the settlement is not an admission of liability by us. The 
allegations did not pertain to the quality or performance of our product. The settlement agreement provided for our payment of 
approximately $34.4 million to the U.S. government and resolved allegations that we submitted or caused the submission of claims for 
payment to the FEHB program using unsupported hearing loss-related diagnostic codes. We recorded a settlement liability of $34.4 
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million in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021. The settlement amount was recorded as a reduction of revenue in 
the third quarter of 2021. On May 2, 2022, we paid the settlement amount.

The settlement with the U.S. government may not resolve all of the claims audits initiated by various third-party payors; however, as 
of April 13, 2023, we are no longer subject to prepayment review of claims by the third-party payor with whom historically we had the 
largest volume. 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we made the determination not to seek payment for approximately $16.1 million from 
customers with unsubmitted and unpaid claims. We accounted for this decision as a pricing concession (the “Pricing Concession”) 
and, during the year ended December 31, 2022 recorded a $16.1 million reduction to our insurance-related accounts receivable balance 
along with related reduction to net revenue of $11.6 million and an allowance for credit losses balance of $4.5 million for such 
unsubmitted and unpaid claims. Further, we simultaneously recorded a decrease in our insurance-related sales return reserve of $11.3 
million, with a corresponding increase of $11.3 million to net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to unsubmitted 
and unpaid claims. These changes resulted in a decrease in net revenue of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Factors affecting our business 

Our business priorities include: (i) accessing insurance coverage for Eargo hearing aids, including potentially regaining insurance 
coverage of Eargo hearing aids for government employees under the FEHB program; (ii) refining and expanding our retail strategy; 
(iii) optimizing our cash-pay business; and (iv) continuing to invest in innovation. We believe that our future performance will depend 
on many factors, including those described below and in the section titled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q. 

Our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business model

We sell our hearing aids primarily on a direct-to-consumer basis, engaging consumers through a mix of digital and traditional 
marketing as well as select commercial partnership, omni-channel (including retail) and other opportunities that are designed to appeal 
to prospective customers on a personal level and build our brand.

Via our direct-to-consumer model, customers are able to complete purchases over the phone with an Eargo sales consultant or directly 
on our website. The Eargo purchasing experience is designed to be simple and to improve the accessibility of hearing aids.

Following the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) final rule regarding the creation of a new category of over-the-
counter (“OTC”) hearing aids (the “OTC Final Rule”), we have focused efforts on transitioning to the new OTC framework and 
expanding our omni-channel approach, including exploring select additional commercial partnerships, retail, and other distribution 
opportunities. For example, we have a commercial arrangement with Victra, one of America’s largest wireless retailers, to facilitate 
access to our hearing screeners and demonstrate our devices at approximately 1,500 Victra store locations across the country, where 
customers may purchase or order Eargo hearing aids. 

Moreover, following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, we have partnered with certain resellers and other distributors, 
including benefits managers, to offer Eargo hearing aids for sale through their online storefronts or portals. Under these partnerships, 
we sell Eargo hearing aids to resellers at wholesale prices, who in turn offer our products to end-customers through their respective 
online storefronts or portals. Generally, we fulfill and ship orders placed through these online storefronts or portals directly to end-
customers, and we generally do not submit insurance claims on behalf of customers who purchase from one of these authorized 
resellers, including Victra. We believe these partnerships will help expand consumer access to our hearing aids and allow us to target 
high-intent customers more efficiently. 

We believe that the OTC Final Rule will continue to facilitate opportunities to execute commercial partnerships and thereby continue 
expanding our customers’ ability to learn about our hearing aids, obtain general information about their hearing through our current 
hearing screeners, and experience our devices in person prior to purchasing or ordering directly at retail locations.

Once a customer purchases Eargo hearing aids, whether directly through us or through one of our partners, distributors, or authorized 
resellers, they can be connected to one of our hearing professionals, who provide complimentary and convenient support by phone, 
chat or e-mail. Our hearing professionals and customer care team remain available to provide unlimited support for as long as the 
customer owns an Eargo device. Additionally, we provide short, online training videos and other resources that customers can access 
online. The combination of these services allows us to deliver remote customer support in an efficient and streamlined manner.

We believe our business model and consumer-centric focus offer certain advantages relative to traditional sales channels (which are 
characterized by a business-to-business model in which hearing aid manufacturers rely on a fragmented network of independent 
audiology clinics to sell their devices to consumers), including in particular the convenience and accessibility of our remote customer 
support as well as our consumer-centric focus.
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Changes to the regulatory landscape

Hearing aids are considered medical devices subject to regulation by the FDA. On August 17, 2022, the FDA published the OTC Final 
Rule, which established new regulatory categories for OTC and prescription hearing aids. The OTC Final Rule implements relevant 
provisions of the FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017 (“FDARA”), which set forth requirements for the FDA to create a new category of 
OTC hearing aids that are intended to be available without supervision, prescription, or other order, involvement or intervention of a 
licensed practitioner. Prior to the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, no OTC category of hearing aids existed. Following 
publication of a proposed rule in October 2021, the FDA issued its OTC Final Rule with requirements for labelling, conditions of sale, 
performance standards, design requirements and other provisions under which manufacturers may elect to market hearing aids as 
either OTC or prescription devices, or both. In addition, under FDARA, the OTC hearing aid controls promulgated in the OTC Final 
Rule preempt any state or local requirement specifically related to hearing products that would restrict or interfere with commercial 
activity involving OTC hearing aids. The OTC Final Rule became effective on October 17, 2022, although certain previously 
marketed devices had until April 14, 2023 to come into compliance with the OTC Final Rule.

We have marketed in the past, and continue to market, certain Eargo system devices as Class I air-conduction or Class II wireless air-
conduction hearing aids under existing regulations at 21 CFR 874.330 and 874.3305, respectively, both of which are exempt from 
510(k) premarket review. In June 2022, we submitted a 510(k) premarket notification seeking FDA clearance of expanded labelling 
for our Eargo 5 and Eargo 6 hearing aids under the “self-fitting” regulation at 21 CFR 874.3323. In December 2022, we received FDA 
510(k) clearance for Eargo 5 and Eargo 6 as Class II self-fitting air-conduction hearing aids. Additionally, in January 2023, we 
launched the Eargo 7 as our third over-the-counter, 510(k) cleared self-fitting device. As of April 14, 2023, the compliance date for 
previously marketed devices, we market our devices as OTC hearing aids. We may also seek to market certain devices as prescription 
hearing aids, which would require compliance with separate physical and electronic labeling requirements under the OTC Final Rule.

In connection with the OTC Final Rule, we have expended, and will continue to expend, significant time and resources evaluating the 
OTC Final Rule and ensuring that our devices and processes comply with the new requirements in order to market our products in line 
with our primary direct-to-consumer business and omni-channel models. It is possible that the OTC Final Rule may lead to additional 
commercial partnership, omni-channel, including retail, or other opportunities, although there are no assurances that it will do so. The 
OTC Final Rule and the responses thereto by leading insurance providers could also materially impact our efforts to resume 
submitting claims for customers with potential insurance benefits or have other unforeseen impacts on our business and results of 
operations.

Please see the Risk Factors titled, “Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-
consumer and omni-channel business models and lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional 
clearance or approval for our products” and “Our hearing aids are subject to extensive government regulation at the federal and state 
level, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements could harm our business” for more information.

Insurance-related business

A significant portion of our revenue has historically been dependent on payments from third-party payors; for example, in the year 
ended December 31, 2021, 44% of total gross systems shipped were to customers with potential insurance coverage. Historically, we 
submitted claims on behalf of our customers to a concentrated number of third-party payors under certain benefit plans, and 
substantially all such claims related to the FEHB program. See “—DOJ investigation and settlement” for a discussion of the DOJ 
investigation and settlement.

The Company accepts insurance benefits as a direct method of payment in certain circumstances, a practice we refer to as “direct plan 
access.” In “direct plan access,” we submit an insurance claim on behalf of an Eargo customer to their insurance plan or support an 
Eargo customer in their own claim submission, and the customer’s insurance benefits are utilized for the purchase, in whole or in part. 
Common forms of utilization can include, but are not limited to, co-pay, payment by a third-party payor to either Eargo or the 
customer, reimbursement by a third-party payor to the customer, or application toward a customer’s deductible.

Our direct plan access insurance-based business accepts insurance benefits as a method of direct payment when the customer has 
undergone testing by a licensed healthcare provider to establish medical necessity, with supporting clinical documentation. We are 
evaluating additional alternatives for testing or establishing medical necessity, including contracting with third parties or existing 
networks, and/or establishing a management services organization, separate from our existing corporate structure, that manages 
professional entities that employ licensed healthcare providers. These alternatives involve significant time and resources, including 
development of additional internal processes, training, compliance and quality control programs, coordination with external healthcare 
providers and professional services organizations, and evaluation of and compliance with state-by-state regulatory requirements. 

We are also seeking to establish further relationships with benefits managers or managed care providers. Employer self-funded plans 
or other health plans may at times contract with benefits managers or managed care providers for the administration of supplemental 
benefits, including hearing aid benefits or general “over-the-counter” benefits. Benefits managers are responsible for selecting vendors 
whose products or services are eligible to be covered by the supplemental benefits. The vendors themselves, or Eargo in this role, are 
not responsible for claims submissions but instead fulfill the product order from the customer through the benefits manager.

See “—DOJ investigation and settlement” for more information as well as the Risk Factors titled, “We may be unsuccessful in 
validating and establishing processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement from third-party payors, including those 
participating 
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in the FEHB program” and “We are subject to risks from legal proceedings, investigations, and inquiries, including a number of recent 
legal proceedings and investigations, which have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, 
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations, and could result in additional claims and material liabilities.”

Efficient acquisition of new customers 

We have made significant investments in sales and marketing to build a strong brand, achieve broad awareness of our Eargo system, 
acquire new customers and convert sales leads. From December 8, 2021 until September 15, 2022, as a result of the DOJ investigation 
(as further described in “—DOJ investigation and settlement”), we did not accept insurance as a direct method of payment to the 
Company (referred to as “direct plan access”). Instead, all sales within such timeframe were to customers we refer to as “cash-pay” 
customers, which includes upfront payment, credit card, third-party financing, and third-party distributor, authorized reseller or partner 
payments. 

We have refocused our sales and marketing efforts and related spend to prioritize conversion of cash-pay consumer leads into satisfied 
customers. While we intend to continue to work with third-party payors with the objective of validating and establishing additional 
processes to support any future claims that we may submit for reimbursement, we may not be able to arrive at additional processes or 
submit future claims in sufficient volume to meaningfully restore or expand our insurance-based business. The shift to a primarily 
“cash-pay” model, with limited volume from our customers using insurance benefits as a direct method of payment to Eargo, will 
likely result in a sustained increased cost of customer acquisition and require significant sales and marketing investments, based on the 
historically lower conversion rate for cash-pay customers as compared to direct plan access insurance customers. 

We anticipate that our omni-channel expansion to various third-party distributors, including in such third parties’ retail locations, may 
allow for a more streamlined sales process and help mitigate the low volume of direct plan access insurance customers using insurance 
as a direct payment method; however, it may not ultimately reduce our cost of customer acquisition due to new sales and marketing 
initiatives related to such expansion. Cost-savings measures may need to be implemented in order to drive cost-efficient cash-pay 
customer acquisition and offset the significantly higher return rates historically applicable to cash-pay customers.

Sales returns rate 

Our return policy generally allows our customers to return hearing aids for any reason within the first 45 days of delivery for a full 
refund, subject to a handling fee in certain states, and can be extended under certain circumstances. Historically, the most commonly 
cited reason for returning our hearing aids is unsatisfactory fit, which we believe is a by-product of our direct-to-consumer model and 
online distribution that results in nearly all of our customers ordering our product without trying it first. The next most cited reason for 
returns is that our hearing aids do not provide sufficient audio amplification.

We report revenue net of expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by historical return rates. As such, our returns rate 
impacts our reported net revenue and gross profit or loss. Sales returns rates, as defined under “—Key business metrics,” were 34% 
for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 37% for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

New product introductions 

We believe that the continued introduction of new products with product enhancements is critical to maintaining existing customers, 
attracting new customers, achieving market acceptance of our products and maintaining or increasing our competitive position in the 
market. 

Our technical capabilities and commitment to innovation have allowed us to deliver product enhancements on a rapid development 
timeline and support a compelling new product roadmap that we believe will continue to differentiate our competitive position over 
the next several years. With the full commercial launch of the Eargo 7 in February 2023, we have now launched seven generations of 
our hearing aids since 2017, with each iteration having increased functionality and improved sound quality, amplification, 
connectivity, noise reduction, physical fit, comfort, water resistance and ease-of-use, while reducing costs of goods. 

We expect to continue refining and improving Eargo hearing aids, and we have the intention of an approximate annual cadence of new 
product launches. To this end, we are working on the development of a cost-conscious offering as well as the next Eargo hearing aid 
model with improved functionality. Accordingly, we expect to continue to invest in research and development to support new product 
introductions.

Recruitment and retention of personnel

Our success depends in part upon our continued ability to recruit, retain and motivate high-quality employees, including management, 
administrative, our clinical and scientific personnel and our direct sales force (among others). Competition for qualified personnel can 
be intense due to the limited number of individuals possessing the requisite training, skill and experience we require. As a result of 
uncertainty created by the DOJ investigation, we temporarily suspended our practice of granting equity awards, suspended our 
employee stock purchase plan and deferred the settlement of outstanding restricted stock units, in each case effective as of November 
9, 2021. We 
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resumed granting RSUs on March 18, 2022 and resumed granting stock option awards on August 23, 2022. However, as of February 
1, 2023, we have again suspended our practice of granting RSUs.

On December 7, 2021, we announced a plan to reduce our employee workforce to streamline our organization in response to declines 
in customer orders since we announced the DOJ investigation. We substantially completed the employee workforce reduction during 
the fourth quarter of 2021, resulting in a reduction of approximately 27% of our employee workforce, or approximately 90 people. On 
May 24, 2022, we announced a plan to further reduce our employee workforce as part of continued cost-cutting measures to reduce 
operating expenses and preserve capital. We substantially completed the employee workforce reduction during the second quarter of 
2022, resulting in a reduction of approximately 17% of our employee workforce, or 44 people.

Future suspension of equity awards, including of our practice of granting RSUs, and reductions in workforce, in addition to any 
negative perceptions of employment with us as a result of the DOJ investigation and the settlement with the U.S. government, could 
continue to adversely affect employee morale and have a material adverse impact on our ability to recruit, retain and motivate the 
high-quality employees critical to our operations, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

Patient Square Capital Investment

On June 24, 2022, after reviewing all available alternatives to secure the funding needed to support our ongoing operations and pursuit 
of our business strategies, and a potential sale of the Company, we entered into an agreement (the “Note Purchase Agreement”) with 
PSC Echo, LP (the “PSC Stockholder”), an affiliate of Patient Square Capital (“Patient Square”), and Drivetrain Agency Services, 
LLC, as administrative agent and collateral agent. Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, we issued approximately $105.5 million 
in two tranches of senior secured convertible notes (the “Notes”) and agreed to conduct a rights offering for an aggregate of 18.75 
million shares of common stock to stockholders as of a record date determined by our Board, at an offering price of $10.0 per share of 
common stock (the “Rights Offering”). Pursuant to the Rights Offering, which closed on November 23, 2022, we sold an aggregate of 
approximately 2.9 million shares to our existing stockholders, from which we received net proceeds of $27.6 million, and, in 
accordance with the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Notes converted into 15,821,299 shares of our common stock (the 
“Conversion Shares”), in each case, on a post-reverse stock split basis, representing approximately 76.3% of our outstanding common 
stock as of the date of conversion. 

In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement, we had also entered into an Investors’ Rights Agreement with the PSC Stockholder, 
pursuant to which, among other things, the PSC Stockholder has the right to nominate a number of directors to our Board that is 
proportionate to the PSC Stockholder’s ownership of the Company, rounded up to the nearest whole number (and which shall in no 
event be less than one). As a result, following the closing of the Rights Offering and the conversion of the Notes, the PSC Stockholder 
has the right to nominate six directors to our Board. The PSC Stockholder exercised its right to nominate three directors to the Board, 
Trit Garg, M.D., Karr Narula and Justin Sabet-Peyman, in December 2022.

As of May 8, 2023, the PSC Stockholder held 15,821,299 shares, representing approximately 76.3% of our outstanding common 
stock. As a result of Patient Square’s ownership position, we are considered a “controlled company” within the meaning of the 
marketplace rules (the “Listing Rules”) of the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) and Patient Square may be able to determine all 
matters requiring stockholder approval. 

Reverse Stock Split

On October 12, 2022, at our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders, our stockholders approved an amendment to our Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock, at a ratio in the range of 1-for-5 to 1-for-50, 
with such ratio to be determined by the Board. On January 11, 2023, we announced that the Board had approved a 1-for-20 reverse 
stock split (the “Reverse Stock Split”), and on January 17, 2023, the Reverse Stock Split was effected. Our common stock began 
trading on a split-adjusted basis on January 18, 2023. All share and per share information presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q has been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Macroeconomic environment

Our business, results of operation and financial condition are dependent on macroeconomic conditions. We face domestic as well as 
global macroeconomic challenges, particularly in light of the effects of inflationary trends, uncertainty or volatility in the banking 
system and financial markets, the COVID-19 pandemic, and geopolitical events (such as the conflict in Ukraine and tensions across 
the Taiwan Strait).

On March 10, 2023, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon 
Valley Bank (“SVB”). Although the FDIC ultimately announced that it would pay all deposits, including deposits that exceeded FDIC-
insured amounts, we and other SVB customers initially were not able to access our accounts and faced significant uncertainty about 
whether and when we would be able to fully access amounts held through SVB, which would have had several follow-on 
consequences with 
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respect to our ability to meet our near-term payment obligations. If other banks and financial institutions enter receivership or become 
insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system and financial markets, our ability to access our 
existing cash, cash equivalents and investments may be threatened and could have a material adverse effect on our business and 
financial condition. In addition, even if we lack exposure to the uncertainty or volatility of one or more financial institutions, the 
impact of financial institution volatility on our partners, customers or suppliers may also impact our business and financial condition. 

We believe the COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the pace of consumer awareness of our vertically integrated remote customer support 
model and facilitated customer adoption of the same. Shelter-in-place restrictions and increased reluctance of consumers to conduct in-
person activities, particularly among older individuals that comprise a majority of the population needing hearing aids, resulted in 
increased knowledge of our business and sales and a potential acceleration of consumer acceptance of our primarily direct-to-
consumer business model. However, we cannot be sure whether this trend in consumer behavior will persist or if consumers will 
instead return to pre-pandemic patterns. In addition, the benefits of such trends in consumer behavior, to the extent they persist, may 
be outweighed by other macroeconomic factors, including, but not limited to, inflationary pressures and financial market volatility, 
which can adversely impact consumer confidence and result in lower discretionary consumer spending. If these macroeconomic 
pressures continue or increase, we may experience an adverse impact on demand for our products. 

We rely on a number of international suppliers and manufacturers, including our primary manufacturer, Pegatron Corporation, who is 
headquartered in Taiwan, which exposes us to foreign operational and political risks such as changes in trade policies and export 
regulations between the United States and other countries or geopolitical conflict. Additionally, although we believe the COVID-19 
pandemic has largely resulted in favorable consumer trends for our business, travel restrictions, factory closures and disruptions in 
global supply chains have resulted in industry-wide component supply shortages (such as in semiconductors), and we may not be able 
to obtain adequate inventory on a timely basis or at all. To date, increases in component pricing have occurred but have not had a 
material impact on supply continuity or gross margin. We have taken steps to monitor our supply chain and actions to address limited 
supply and increasing lead times, including outreach to critical suppliers and spot market purchases. While we have not experienced 
any significant disruptions to our supply chain that have impacted our ability to service customers or our access to necessary raw 
materials and component parts for the manufacture of our products to date, disruptions have occurred across a number of industries 
and we cannot provide any assurance that future disruptions will not emerge as a result of the ongoing supply chain issues, inflation, 
the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical events or other extrinsic factors. Future disruptions in our supply chain, including the sourcing 
of certain components and raw materials, such as semiconductor and memory chips, as well as increased logistics costs, could impact 
our revenue and gross margins.

For a further discussion of trends, uncertainties and other factors that could impact our operating results, see the section titled “Risk 
Factors” in Item 1A of Part II in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

Key business metrics

To analyze our business performance, determine financial forecasts and help develop long-term strategic plans, we review the 
following key business metrics, each of which is an important measure that represents the state of our business:

• Gross systems shipped. We define our gross systems shipped as the number of hearing aid systems shipped during the period.  
Since our public disclosure of the DOJ investigation on September 22, 2021 and our related decision to temporarily stop 
accepting insurance benefits as a method of direct payment between December 8, 2021 and September 15, 2022, we have 
experienced and may continue to experience a material decline in gross systems shipped. Beginning on September 15, 2022, 
we resumed accepting insurance benefits as a method of direct payment in certain limited circumstances and for which 
revenue is and has been recognized. Continued negative publicity, including in relation to the DOJ investigation and 
settlement and other legal proceedings could further harm our reputation and lead to a further decline in gross systems 
shipped. See “—DOJ investigation and settlement ” and “—Factors affecting our business.”

• Sales returns rates. Sales returns rates are determined by management at the end of each reporting period to estimate the 
percentage of products for which we have recorded revenue during that period that are expected to be returned. This 
determination is informed in part by historical actual return rates. Sales returns rates do not represent actual returns during a 
period as customers may return the product for a period of time that can extend beyond the period end, which can result in a 
hearing aid being returned after the period in which the revenue from its sale was recognized. If actual returns differ from the 
sales returns rate determined at period end or new factors arise, indicating a rate of return that is different from the original 
estimated sales returns rate, revenue is adjusted in subsequent periods to reflect the actual returns made. Such an adjustment 
to revenue is not included in the sales returns rates disclosed in the table below.
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The following table details the number of gross systems shipped and sales returns rates for the periods presented below:
 

    Three months ended  

   
Mar 31,

2022    
Jun 30,

2022    
Sep 30,

2022    
Dec 31,

2022    
Mar 31,

2023  
Gross systems shipped     5,773       4,455       5,156       8,863       8,705  
Sales returns rate     33.9 %    33.3 %    32.3 %    34.9 %    37.4 %
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, Eargo shipped 8,705 and 5,773 gross hearing aid systems, respectively. 
Shipments to customers with potential insurance coverage were less than 1% in each period. The increase in shipments on a year-to-
date basis was primarily attributable to our commercial arrangement with Victra, our largest retail partner, which launched during the 
fourth quarter of 2022. The sales returns rate in the first quarter of 2023 was primarily impacted by a higher return accrual rate for 
systems sold to Victra. 

We believe these key business metrics provide useful information to help investors understand and evaluate our business performance. 
Gross systems shipped is a key measure of sales volume, which drives potential revenue, while sales returns rates are an indicator of 
expected reductions to revenue as well as change in customer mix and factors affecting the returns rates by customer type. 

Due to the historically higher return rate for cash-pay customers as compared to insurance customers, we expect that revenue, gross 
profit and gross margin may remain depressed as compared to prior periods for so long as there is minimal volume from our customers 
using insurance benefits as a direct method of payment to Eargo; however, we are currently unable to predict the long-term impact that 
the expansion of our omni-channel strategy (including retail and other partners) will have on our return rate for cash-pay customers, 
and the impact any such change may have on our revenue, gross profit and gross margin.

Components of our results of operations 

See the discussion under “—DOJ investigation and settlement,” which describes a variety of circumstances currently affecting our 
business and results of operations, and which require that we continually evaluate and adapt our business model and expenditures as 
new information becomes available.

Revenue, net 

We generate revenue primarily from the sale of Eargo hearing aid systems. We market a variety of models of hearing aids, each at 
different price points, and we periodically offer discounts and promotions, including holiday promotions. For product sales, control is 
transferred upon shipment to the customer. We report revenue net of expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by 
historical return rates. 

Since learning of the DOJ investigation, we temporarily suspended all insurance claims submissions and, from December 8, 2021 until 
September 15, 2022, did not accept insurance as a direct method of payment. Instead, we focused our efforts on cash-pay customers, 
which includes upfront payment, credit card payments, third-party financed payments and distributor payments. Historically, cash-pay 
customers have had significantly higher return rates than customers with potential insurance benefits, and therefore the potential long-
term shift to primarily cash-pay sales may adversely impact revenue, net. Beginning on September 15, 2022, we resumed accepting 
insurance benefits as a method of direct payment in certain limited circumstances. 

Cost of revenue and gross margin 

Cost of revenue consists of expenses associated with the cost of finished goods, freight, personnel costs, consumables, product 
warranty costs, transaction fees, reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, depreciation and amortization, and related overhead. 

Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including sales volumes, product mix, channel mix, 
pricing strategies, sales returns rates, costs of finished goods, product warranty claim rates and refurbishment strategies, and our 
ability to service insurance customers and any potential actions insurance providers may take following the implementation of the 
FDA’s new OTC hearing aid regulatory framework that may limit our ability to access insurance coverage. 

We expect our gross margin to remain depressed for so long as there is minimal volume from our customers using insurance benefits 
as a direct method of payment to Eargo, unless we can successfully target and convert new customers with a similarly low rate of 
return.

Research and development expenses 

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses consist primarily of engineering and product development costs to develop and support 
our products, regulatory expenses, non-recurring engineering and other costs associated with products and technologies that are in 
development, as well as related overhead costs. These expenses include personnel-related costs, including salaries and stock-based 
compensation, supplies, consulting fees, prototyping, testing, materials, travel expenses, depreciation and allocated facility overhead 
costs. Additionally, R&D expenses include internal and external costs associated with our regulatory compliance and quality assurance 
functions and related overhead costs.
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Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses have generally been the largest component of our operating expenses and consist primarily of 
personnel-related costs, including salaries and stock-based compensation, direct and channel marketing, advertising and promotional 
expenses, consulting fees, public relations costs and allocated facility overhead costs. Sales and marketing personnel include our retail 
field sales team, and a direct sales force consisting of inside sales consultants, hearing professionals, marketing professionals and 
related support personnel. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to fluctuate over time as a percentage of revenue. In response 
to the factors discussed in “—DOJ investigation and settlement,” we have reduced sales and marketing resources that were previously 
focused on insurance customers to prioritize the conversion of cash-pay consumers into satisfied customers, including the 2021 and 
2022 reductions in force.

General and administrative expenses 

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for executive, finance, legal, information technology and 
administrative personnel, including stock-based compensation. Other significant expenses include professional fees for legal and 
accounting services, transaction fees, consulting fees, recruiting fees, information technology costs, corporate insurance, bad debt 
expense, general corporate expenses and allocated facility overhead costs. 

Excluding the costs associated with the DOJ investigation, we expect our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute 
dollars in future periods as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with the rules and 
regulations of the SEC, and those of the Nasdaq Stock Market, additional insurance costs, investor relations activities and other 
administrative and professional services, as well as professional service and legal fees and expenses related to shareholder litigation 
that has been filed and that may be filed in the future.

Interest income 

Interest income consists of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents. 

Interest expense 

Interest expense consists of interest related to borrowings under our debt obligations.  

Income tax provision

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined 
based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets 
to the amount expected to be realized. Due to our historical operating performance and our recorded cumulative net losses in prior 
fiscal periods, our net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. 

Financial statement effects of uncertain tax positions are recognized when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the technical merits of 
the position, that it will be sustained upon examination. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are included within 
the provision for income tax.
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Results of operations 

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
Revenue, net   $ 11,813     $ 9,176     $ 2,637       28.7 %
Cost of revenue     6,691       5,491       1,200       21.9  
Gross profit (loss)     5,122       3,685       1,437       39.0  
Operating expenses:                        

Research and development     4,605       5,847       (1,242 )     (21.2 )
Sales and marketing     13,401       13,290       111       0.8  
General and administrative     9,908       14,934       (5,026 )     (33.7 )

Total operating expenses     27,914       34,071       (6,157 )     (18.1 )
Loss from operations     (22,792 )     (30,386 )     7,594       (25.0 )
Other income (expense), net:                        

Interest income     870       5       865     *  
Interest expense     —       (264 )     264     *  

Total other income (expense), net     870       (259 )     1,129     *  
Loss before income taxes     (21,922 )     (30,645 )     8,723       (28.5 )
Income tax provision     —       —       —     *  
Net loss and comprehensive loss   $ (21,922 )   $ (30,645 )   $ 8,723       (28.5 )%
 

* Not meaningful

Revenue, net 
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
Revenue, net   $ 11,813     $ 9,176     $ 2,637       28.7 %
 

Gross systems shipped during the three months ended March 31, 2023 were 8,705, compared to 5,773 during the comparable period in 
2022. Revenue, which is reported net of consideration payable to customers and expected returns, increased by $2.6 million, from $9.2 
million during the three months ended March 31, 2022 to $11.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The increase 
in shipment volume and related revenue was largely driven by our commercial arrangement with Victra, a retail partner, launched in 
the fourth quarter of 2022, partially offset by the corresponding increase in our sales return rate. 

Cost of revenue, gross profit, and gross margin 
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
Cost of revenue   $ 6,691     $ 5,491     $ 1,200       21.9 %
Gross profit     5,122       3,685       1,437       39.0 %
Gross margin     43.4 %    40.2 %           
 

Cost of revenue increased by $1.2 million, or 21.9%, from $5.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2022 to $6.7 million 
during the three months ended March 31, 2023. Cost of revenue increased as we shipped more systems during the first quarter of 
2023. Gross margins during the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 43.4% and 40.2%, respectively. The improvement 
in gross margins was related to the reduction in our cost of revenue per unit sold in the first quarter of 2023. 

Research and development (R&D) 
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
Research and development   $ 4,605     $ 5,847     $ (1,242 )     (21.2 )%
 

R&D expenses decreased by $1.2 million, or 21.2%, from $5.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2022 to $4.6 million 
during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The change was primarily due to a net decrease of $0.7 million in personnel-related 
costs, including a decrease in stock-based compensation, and a net decrease of $0.5 million in third-party costs.
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Sales and marketing 
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
Sales and marketing   $ 13,401     $ 13,290     $ 111       0.8 %
 

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $0.1 million, or 0.8%, from $13.3 million during the three months ended March 31, 2022 
to $13.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The activity was primarily due to increases in personnel and 
personnel-related costs of $0.7 million driven in part by increased investment in our retail field sales and insurance teams, offset by 
decreases in direct marketing, advertising and promotional expenses of $0.6 million.

General and administrative 
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change  
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %  
General and administrative   $ 9,908     $ 14,934     $ (5,026 )     (33.7 )%
 

General and administrative expenses decreased by $5.0 million, or 33.7%, from $14.9 million during the three months ended March 
31, 2022 to $9.9 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The change was primarily due to a decrease of $5.7 million 
relating to general corporate costs primarily related to legal, consulting and other professional fees that in the first quarter of 2022 
were driven by activities related to litigation, financing and compliance matters, offset by a net increase of $0.9 million in personnel 
and personnel-related costs driven primarily by increased investments in our compliance and insurance teams.

Interest income
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,     Change
(dollars in thousands)   2023     2022     Amount     %
Interest income   $ 870     $ 5     $ 865     *

Interest income was $0.9 million during the three months ended March 31, 2023. The increase in interest income was primarily 
attributable to the increased interest rates on cash balances.

Liquidity and capital resources 

Sources of liquidity and operating capital requirements

Since our inception, we have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations. We have funded our operations primarily 
from the net proceeds received from the sale of our equity securities, indebtedness and revenue from the sale of our products. In 2022, 
these activities included the Patient Square transactions and the Rights Offering.

As of March 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $79.8 million, which are available to fund our operations. Cash and cash 
equivalents include amounts deposited in financial institutions regulated by the FDIC. The FDIC insures cash deposits of up to 
$250,000. We regularly maintain cash balances in deposit accounts in excess of the FDIC-insured limits. Additionally, our cash 
equivalents are held in accordance with cash sweep arrangements with financial institutions, which amounts are invested in money 
market accounts that are neither included on the balance sheets of such financial institutions nor insured by the FDIC. According to 
our cash sweep arrangements, we believe we should be recognized by the FDIC as the owner of such assets in the event of such 
financial institution’s failure, such as the March 10, 2023 closure of SVB. While we have regained access to our funds at SVB and are 
evaluating our banking relationships, future disruptions of financial institutions where we bank or disruptions of the financial services 
industry in general could adversely affect our ability to access our cash and cash equivalents. If we are unable to access our cash and 
cash equivalents as needed, our financial position and ability to operate our business could be adversely affected. In addition, even if 
we lack exposure to the uncertainty or volatility of one or more financial institutions, the impact of financial institution volatility on 
our partners, customers or suppliers may also impact our business and financial condition.

Our net losses were $21.9 million and $30.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We had an 
accumulated deficit of $536.2 million as of March 31, 2023. We expect to incur additional substantial losses in the foreseeable future. 
We believe that without any future financing, our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our obligations as they become due 
within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Our negative cash flows and current lack of financial resources 
raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. See the Risk Factors titled, “Our negative cash flows and 
current lack of financial resources raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. Our future capital 
requirements may be substantial, and if we are unable to raise additional funding to meet our operational needs, we will be forced to 
limit or cease our operations and/or liquidate our assets.”

25



 

We anticipate our future operating requirements will be substantial and that we will need to raise significant additional resources to 
fund our operations through equity or debt financing, or some combination thereof. We are currently exploring fundraising 
opportunities to meet these capital requirements. If we are unable to raise additional funding to meet our operational needs, we will be 
forced to limit or cease our operations.

In addition to our current capital needs, we regularly consider fundraising opportunities and may decide, from time to time, to raise 
capital based on various factors, including market conditions and our plans of operation. We may seek funds through borrowings or 
through additional rounds of financing, including private or public equity or debt offerings. Such capital may not be available to us on 
acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, or if the terms of potential funding sources are 
unfavorable, our business and our ability to develop our technology and our products would be harmed. Furthermore, any new equity 
or convertible debt securities we issue may result in the dilution of our stockholders, and any debt financing may include covenants 
that restrict our business.

Our ability to raise additional capital to meet our expected future capital requirements or for other purposes will depend on many 
factors, including but not limited to the following: 

• investor confidence in our ability to continue as a going concern;

• the timing, receipt and amount of sales from our current and future products;

• the costs involved in resolving third-party claims audits as well as other legal proceedings and their duration and impact on 
our business generally;

• the availability of insurance coverage for our hearing aid devices, and any costs associated with reimbursement and 
compliance, including following the implementation of the  OTC Final Rule (which may lead insurance providers to take 
actions limiting our ability to access insurance coverage), and any resulting changes to our business model, including a 
potential long-term shift to a primarily “cash-pay” model, with limited volume from our customers using insurance benefits 
as a method of direct payment to Eargo, which would likely result in a sustained increased cost of customer acquisition;

• the cost and timing of expanding our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

• any expenses, as well as the impact to our business and operating model, as a result of changes in the regulatory landscape for 
hearing aid devices;

• the cost of manufacturing, either ourselves or through third-party manufacturers, our products;

• the terms, timing and success of any other licensing, partnership, omni-channel, including retail, or other arrangements that 
we may establish;

• any product liability or other lawsuits related to our current or future products;

• the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel;

• the extent of our spending to support research and development activities and the expansion of our product offerings;

• the costs associated with being a public company;

• the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property portfolio; 

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses; and 

• uncertainty or volatility in the market generally, including as a result of increasing interest rates and inflation.  

Our liquidity is subject to various risks, including the risks identified in the section titled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of Part II. While 
the extent to which we are able to validate and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement to 
health plans, including those under the FEHB program, and the future impacts of the implementation of the FDA’s new OTC hearing 
aid regulatory framework (which may lead insurance providers to take actions limiting our ability to access insurance coverage) is 
difficult to assess or predict at this time, since the announcement of the DOJ investigation and our related decision to temporarily stop 
accepting insurance benefits as a method of direct payment between December 8, 2021 and September 15, 2022, there has been and 
may continue to be a significant reduction in shipments, revenue and gross margin. If this trend continues, it could negatively impact 
our liquidity and working capital, including by impacting our ability to access any additional capital.
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Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated: 
 

    Three months ended March 31,  
(in thousands)   2023     2022  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (21,330 )   $ (20,350 )
Net cash used in investing activities     (132 )     (942 )
Net cash provided by financing activities     —       24  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   $ (21,462 )   $ (21,268 )

Operating activities 

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, cash used in operating activities was $21.3 million, attributable to a net loss of $21.9 
million and a net change in our net operating assets and liabilities of $4.4 million, which was offset by non-cash charges of $5.0 
million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $3.4 million in stock-based compensation, $1.3 million in depreciation and 
amortization expense, $0.2 million in non-cash operating lease expense, and $0.1 million in bad debt expense. The change in our net 
operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $4.6 million decrease in accrued expenses, $3.5 million increase in prepaid 
expenses and other current assets, and $1.5 million increase in other assets, offset by $3.4 million increase in accounts payable and 
$1.9 million increase in sales returns reserve.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, cash used in operating activities was $20.4 million, attributable to a net loss of $30.6 
million, partially offset by a net change in our net operating assets and liabilities of $5.2 million and non-cash charges of $5.1 million. 
Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $3.0 million in stock-based compensation, $1.4 million in depreciation and amortization 
expense and $0.4 million in non-cash operating lease expense. The change in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due 
to a $3.0 million increase in accounts payable, $1.3 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets, $0.7 million 
decrease in other assets and $0.3 million increase in other current and noncurrent liabilities.

Investing activities 

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, cash used in investing activities was $0.1 million related to the purchase of property 
and equipment and payments for capitalized software development costs.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, cash used in investing activities was $0.9 million, which consisted of $0.7 million 
related to the purchase of property and equipment and approximately $0.3 million in capitalized costs related to the development of 
internal use software.

Financing activities 

There was no cash used in financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2023.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, cash provided by financing activities was less than $0.1 million and consisted of the 
stock options exercises proceeds, partially offset by amounts paid to settle restricted stock units.

Critical accounting estimates 

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The 
preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions regarding 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. Our estimates are based on our historical 
experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions, and any such differences may be material.

There have been no significant changes in our critical accounting estimates as compared to the critical accounting estimates disclosed 
in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operations” included in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022.

Recent accounting pronouncements 

Management does not believe that any recently issued accounting pronouncements and other authoritative guidance with the effective 
dates in the future will have material impact on Eargo’s financial position or results of operations when implemented.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest rate risk 

Our cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of $79.8 million and $101.2 million, 
respectively, in bank deposits and money market funds. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. The goals 
of our investment policy are liquidity and capital preservation; we do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes 
and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate exposure. We believe that we do not have any 
material exposure to changes in the fair value of these assets as a result of changes in interest rates due to the short-term nature of our 
cash and cash equivalents. 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic 
and current reports that we file under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that 
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer, principal financial 
officer, and principal accounting officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of March 31, 2023, our management, with the participation and supervision of our principal executive officer, our principal 
financial officer, and our principal accounting officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and 
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a 
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s 
management, including its principal executive, principal financial, and principal accounting officers, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in 
evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, and our principal accounting officer concluded 
that solely as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and entity level controls described 
below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2023 to provide reasonable assurance that 
information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, 
and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to 
our management, including our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, and our principal accounting officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Remediation efforts on previously reported material weaknesses

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements in connection with our IPO and through the current reporting period, we 
identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness identified related to a lack of qualified 
supervisory accounting resources, including those necessary to account for and disclose certain complex transactions and for which we 
lacked the technical expertise to identify, analyze and appropriately record those transactions. 

We have implemented, and are in the process of reviewing, corrective actions taken to improve our internal control over financial 
reporting to remediate this material weakness, including (i) the hiring of additional qualified supervisory resources and finance 
department employees and (ii) the engagement of additional technical accounting consulting resources.

In addition, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the financial reporting periods ended September 30, 
2021 and December 31, 2021, we identified a material weakness related to entity level controls related to a lack of sufficient qualified 
healthcare industry compliance and risk management resources, including those necessary to provide appropriate oversight, monitor 
compliance, and to identify and mitigate risks with respect to the financial reporting and disclosures of our operations. We have 
implemented and are in the process of implementing additional measures designed to enhance our compliance and risk management 
processes with respect to our operations in the healthcare industry to remediate this material weakness, including the hiring of 
additional qualified personnel, and the engagement of additional specialized consulting resources.
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We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, and are continuing to implement, will be sufficient to remediate the 
material weaknesses we have identified or avoid potential future material weaknesses. While we believe that our efforts have 
improved our internal control over financial reporting, remediation of the material weaknesses will require further validation and 
testing of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, and we 
cannot assure you that we have identified all, or that we will not in the future have additional, material weaknesses.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the changes intended to remediate the previously reported material weakness noted above, there were no changes in our 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period 
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.

29



 
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We discuss certain legal proceedings in Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q in Note 5, “Commitments and contingencies” 
under the caption “Legal and other contingencies,” which is incorporated herein by reference. We refer you to that discussion for 
important information concerning those legal proceedings, including the alleged factual basis for such actions and, where known, the 
relief sought, as well as the name of the lawsuit, the court in which the lawsuit is pending, and the date on which the complaint 
commencing the lawsuit was filed.

In addition, we may in the ordinary course of business face various claims brought by third parties, and we may, from time to time, 
make claims or take legal actions to assert our rights, including intellectual property rights as well as claims relating to employment 
matters and the safety or efficacy of our products. Any of these claims could subject us to costly litigation, and, while we generally 
believe that we have adequate insurance to cover many different types of liabilities, our insurance carriers may deny coverage, may be 
inadequately capitalized to pay on valid claims, or our policy limits may be inadequate to fully satisfy any damage awards or 
settlements. If this were to happen, the payment of any such awards could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. Additionally, any such claims, whether or not successful, could damage our reputation and 
business. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk factor summary

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not 
address all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we 
face, can be found below under the heading “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other information in 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our other filings with the SEC, before making investment decisions regarding our common 
stock.

• We may be unsuccessful in validating and establishing processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement 
from third-party payors, including those participating in the FEHB program. 

• Our negative cash flows and current lack of financial resources raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a 
going concern. Our future capital requirements may be substantial, and if we are unable to raise additional funding to meet 
our operational needs, we will be forced to limit or cease our operations and/or liquidate our assets. 

• We are subject to risks from legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries, including a number of recent legal 
proceedings and investigations, which have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our reputation, 
business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations, and could result in additional claims and material 
liabilities. 

• We have a limited operating history and have grown significantly in a short period of time. If we are unable to manage our 
business and anticipated growth effectively, our business and growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected. 

• If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key technology personnel, our business may be materially and 
adversely affected. 

• We have a history of net losses, and we expect to incur additional substantial losses in the foreseeable future. 

• Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-
channel business models and lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional 
clearance or approval for our products. 

• If we cannot innovate at the pace of our hearing aid manufacturing competitors, we may not be able to develop or exploit 
new technologies in time to remain competitive. 

• As we expand our product offerings to physical retail outlets and begin to rely on third parties outside of our control, any 
failure of such third parties to comply with applicable laws and regulations could negatively impact our brand image and 
business and lead to negative publicity and potential liability.

• We are deploying a new business model in an effort to disrupt a relatively mature industry. In order to successfully 
challenge incumbent business models and become profitable, we will need to continue to refine our product and strategy. 

• We operate in a highly competitive industry, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. 

• We rely on the timely supply of high-quality components, parts and finished products, and our business could suffer if 
suppliers or manufacturers are unable to procure raw materials or other components of an acceptable quality (or at all) or 
otherwise fail to meet their delivery obligations, raise prices or cease to supply us with components, parts or products of 
acceptable quality.
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• We rely on a limited number of manufacturers for the assembly of our hearing aids. If we encounter manufacturing 
problems or delays, we may be unable to promptly transition to alternative manufacturers and our ability to generate 
revenue will be limited. 

• If the quality of our hearing aid products does not meet consumer expectations, or if our products wear out more quickly 
than expected or otherwise suffer from unanticipated product issues, then our brand and reputation or our business could 
be adversely affected. 

• There are a variety of hearing aid products and technologies, and consumer confusion about product features and 
technology could lead consumers to purchase competitive products instead of our products, or to conflate any adverse 
events or safety issues associated with third-party hearing aid products or other sound enhancement products with our 
products, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

• If we are unable to reduce our return rates or if our return rates continue to increase, our net revenue may decrease, and 
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

• Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we are unable to obtain, maintain or successfully 
enforce our intellectual property rights, the commercial value of our products and services will be adversely affected and 
our competitive position may be harmed. 

Risk Factors 

Our operating and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties. You should carefully consider the risks described 
below, as well as all of the other information contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our financial statements and 
related notes, before investing in our common stock. While we believe that the risks and uncertainties described below are the material 
risks currently facing us, additional risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also arise and 
materially affect our business. 

Risks relating to our industry and business 

We may be unsuccessful in validating and establishing processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement from 
third-party payors, including those participating in the FEHB program. 

A significant portion of our revenue has historically been dependent on payments from third-party payors; for example, in the quarter 
ended September 30, 2021, 6,243 out of the 13,117 total gross systems shipped were for customers with potential insurance benefits. 
However, since December 8, 2021, we have operated on a primarily “cash-pay” basis. 

Third-party payors periodically conduct pre- and post-payment reviews, including audits of previously submitted claims, and we are 
currently experiencing and may experience such reviews and audits of claims in the future. Historically, we submitted claims to a 
concentrated number of third-party payors under certain benefit plans, and substantially all such claims related to the FEHB program. 
We temporarily suspended all claims submission activities on September 22, 2021 when we learned of the investigation by the DOJ 
related to our role in customer reimbursement claim submissions to various federal employee health plans under the FEHB program. 

On April 29, 2022, we entered into a civil settlement agreement with the U.S. government that resolved the DOJ investigation. 
Pursuant to the settlement agreement, we paid approximately $34.4 million to the U.S. government. We cooperated fully with the DOJ 
investigation. We deny the allegations in the settlement agreement, and the settlement is not an admission of liability by us. 
Additionally, following the settlement with the U.S. government, a payor audit related to claims submitted for customers with FEHB 
plans remains in process, although as of April 13, 2023, we are no longer subject to prepayment review of claims by the third-party 
payor with whom historically we had the largest volume. While we intend to continue to work with applicable third-party payors with 
the objective of validating and establishing additional processes to support any future claims that we may submit for reimbursement 
and, as of September 15, 2022, we have begun to accept insurance benefits as a method of direct payment again under certain limited 
circumstances, we may not be able to arrive at additional processes or submit future claims, including under the FEHB program, in 
sufficient volume to meaningfully restore or expand our insurance-based business. For example, we do not currently conduct in-person 
hearing tests, and it is possible that in-person testing would be required to support any claims submissions, representing a significant 
change from our past processes and direct-to-customer business model that may adversely impact the attractiveness of our offerings to 
customers.

Between December 8, 2021 and September 15, 2022, we did not accept insurance benefits as a direct method of payment to us, a 
practice we refer to as “direct plan access.” In “direct plan access,” we submit an insurance claim on behalf of an Eargo customer to 
their insurance plan, or support an Eargo customer in their own claim submission, and the customer’s insurance benefits are utilized 
for the purchase, in whole or in part. Common forms of utilization can include, but are not limited to, co-pay, payment by a third-party 
payor to either Eargo or the customer, reimbursement by a third-party payor to the customer, or application toward a customer’s 
deductible.
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Beginning on September 15, 2022, we resumed our direct plan access insurance-based business, accepting insurance benefits as a 
method of direct payment in certain limited circumstances, when the customer has undergone testing by a licensed healthcare provider 
to establish medical necessity, with supporting clinical documentation. A portion of the claims we have submitted since instating this 
process are pending adjudication by the payors (primarily due to prepayment review of claims by the third-party payor with whom 
historically we had the largest volume); although the majority of the claims we have submitted for reimbursement have been approved 
for payment and/or paid, others have been denied and are currently in the appeals process. As of April 13, 2023, we are no longer 
subject to prepayment review of claims by the third-party payor with whom historically we had the largest volume; however, third-
party payors periodically conduct pre- and post-payment reviews, including audits of previously submitted claims, and we cannot 
provide any assurances as to whether we will not be subject to any such reviews or audits in the future, including by such payor. 

We are evaluating additional alternatives for testing or establishing medical necessity, including but not limited to contracting with 
third parties or existing networks and/or establishing a management services organization separate from our existing corporate 
structure that manages professional entities that employ licensed healthcare providers. These alternatives involve significant time and 
related activities, including, but not limited to, development of additional internal processes, training, and compliance and quality 
control programs, coordination with external healthcare providers and professional services organizations, and evaluation of and 
compliance with state-by-state regulatory requirements. We cannot provide any assurance as to the efficacy of the processes that we 
have established or the efficacy of additional processes that may be established in the future. If we are unable to successfully 
implement alternatives for testing or to otherwise establish additional processes to support claims that we may submit for 
reimbursement, we expect that we may not be able to submit future claims in sufficient volume to meaningfully restore or expand the 
amount of our insurance-based business related to direct plan access. 

Further, the OTC Final Rule may lead payors to take additional actions further limiting our ability to access insurance coverage, or 
there may be a delay in accessing insurance coverage as payors seek to address the new OTC framework in their offered benefits, if at 
all, any of which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Prior to the 
effective date of the OTC Final Rule, no OTC category of hearing aids existed, and certain carriers, including the third-party FEHB 
carrier with whom historically we had the largest volume, excluded from coverage so-called “over-the-counter” hearing aids and 
enhancement devices (such as personal sound amplification products, or “PSAPs”). Accordingly, the new regulatory category of OTC 
hearing aids created with the OTC Final Rule are not covered under certain plans as currently written, until such time as such carriers 
update their coverage policies to reflect the newly established OTC category under the OTC Final Rule, if ever. It is our understanding 
that the third-party FEHB carrier that administers approximately two-thirds of all FEHB benefits nationwide currently does not intend 
to update its coverage requirements for hearing aids following the recent OTC Final Rule. In addition, even if health plans update their 
coverage policies to include the new regulatory category of OTC hearing aids, they nonetheless may require a prescription, evaluation 
or diagnostic test conducted by a licensed healthcare professional to establish medical necessity and/or establish lower reimbursement 
rates for OTC hearing aids. Although we may seek to market certain of our devices as prescription hearing aids, payors, including the 
third-party FEHB carrier that administers approximately two-thirds of all FEHB benefits nationwide, may still not provide coverage 
for such devices because they are also offered OTC. We may need to work with individual carriers (including FEHB plans) to 
determine coverage for our hearing aids, including on a claim-by-claim basis with individual payors, which may be time-consuming 
and unpredictable. Coverage and payment levels are determined at each third-party payor’s discretion, and we have limited control 
over such third parties’ decision making with respect to coverage and payment levels or over their claims submissions processes and 
timelines. Coverage restrictions and reductions in reimbursement levels or payment methodologies may negatively impact our 
business and ability to sell products. 

We are also seeking to establish further relationships with benefits managers or managed care providers. Employer self-funded plans 
or other health plans may at times offer supplemental benefits, which may include hearing aid benefits or general “over-the-counter” 
benefits; they may in those cases contract with benefits managers or managed care providers in the administration of such 
supplemental benefits. In this role, among other things, benefits managers are responsible for selecting benefits vendors or, in other 
words, vendors whose products or services are eligible to be covered by the supplemental benefit. The vendors themselves, or Eargo in 
this role, are not responsible for claims submissions but instead fulfill the product order from the customer through the benefits 
manager. 

We cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to maintain or increase our participation in arrangements with third-party 
payors, insurance carriers, benefits managers, or managed care providers or that we will be adequately reimbursed or otherwise paid 
by such parties for the products we sell, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows.

As a result of the change to a primarily “cash-pay” business model, we have faced a significant reduction in revenue and reduced 
growth prospects. If we are unable to establish processes to support reimbursement from third-party payors, our business and growth 
prospects and our ability to sell our products may be significantly and adversely impacted. Our future growth prospects may also 
depend on insurance coverage, if any, for certain hearing aids (which may not include Eargo hearing aids). We may never achieve 
sufficient additional third-party reimbursement to meaningfully restore or expand our insurance-based business.

We cannot predict whether, under what circumstances, or at what payment levels third-party payors will cover and reimburse our 
products. If we fail to establish and maintain broad adoption of our products or fail to penetrate the insurance and managed care 
markets for our products, our ability to generate revenue could be harmed and our prospects and our business could suffer. To the 
extent we sell 
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our products internationally, market acceptance may depend, in part, upon the availability of coverage and reimbursement within 
prevailing healthcare payment systems. Reimbursement and healthcare payment systems in international markets vary significantly by 
country and include both government-sponsored healthcare and private insurance. We may not obtain international coverage and 
reimbursement approvals in a timely manner, if at all. Our failure to receive such approvals would negatively impact market 
acceptance of our products in the international markets in which those approvals are sought. Please also see the Risk Factor titled, 
“Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel 
business models and lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for 
our products.”

Our negative cash flows and current lack of financial resources raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our future capital requirements may be substantial, and if we are unable to raise additional funding to meet our 
operational needs, we will be forced to limit or cease our operations and/or liquidate our assets. 

We believe that, without any future financing, our current resources are insufficient to satisfy our obligations as they become due 
within one year from the date of filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our negative cash flows and current lack of financial 
resources raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. We anticipate our future capital requirements will be 
substantial and that we will need to raise significant additional capital to fund our operations through equity or debt financing, or some 
combination thereof; however, additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all. If we are 
unable to raise additional funding to meet our operational needs, we will be forced to limit or cease our operations and/or liquidate our 
assets, in which case it is likely that investors would lose part or all of their investment. 

Our ability to raise additional capital to meet our expected future capital requirements or for other purposes will depend on many 
factors, including but not limited to the following: 

• investor confidence in our ability to continue as a going concern; 

• the timing, receipt and amount of sales from our current and future products; 

• the costs involved in resolving third-party claims audits as well as other legal proceedings and their duration and impact 
on our business generally; 

• the availability of insurance coverage for our hearing aid devices, and any costs associated with reimbursement and 
compliance, including following the implementation of the OTC Final Rule (which may lead insurance providers to take 
actions limiting our ability to access insurance coverage), and any resulting changes to our business model, including a 
potential long-term shift to a primarily “cash-pay” model, with limited volume from our customers using insurance 
benefits as a method of direct payment to Eargo, which would likely result in a sustained increased cost of customer 
acquisition; 

• the cost and timing of expanding our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; 

• any expenses, as well as the impact to our business and operating model, as a result of changes in the regulatory landscape 
for hearing aid devices; 

• the cost of manufacturing, either ourselves or through third-party manufacturers, our products; 

• the terms, timing and success of any other licensing, partnership, omni-channel, including retail, or other arrangements 
that we may establish; 

• any product liability or other lawsuits related to our current or future products; 

• the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel; 

• the extent of our spending to support research and development activities and the expansion of our product offerings; 

• the costs associated with being a public company; 

• the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property 
portfolio; 

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses; and 

• uncertainty or volatility in the market generally, including as a result of increasing interest rates and inflation.

As a result of the Rights Offering and conversion of the Notes, our stockholders may have experienced substantial dilution of their 
holdings and the PSC Stockholder has obtained a controlling interest in us. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of 
equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant further dilution, and any new equity securities 
we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. 

Debt financing, if available, is likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility in conducting future business activities. 
Even if we are able to raise significant additional capital necessary to continue our operations, if we are unable to obtain additional 
adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to pursue our business 
objectives, 
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develop our technology and products, and respond to business opportunities, challenges, unforeseen circumstances, or developments, 
including the implementation of the OTC Final Rule, could be significantly limited, and our business, financial condition and results 
of operations could be materially adversely affected. Furthermore, adverse events affecting the financial industry may make equity or 
debt financing more difficult to obtain. Please see the Risk Factor titled, “Adverse developments affecting the financial services 
industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional 
counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial condition and results of 
operations.” 

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or 
non-performance by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected 
business operations and our financial condition and results of operations. 

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, 
transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or 
concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide 
liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) was closed by the California Department of 
Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) as receiver. On March 
12, 2023, the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a statement that depositors at SVB would 
have access to their funds, even those in excess of the standard FDIC insurance limits, under a systemic risk exception. As of March 
10, 2023, we maintained cash in deposit accounts at SVB in excess of the standard FDIC insured amount and a substantial majority of 
our cash equivalents was invested, through a cash sweep arrangement with SVB, which are invested in a variety of short-term and 
high-credit bonds and other liquid investments. Although the FDIC ultimately announced that it would pay all deposits, including 
deposits that exceeded FDIC-insured amounts, we and other SVB customers initially were not able to access our accounts and faced 
significant uncertainty about whether and when we would be able to fully access amounts held through SVB, which would have had 
several follow-on consequences with respect to our ability to meet our near-term payment obligations. According to our cash sweep 
arrangements, we believe we should be recognized by the FDIC as the owner of such assets in the event of such financial institutions’ 
failure, such as the March 10, 2023 closure of SVB. On March 27, 2023, SVB was acquired by First Citizens Bank. While we have 
regained access to our funds at SVB, we have made and are making arrangements to open new and additional accounts with, and to 
transfer a portion of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to other financial institutions. We also continue to make arrangements 
to expand and evaluate our banking relationships in an effort to diversify as we believe necessary or appropriate. Such arrangements 
may not adequately address systemic liquidity concerns, however, as uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader 
financial services industry, including, for example, in the case of First Republic Bank and Credit Suisse during spring 2023. 
Additionally, we could experience disruption with customer receivables and vendor payments as we transition to new accounts.

Despite our proactive measures and the measures taken by the United States federal government, there is uncertainty in the markets 
regarding the stability of banks and the safety of deposits in excess of the insured deposit limits. The ultimate outcome of these events, 
and whether further regulatory actions will be taken, cannot be predicted. If any parties with whom we conduct business are impacted 
by the closure of SVB or any other financial institution, such parties’ ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new 
commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties to SVB credit 
agreements and arrangements, and third parties such as beneficiaries of letters of credit (among others), may experience direct impacts 
from the closure of SVB and uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry. 
In addition, if any of our partners, customers, suppliers or other parties with whom we conduct business are unable to access their own 
funds or access liquidity pursuant to credit agreements, letters of credit or other such lending arrangements or financial instruments as 
a result of financial institution volatility, such parties’ ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new commercial 
arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected, which in turn, could have a material adverse effect on 
our business operations, financial condition and results of operations. Similar impacts have occurred in the past, such as during the 
2008-2010 financial crisis.

Further, these events may make equity or debt financing more difficult to obtain, and additional equity or debt financing might not be 
available on reasonable terms, if at all; difficulties obtaining equity or debt financing could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition, as well as our ability to continue to grow our operations.

We are subject to risks from legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries, including a number of recent legal proceedings and 
investigations, which have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial 
condition, cash flows and results of operations, and could result in additional claims and material liabilities. 

We are currently and have previously been subject to a number of legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries, including: (i) 
purported securities class action litigation alleging that certain of our disclosures about our business, operations and prospects, 
including reimbursement from third-party payors, violated federal securities laws; and (ii) purported derivative action alleging the 
directors breached their fiduciary duties by allegedly failing to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls related 
to the Company’s financial reporting, public disclosures, and compliance with laws, rules and regulations governing the business. We 
could 
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face additional legal proceedings, investigations, and inquiries relating to these or similar matters. For more information regarding 
legal proceedings, see “Item 1. Legal Proceedings.” 

We are unable to predict how long such legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries will continue, but we have incurred and 
anticipate that we will continue to incur significant costs in connection with these matters and that these legal proceedings, 
investigations and inquiries have resulted and will continue to result in substantial distraction of management’s time, regardless of the 
outcome. Similar legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries in the future may result in damages, fines, penalties, consent orders or 
other sanctions (including exclusion from government programs and/or a recoupment of previous claims paid) against us and/or 
certain of our officers or directors, or in adverse changes to our business practices. Furthermore, publicity surrounding past and 
potential future legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries or any enforcement actions as a result thereof, coupled with the past 
intensified public scrutiny of our Company as a result of related publicity, could result in additional legal proceedings, investigations 
and inquiries. As a result, legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect 
on our reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. 

Legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries, and the uncertainty stemming from them, could also precipitate or heighten the other 
Risk Factors that we identify in this Item 1A, any of which could materially adversely impact our business. Further, legal proceedings, 
investigations and inquiries may also affect our business and financial results in a manner that is not presently known to us or that we 
currently do not consider to present significant risks to our operations. 

Additionally, we may become subject to other legal disputes and regulatory proceedings in connection with our business activities 
involving, among other things, product liability, product defects, intellectual property infringement and/or alleged violations of 
applicable laws in various jurisdictions. Although we maintain liability insurance in amounts we believe to be consistent with industry 
practice, we may not be fully insured against all potential damages that may arise out of any claims to which we may be party in the 
ordinary course of our business. A negative outcome of these proceedings may prevent us from pursuing certain activities and/or 
require us to incur additional costs in order to do so and pay damages. 

The outcome of pending or potential future legal and arbitration proceedings is difficult to predict with certainty. In the event of a 
negative outcome of any material legal or arbitration proceeding, whether based on a judgment or a settlement agreement, we could be 
obligated to make substantial payments, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. In addition, the costs related to litigation and arbitration proceedings may be significant, and any legal or arbitration 
proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We have a limited operating history and have grown significantly in a short period of time. If we are unable to manage our 
business and anticipated growth effectively, our business and growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected. 

We were organized in 2010 and began selling hearing aids in 2015. In that time, we have grown significantly, increasing the size of 
our organization and expanding our business. We have expanded, and any growth that we experience in the future will require us to 
further expand, our sales, clinical, and research and development personnel (including those with software and hardware expertise), 
our manufacturing operations and our general and administrative infrastructure. As a public company, we need to support increased 
managerial, operational, financial and other resources. Rapid expansion in personnel could mean that less experienced people develop, 
market and sell our products, which could result in inefficiencies and unanticipated costs, reduced quality and disruptions to our 
operations. In addition, rapid and significant growth may strain our administrative and operational infrastructure. 

The challenges we face in managing our business, including our potential long-term shift to a primarily “cash-pay” business model, 
the obstacles to our being able to obtain reimbursement for our products from third-party payors, and the changing regulatory 
landscape, place significant demands on our management, financial, operational, technological and other resources, and we expect that 
managing our business will continue to place significant demands on our management and other resources and will require us to 
continue developing and improving our operational, financial and other internal controls, reporting systems and procedures. In 
particular, the challenges in managing our business involve a number of areas, including recruiting and retaining sufficient skilled 
personnel, providing adequate training and supervision to maintain our high-quality product standards and regulatory compliance and 
preserving our culture and values. We may not be able to address these challenges in a cost-effective manner, or at all. In addition, we 
completed employee workforce reductions in the fourth quarter of 2021 and second quarter of 2022, which actions may continue to 
impact the attraction and retention of employees, as well as employee morale and productivity. We cannot assure you that any 
increases in scale, related improvements and quality or compliance assurance will be successfully implemented or that appropriate 
personnel will be available to facilitate the management and growth of our business. Failure to implement necessary procedures, 
transition to new processes or hire the necessary personnel could result in higher costs or an inability to meet demand. If we do not 
effectively manage our business through the various challenges we face, we may not be able to execute on our business plan, respond 
to competitive pressures, take advantage of market opportunities, satisfy customer requirements or maintain high-quality product 
offerings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key technology personnel, our business may be materially and adversely 
affected. 
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Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management, administrative and 
clinical and scientific personnel, including those with software and hardware expertise. We are highly dependent upon our senior 
management, particularly our President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as our senior technology personnel and other members of 
our senior management team. The unplanned loss of the services of any of our members of senior management could adversely affect 
our business until a suitable replacement can be found. 

Competition for qualified personnel in the medical device field in general and the audiology field specifically is intense due to the 
limited number of individuals who possess the training, skills and experience required by our industry. In addition, our success also 
depends on our ability to attract, recruit, develop and retain skilled managerial, sales, administration, operating and technical 
personnel. We intend to continue to review and, where necessary, strengthen our senior management as the needs of the business 
develop, including through internal promotion and external hires. However, there may be a limited number of persons with the 
requisite competencies to serve in these positions and we cannot assure you that we would be able to locate or employ such qualified 
personnel on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Therefore, the unplanned loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to 
attract and retain additional key personnel, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. Our ability to attract and retain such qualified personnel has been and may continue to be negatively impacted by the DOJ 
investigation or shareholder litigation, our recent workforce reductions and suspension of certain of our equity compensation practices, 
and related negative publicity. In addition, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they 
have been improperly solicited or that they have divulged proprietary or other confidential information, or that their former employers 
own their research output. 

We may experience difficulties in managing our business, and a deterioration in our relationships with our employees could have 
an adverse impact on our business. 

We expect to rely on our managerial, operational, finance and other resources in order to manage our operations and continue our 
research and development activities. We may expand our international operations, which would subject us to the legal, political, 
regulatory and social requirements and economic conditions of these jurisdictions, and create a variety of potential operational 
challenges due to a variety of international factors, including local labor laws and regulations and managing a geographically 
dispersed workforce. Our management and personnel, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate to support our 
business. Our need to effectively execute our strategy requires that we: 

• manage our commercial operations effectively; 

• identify, recruit, retain, incentivize and integrate additional employees; 

• manage our internal development and operational efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to third 
parties; and 

• continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reports systems and procedures. 

Maintaining good relationships with our employees is crucial to our operations. As a result, any deterioration of the relationships with 
our employees could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to attract 
and retain qualified personnel, and foster positive employee morale, has been and may continue to be negatively impacted by the DOJ 
investigation and related negative publicity as well as the suspension of certain of our equity compensation practices. In addition, we 
completed employee workforce reductions in the fourth quarter of 2021 and second quarter of 2022, which actions may impact the 
attraction and retention of employees, as well as employee morale and productivity. Further, many of our key employees receive a 
total compensation package that includes equity awards. In addition to the aforementioned suspension of certain equity compensation 
practices, volatility in the stock market, our share price and other factors could diminish the Company’s use or the value of the 
Company’s equity awards, putting the Company at a competitive disadvantage. 

Additionally, material disruption to our business as a result of strikes, work stoppages or other labor disputes could disrupt our 
operations, result in a loss of reputation, increased wages and benefits or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

We have a history of net losses, and we expect to incur additional substantial losses in the foreseeable future. 

We have incurred net losses since inception, and we expect to incur additional substantial losses in the foreseeable future. For the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, we incurred net losses of $21.9 million and $30.6 million, respectively. As a result of our 
ongoing losses, as of March 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $536.2 million. Since inception, we have spent significant 
funds on organizational and start-up activities, to recruit key managers and employees, to develop our hearing aids, to develop our 
manufacturing know-how and customer support resources and for research and development. 

The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. During the year ended December 31, 2022, net losses 
increased in part as a result of the costs involved in resolving the DOJ investigation, including the approximately $34.4 million we 
paid pursuant to the settlement agreement with the U.S. government, and other corrective actions and recoupment of previous claims 
paid, as well as other legal proceedings, and their duration and impact on our business generally. Net losses may also fluctuate and 
increase 
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as a result of the implementation of the FDA’s new OTC hearing aid regulatory framework and any potential Medicare coverage for 
certain hearing aids, neither of which may ultimately be favorable to us. 

Our long-term success is dependent upon our ability to successfully develop, commercialize and market our products, earn revenue, 
obtain additional capital when needed and, ultimately, to achieve profitable operations. The uncertainty regarding the extent to which 
we are able to validate and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for reimbursement to health plans, 
including those under the FEHB program, the implementation of the FDA’s new OTC hearing aid regulatory framework (which may 
lead insurance providers to take actions limiting our ability to access insurance coverage) and potential insurance (including Medicare) 
coverage for certain hearing aids (which may not include Eargo hearing aids) will require that we evaluate and consider any changes 
to our business model as new information becomes available, including a potential long-term shift to a primarily “cash-pay” model, 
with limited volume from our customers using insurance benefits as a direct method of payment to Eargo, which would likely result in 
a sustained increased cost of customer acquisition and a reduction in shipments, revenue, gross margin and higher operating expenses, 
which could have a material negative impact on our ability to achieve profitability and our growth prospects. We will need to generate 
significant additional revenue and raise significant additional capital to continue our operations and potentially achieve profitability. It 
is possible that even if we generate significant additional revenue and raise significant additional capital, we will not achieve 
profitability or that, even if we do achieve profitability, we may not maintain or increase profitability in the future. Without the benefit 
of customers with insurance coverage and significant additional capital, the future prospects of the Company and our ability to achieve 
profitability are uncertain. 

Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel 
business models and lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval 
for our products. 

On August 17, 2022, the FDA published a final rule to establish new regulatory categories for OTC and prescription hearing aids (the 
“OTC Final Rule”). The OTC Final Rule implements relevant provisions of the FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017 (“FDARA”), which 
set forth requirements for the FDA to create a new category of OTC hearing aids that are intended to be available without supervision, 
prescription, or other order, involvement or intervention of a licensed practitioner. Prior to the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, no 
OTC category of hearing aids existed. Following publication of a proposed rule in October 2021, the FDA issued its OTC Final Rule 
with requirements for labelling, conditions of sale, performance standards, design requirements and other provisions under which 
manufacturers may elect to market hearing aids as either OTC or prescription devices, or both. In addition, under FDARA, the OTC 
hearing aid controls promulgated in the OTC Final Rule preempt any state or local requirement specifically related to hearing products 
that would restrict or interfere with commercial activity involving OTC hearing aids. The OTC Final Rule became effective on 
October 17, 2022, with a compliance date of April 14, 2023 for certain previously marketed devices. 

We have marketed in the past, and continue to market, certain Eargo system devices as Class I air-conduction or Class II wireless air-
conduction hearing aids under existing regulations at 21 CFR 874.330 and 874.3305, respectively, both of which are exempt from 
510(k) premarket review. In addition, in June 2022, we submitted a 510(k) premarket notification seeking FDA clearance of expanded 
labelling for our Eargo 5 and 6 hearing aids under the “self-fitting” regulation at 21 CFR 874.3325. We received FDA 510(k) clearance 
for Eargo 5 and 6 as Class II self-fitting air-conduction hearing aids in December 2022 and, in January 2023, we launched the Eargo 7 
as our third over-the-counter, 510(k) cleared self-fitting device. As of April 14, 2023, the compliance date for marketed devices, we 
market our devices as OTC hearing aids. In addition, we may seek to market certain devices as prescription hearing aids, which would 
require compliance with separate physical and electronic labeling requirements under the OTC Final Rule. If the FDA were to 
determine that our devices do not satisfy the requirements of the OTC Final Rule, we could be forced to cease distribution of our 
products, and we could be subject to additional enforcement action by the FDA.

We have expended, and we will continue to expend, significant time and resources evaluating the OTC Final Rule and ensuring that 
our devices and processes comply with the new requirements in order to market our products in line with our primary direct-to-
consumer and omni-channel business models. It is possible that the OTC Final Rule may lead to additional commercial partnership, 
omni-channel, including retail, or other opportunities, although there are no assurances that it will do so. The OTC Final Rule and the 
responses thereto by leading insurance providers could also materially impact our efforts to resume submitting claims for customers 
with potential insurance benefits or have other unforeseen impacts on our business and results of operations. 

Finally, in October 2021, the Biden administration outlined its plan to expand government healthcare programs as part of its broader 
domestic spending bill, which includes, among other things, extending Medicare coverage to include hearing benefits. Congress has 
considered legislation that would provide for such coverage, for example, the Build Back Better Act (H.R. 5376), which was passed by 
the House on November 19, 2021. The bill, as passed by the House, would have provided Medicare coverage for certain hearing aids 
to individuals with specific types of hearing loss, furnished pursuant to a written order of a physician, qualified audiologist or other 
hearing aid professional, physician assistant, nurse practitioner or clinical nurse specialist. The Inflation Reduction Act, which was 
ultimately signed into law, however, did not include a hearing aid benefit. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature, or extent to which 
Medicare or other government healthcare programs will cover hearing aids, if at all, or specifically our hearing aids, which are 
intended for “mild” or “moderate” hearing loss, in the future, or the impact of any such changes on our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.
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If we cannot innovate at the pace of our hearing aid manufacturing competitors, we may not be able to develop or exploit new 
technologies in time to remain competitive. 

The hearing aid industry has in the past experienced rapid shifts to new key technologies, including for example the switch from 
analog to digital hearing aids in the 1990s, that disrupted existing market patterns and led to a large-scale market realignment among 
customers and hearing aid manufacturers. For us to remain competitive, it is essential to develop and bring to market new technologies 
or to find new applications for existing technologies at an increasing speed. If we are unable to meet customer demands for new 
technology, or if the technologies we introduce are viewed less favorably than our competitors’ products, our results of operations and 
future prospects may be negatively affected. To meet our customers’ needs in these areas, we must continuously design new products, 
update existing products and invest in and develop new technologies. We will also need to anticipate consumer demand with respect to 
these technologies and which technological advances are most desirable in the hearing aids we sell. This need will result in requiring 
our employees to continue learning and adapting to new technologies, and our competing for highly skilled talent in a competitive 
market. Our operating results depend to a significant extent on our ability to anticipate and adapt to technological changes in the 
hearing aid market, maintain innovation, maintain a strong product pipeline and reduce the costs of producing high-quality new and 
existing hearing aids. Any inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

As we expand our omni-channel product offerings to various third-party partners, including in such third parties’ physical retail 
outlets and begin to rely on third parties outside of our control, any failure of such third parties to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations could negatively impact our brand image and business and lead to negative publicity and potential liability. In addition, 
any shift of the marketing and sales of our products to third-party partners will increase our reliance on sales personnel who may 
be less familiar with our products or may also sell competitive products.

As we expand our omni-channel product offerings to various third-party distributors, including in such third parties’ physical retail 
outlets, we must rely on third parties to comply with applicable regulatory requirements in the promotion and sale of our devices. 
These third-party distributors may have limited or no experience selling regulated products such as hearing aids. If our third-party 
partners fail to comply with applicable requirements, our operations could be disrupted and we may be required to contract with 
alternate third-party partners, which could result in substantial delays and which could materially and adversely affect our business, 
financial conditions, results of operations and growth prospects. Any violation of applicable law by any  third-party partner could 
expose us to unforeseen potential liability or attract negative publicity for us and our brand, which could materially impact our 
business. 

In addition, any shift of the marketing and sales of our products to third-party partners will increase our reliance on sales personnel 
who may be less familiar with our products or may also sell competitive products. Our third-party partners may have limited 
experience marketing and selling hearing aids. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on members of our own employee base to 
provide support and training to our third-party partners as the market for OTC hearing aids develops and as we expand our third-party 
partnerships. Please also see the Risk Factor titled, “We rely substantially on our own employees, including our direct sales force, to 
market and sell our products, and if we are unable to maintain or expand our sales force or other employee base, it could harm our 
business. Additionally, our reliance on our employees to market and sell our products may result in higher fixed costs than our 
competitors and may slow our ability to reduce costs in the face of a sudden decline in demand for our products.” If they are unable to 
successfully market and sell our hearing aids or if they decide in the future to stop selling hearing aids, we or they may decide to 
terminate our partnerships, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial conditions, results of operations and 
growth prospects. 

We are deploying a new business model in an effort to disrupt a relatively mature industry. In order to successfully challenge 
incumbent business models and become profitable, we will need to continue to refine our product and strategy. 

Our primary direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business model is relatively new to the hearing aid industry. Our products are 
currently primarily available direct-to-consumer and are therefore generally not sold by channels which consumers would traditionally 
look to for the treatment of their hearing loss. Because audiologists and hearing clinics do not offer our products, they are unlikely to 
recommend our products to their patients. If we are unable to reach this population through our online or direct and channel marketing, 
the estimated market size for our products may be lower than we anticipate. 

Additionally, following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule on October 17, 2022, customers can now purchase or order Eargo 
hearing aids in certain physical retail settings. We believe that the OTC Final Rule may facilitate the opportunity to execute additional 
commercial partnerships and expand our potential customers’ opportunity to purchase our products at physical retail locations. 
Delivery of hearing aids via direct-to-consumer and retail models represents a change from the traditional channel, which requires in-
person visits to one or more hearing care professionals, and consumers may be reluctant to accept these models or may not find it 
preferable to the traditional channel. In addition, consumers may not respond to our direct and channel marketing campaigns or efforts, 
or we may be unsuccessful in reaching our target audience, particularly if we expand our sales efforts in foreign jurisdictions where 
our advertising and distribution model may be more heavily regulated. If consumers prove unwilling to adopt our model as rapidly or 
in the numbers that we anticipate, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed. 

Historically, the majority of hearing aids sold to customers who used insurance benefits as a method of direct payment to Eargo 
corresponded to claims for reimbursement to third-party payors under the FEHB program. While we are continuing to work with 
applicable third-party payors with the objective of validating and establishing additional processes to support claims that we may 
submit for reimbursement, we may not be able to arrive at additional processes or submit future claims in sufficient volume to 
meaningfully 

38



 

restore or expand our insurance-based business. As such, our future growth prospects may be dependent upon other opportunities, such 
as the OTC Final Rule and any potential insurance (including Medicare) coverage for certain hearing aids that we may be able to 
access. 

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

The worldwide market for hearing aids is competitive in terms of pricing, product quality, product innovation and time-to-market. We 
face strong competitors, which have greater resources and stronger financial profiles that may enable them to better exploit changes in 
our industry on a cost-competitive basis and to be more effective and faster in capturing available market opportunities, which in turn 
may negatively impact our market share. There are five major traditional manufacturer competitors in the industry—GN Store Nord, 
Sonova, Starkey, William Demant and WS Audiology—who together control a significant majority of the hearing aid market. 

In addition to these manufacturer competitors, Costco sells multiple brands of hearing aids, including those of the traditional 
manufacturers and Costco’s own white-label Kirkland Signature brand of hearing aid, at various price points. We estimate that during 
2019, Costco dispensed approximately 14% of the hearing aids distributed in the United States, which percentage is expected to 
increase going forward. The United States Department of Veterans Affairs (the “VA”) is also a significant provider of hearing aids and 
provides hearing aids at no charge to its patients. We estimate that, in 2022, the VA dispensed approximately 20% of the hearing aids 
distributed in the United States. Our products are not distributed by Costco, or on contract or currently eligible to be distributed by the 
VA. 

We also face competition from other direct-to-consumer hearing aid providers. Similar to our business model, these hearing aid 
companies allow consumers to purchase hearing aids remotely, with no need to visit a clinic, and they also provide remote support. 
Given the similarities in our direct-to-consumer business model to these providers, if potential consumers opt to buy their hearing aids 
from these direct-to-consumer competitors, our business could be adversely affected. 

Finally, in particular following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, we may also face increased competition from companies that 
introduce new technologies, including consumer electronics companies that sell direct to consumers or other hearing aid companies 
that partner with other retailers or consumer electronics companies. For example, in May 2018, the FDA granted marketing clearance 
to Bose Corporation for a “self-fitting air-conduction hearing aid,” and following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, Nuheara 
will be selling its OTC self-fitting air-conduction hearing aids under branding by HP, Inc., while Sony Electronics has partnered with 
WS Audiology. We view our consumer-first model as a competitive advantage, and competitors, including Bose or other consumer 
electronics companies, or any other companies following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule, that sell hearing aids directly to 
consumers or in partnership with other retailers may erode that advantage. Please see the Risk Factor titled, “Changes in the regulatory 
landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business models and lead to 
increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products.”

We may be unable to compete with these or other competitors, and one or more of such competitors may render our technology 
obsolete or economically unattractive. Please see the Risk Factor titled, “If we cannot innovate at the pace of our hearing aid 
manufacturing competitors, we may not be able to develop or exploit new technologies in time to remain competitive.” To the extent 
we expand internationally, we will face additional competition in geographies outside the United States. If we are unable to compete 
effectively with existing products or respond effectively to any new products developed by competitors, our business could be 
materially harmed. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share. There can be 
no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors or that competitive pressures will 
not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We rely on the timely supply of high-quality components, parts and finished products, and our business could suffer if suppliers or 
manufacturers are unable to procure raw materials or other components of an acceptable quality (or at all) or otherwise fail to 
meet their delivery obligations, raise prices or cease to supply us with components, parts or products of acceptable quality. 

We rely on a limited number of critical suppliers for many of the components that are used in the manufacture of our products, 
including for semiconductor components, such as integrated circuits, as well as batteries, microphones and receivers. We are 
dependent on these third-party manufacturers and suppliers to identify and purchase quality raw materials, semi-finished goods and 
finished goods while seeking to preserve our quality standards. This reliance and dependence on third parties adds additional risks to 
the manufacturing process that are beyond our control. For example, the occurrence of epidemics or pandemics, such as the COVID-
19 pandemic, may cause labor shortages and/or disrupt the supply of various raw materials and components, causing price spikes 
and/or shortages. As a result, one or more of our suppliers or manufacturers may suspend, close or otherwise reduce the scope of their 
operations either temporarily or permanently. In addition, reductions in our supplier volume due to demand or product changes may 
lead and has led suppliers to raise volume requirements, increase their pricing, levy minimum purchase requirements, revise terms of 
payment, or otherwise reduce or cease the scope of their supplier relationship with us.

In addition, many of these suppliers also provide components and products to our competitors. The industry’s reliance on a limited 
number of key components and product suppliers subjects us to the risk that in the event of an increase in demand or shortage of key 
materials or components, our suppliers may fail to provide supplies to us in a timely manner while they continue to supply our 
competitors, many of which have greater purchasing power than us, or seek to supply components to us at a higher cost. Lead times 
for materials, components and products ordered by us or by our contract manufacturers can vary significantly and depend on factors 
such 
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as contract terms, demand for a component, and supplier capacity. From time to time, we may experience and have experienced 
component shortages and extended lead times, as well as increased component costs and increased logistics costs, including on 
semiconductor components and batteries, and other components used in our products. 

For example, we have at times experienced, and expect to continue to periodically experience, price increases in certain of our critical 
components due to commodity price inflation. Additionally, while we have taken certain steps to alleviate cost pressures on freight 
shipping of our components and products, logistics costs may continue to increase and there can be no assurance that our cost-saving 
measures will continue to offset such logistics price increases. While we continue to monitor our supply chain and have taken and are 
taking actions to address limited supply and increasing lead times, including outreach to critical suppliers and spot market purchases, 
future disruptions in our supply chain, including the sourcing of certain components and raw materials by us or our suppliers, such as 
semiconductor and memory chips, as well as increased logistics and inflationary costs, could impact our sales and gross margins as 
well as launch and shipment of our products. The failure of our suppliers or manufacturers to deliver components or products in a 
timely fashion could have disruptive effects on our ability to produce our products in a timely manner, or we may be required to find 
new suppliers or manufacturers at an increased cost, or we may be unable to find replacement suppliers or manufacturers at all. 
Shortages or interruptions in the supply of components or subcontracted products, or our inability to procure these components or 
products from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner, could delay launch or shipment of our products or increase our 
production costs, which could adversely affect our business and operating results. Such disruption has in the past impacted our costs 
and could in the future impact costs or interrupt our ability to source certain product components. The effects of climate change, 
including extreme weather events, long-term changes in temperature levels and water availability may exacerbate these risks. A severe 
weather event in countries from which we source components and parts could cause disruptions in our supply chain which could, in 
turn, cause product shortages, delays in delivery and/or increases in our cost incurred to manufacture our products. 

Any shortage, delay or interruption in the availability of our products, or key inputs used in their production, may negatively affect our 
ability to meet consumer demand. Additionally, our reputation and the quality of our products are in part dependent on the quality of 
the components that we source from third-party suppliers. If we are unable to control the quality of the components supplied to us or 
to address known quality problems in a timely manner, our reputation in the market may be damaged and sales of our products may 
suffer. As a result, we may experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Certain components needed to manufacture our hearing aids are only available from a limited number of suppliers. 

Several of our suppliers provide products for our hearing aids and accessories for which they own the design and/or intellectual 
property rights. This includes semiconductor components, including integrated circuits, as well as transducers, batteries and various 
electrical components, some of which are highly customized. Although there may be several potential suppliers for our components, as 
our components are highly customized, there is a risk that these components may not be readily substituted by similar products of 
other suppliers or that any substitution may take a lengthy period of time to implement. Even if we do identify new suppliers, we may 
experience increased costs and product shortages as we transition to alternative suppliers. If any of these limited suppliers cease to 
supply us with their products, significantly increase their costs, or any of the foregoing events occurs, we could experience a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We rely on a limited number of manufacturers for the assembly of our hearing aids. If we encounter manufacturing problems or 
delays, we may be unable to promptly transition to alternative manufacturers and our ability to generate revenue will be limited.

We have no manufacturing capabilities of our own. We rely on a limited number of manufacturers: one located in Thailand, Hana 
Microelectronics, and our primary manufacturer, Pegatron Corporation, headquartered in Taiwan and with manufacturing facilities 
throughout Asia. Pegatron manufactures the Eargo 5, Eargo 6, and Eargo 7 hearing aid systems out of its facilities in Suzhou, China. 
For us to be successful, our contract manufacturers must be able to provide us with products in substantial quantities, in compliance 
with regulatory requirements, in accordance with agreed upon specifications, at acceptable costs and on a timely basis. While our 
existing manufacturers have generally met our demand and cost requirements on a timely basis in the past, their ability and willingness 
to continue to do so going forward may be limited for several reasons, including the volume of our orders and our relative importance 
as a customer of the manufacturer or its ability to provide assembly services to manufacture our products, which may be affected by 
the COVID-19 pandemic and potential geopolitical events involving the countries in which our manufacturers are headquartered or 
operate. Please see the Risk Factor titled, “We are dependent on international manufacturers and suppliers, as well as certain 
international contractors we engage from time to time with respect to select research and development activities, which exposes us to 
foreign operational and political risks that may harm our business.” An interruption in our commercial operations could occur if we 
encounter delays or difficulties in securing these manufactured products if we cannot obtain an acceptable substitute. 

Any transition to a new contract manufacturer, or any transition of products between existing manufacturers, could be time-consuming 
and expensive, may result in interruptions in our operations and product delivery, could affect the performance specifications of our 
products or could require that we modify the design of our products. We will be required to verify that any new manufacturer 
maintains facilities, procedures and operations that comply with our quality and applicable regulatory requirements, which could 
further impede our ability to manufacture our products in a timely manner. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify and 
engage alternative or additional contract manufacturers on similar terms or without delay. Furthermore, our contract manufacturers 
could require us to 
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move to a different production facility. The occurrence of any of these events could harm our ability to meet the demand for our 
products in a timely and cost-effective manner, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

The manufacture of our products is complex and requires the integration of a number of components from several sources of supply. 
Our contract manufacturers must manufacture and assemble these complex products in commercial quantities in compliance with 
regulatory requirements and at an acceptable cost. Our hearing aids require significant expertise to manufacture, and our contract 
manufacturers may encounter difficulties in scaling up production of the hearing aids, including problems with quality control and 
assurance, component supply shortages, including any semiconductor components, increased costs, shortages of qualified personnel, 
the long lead time required to develop additional facilities for purposes of testing our products and/or difficulties associated with 
compliance with local, state, federal and foreign regulatory requirements. There can be no assurance that manufacturing or quality 
control problems will not arise in connection with the scale-up of the manufacture of our products. If we are unable to obtain a 
sufficient supply of product, maintain control over product quality and cost or otherwise adapt to challenges in managing our business, 
we may not have the capability to satisfy market demand, and our business and reputation in the marketplace will suffer. If demand for 
our products decreases, as it has in the past year as a result of the DOJ investigation and claims audits (see “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—DOJ investigation and settlement”), we may have excess inventory, 
which could result in inventory write-offs that may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, reductions in our supplier volume due to demand or product changes may lead and has led suppliers to raise volume 
requirements, increase their pricing, levy minimum purchase requirements, revise terms of payment, or otherwise reduce or cease the 
scope of their supplier relationship with us. We may also encounter defects in materials and/or workmanship, which could lead to a 
failure to adhere to regulatory requirements. Any defects could delay operations at our contract manufacturers’ facilities, lead to 
regulatory fines or halt or discontinue manufacturing indefinitely. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If we are unable to successfully develop and effectively manage the introduction of new products, our business may be adversely 
affected. 

We must successfully manage introductions of new or advanced hearing aid products. Introductions of new or advanced hearing aid 
products could also adversely impact the sales of our existing products to consumers. For instance, the introduction or announcement 
of new or advanced hearing aid products may shorten the life cycle of our existing devices or reduce demand, thereby reducing any 
benefits of successful hearing aid introductions and potentially lead to challenges in managing write-downs or write-offs of inventory 
of existing products. We may also not have success in transitioning customers from legacy hearing aids to new products. In addition, 
new hearing aid products may have higher manufacturing costs than legacy products, which could negatively impact our gross 
margins and operating results. As the technological complexity of our products increases, the infrastructure to support our products, 
such as our design and manufacturing processes and technical support for our products, may also become more complex. Accordingly, 
if we fail to effectively manage introductions of new or advanced products, our business may be adversely affected. 

We experience challenges managing the inventory of existing hearing aids, which can lead to excess inventory and discounting of our 
existing devices. Inventory levels in excess of consumer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of 
inventory at discounted prices, which has affected our gross margin and could impair the strength of our brand. Reserves and write-
downs for rebates, promotions and excess inventory are recorded based on our forecast of future demand. Actual future demand could 
be less than our forecast, which may result in additional reserves and write-downs in the future, or actual demand could be stronger 
than our forecast, which may result in a reduction to previously recorded reserves and write-downs in the future and increase the 
volatility of our operating results. 

If the quality of our hearing aid products does not meet consumer expectations, or if our products wear out more quickly than 
expected or otherwise suffer from unanticipated product issues, then our brand and reputation or our business could be adversely 
affected. 

Our products may not perform as well in day-to-day use as we or our customers expect. Although we designed our Eargo hearing aids 
to provide high quality audio, we have collected limited data comparing our products to competitive devices. In September 2021, we 
conducted a series of comparative electroacoustic benchmarking tests (the “Bench Study”) to compare our Eargo Neo HiFi and Eargo 
5 hearing aids with hearing aids from four major manufacturers. While each of the devices tested in the Bench Study, including our 
Eargo Neo HiFi and Eargo 5 hearing aids, met or exceeded the identified benchmarks for appropriate levels of sound quality and 
amplification to improve speech audibility, the design, methodology and results of the Bench Study have not been subject to external 
review and may not be reliable or replicable indicators of the general performance of our Eargo Neo HiFi and Eargo 5 hearing aids or 
the other manufacturers’ hearing aids that were the subject of the Bench Study. Further, the benchmarks for appropriate levels of sound 
quality and amplification that we identified in the Bench Study may not be appropriate proxies for hearing aid performance or reflect 
the real-world performance of any tested device. Future studies, including our internal studies or those of our competitors or other 
third parties, may not yield the results that we expect to obtain and may not demonstrate that our products are superior to, or may 
demonstrate that our products are inferior to, existing or future products with regard to functional or economic measures. These study 
results may be 
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published in medical journals or other publications, or by our competitors and result in adverse publicity for our products. The 
performance of our Eargo hearing aids may not live up to customer expectations, and our brand, reputation, customer satisfaction, 
return rates and sales may be adversely affected as a result. 

Furthermore, because of our products’ limited time in the market, we cannot be certain about the usable life of our products. Due to the 
design constraints applicable to our rechargeable, in-the-canal design, our hearing aids may offer a shorter usable life compared to our 
competitors’ hearing aids. Thus, even though our products may be more affordable than competitive devices, they may need to be 
replaced more often. Although we believe the advantages of our design justify this tradeoff, customers may expect a longer useful life, 
and failure to live up to this expectation could result in reduced sales, decreased customer loyalty, higher-than-expected warranty 
claims and adverse publicity. 

Certain components of our hearing aids may also offer reduced performance, wear out over time, or otherwise suffer from 
unanticipated product issues. For example, the rechargeable technology used in our hearing aids and charging cases has a limited 
lifespan, and recharging performance will degrade over time. We designed our Eargo 5, 6 and 7 hearing aid devices to provide up to 16 
hours of continuous use between charges for up to two years of regular charging, but charging capacity may decrease more quickly 
than expected. Moreover, certain components of our hearing aids that can be purchased online, such as the hearing aid tips, will 
require more frequent replacement than the device itself. If the quality, longevity and durability of our products does not meet the 
expectations of customers, then our brand and reputation and our business, financial condition and results of operations, could be 
adversely affected. 

Customer or third-party complaints or negative reviews or publicity about our company or our hearing aids could harm our 
reputation and brand. 

We are heavily dependent on customers who use our hearing aids to provide good reviews and word-of-mouth recommendations to 
contribute to our reputation and brand. Customers who are dissatisfied with their experiences with our products or services or their 
ability to receive reimbursement from their insurance companies may post negative reviews. We have been and may continue to be the 
subject of blog, forum or other media postings that include inaccurate statements and create negative publicity. In addition, traditional 
hearing aid supply chain participants may express and publish negative views regarding our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel 
models and products. Any negative reviews or negative publicity, including in relation to the DOJ investigation, the claims audits, and 
other legal proceedings have harmed and could continue to harm our reputation and brand and severely diminish consumer confidence 
in our products. Please also see the Risk Factor titled, “We are subject to risks from legal proceedings, investigations, and inquiries, 
including a number of recent legal proceedings and investigations, which have had and could continue to have a material adverse 
effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations, and could result in additional claims and 
material liabilities.” 

We spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing campaigns to acquire new customers, which may not be 
successful or cost effective. 

We market our hearing aids through a mix of digital and traditional marketing channels. These include paid search, digital display 
advertising, email marketing, affiliate and channel marketing, direct response television, national reach television, direct mail and 
select print and radio advertising. We also leverage our database of prospects and customers to further drive customer acquisition and 
referrals. We spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing campaigns to acquire new customers, and we expect to 
continue to spend significant amounts to acquire new customers and increase awareness of our products. Beginning on December 8, 
2021, we temporarily stopped accepting insurance benefits as a method of direct payment. As a result, we have reduced sales and 
marketing resources that were previously focused on insurance customers to prioritize the conversion of cash-pay consumers into 
satisfied customers. The shift to a primarily “cash-pay” model has increased the cost to acquire new customers, based on the 
historically lower conversion rate for cash-pay customers as compared to customers with potential insurance benefits. This shift to a 
primarily “cash-pay” model may be reinforced by the new OTC regulatory framework, as our products are marketed as OTC hearing 
aids, which may not be covered under certain plans even if medical necessity is otherwise established. While we seek to structure our 
marketing campaigns in the manner that we believe is most likely to encourage consumers to use our products while lowering our 
acquisition costs, we may fail to identify marketing opportunities that satisfy our anticipated return on marketing spend as we scale our 
investments in marketing, accurately predict customer acquisition or fully understand or estimate the conditions and behaviors that 
drive consumer behavior. If any of our marketing campaigns prove less successful than anticipated in attracting new customers, we 
may not be able to recover our marketing spend, and our rate of customer acquisition may fail to meet market expectations, either of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance 
that our marketing efforts will result in increased sales of our products. 

In addition, we believe that building a strong brand and developing and achieving broad awareness of our brand is critical to achieving 
market success. Negative publicity, including in relation to the DOJ investigation, the claims audits, and other legal proceedings has 
harmed and could continue to harm our reputation and brand and severely diminish consumer confidence in our products. If any of our 
brand-building activities prove less successful than anticipated, or such activities are inhibited by negative publicity in relation to the 
DOJ investigation, the claims audits and other legal proceedings, it could materially adversely impact our ability to attract new 
customers. If this were to occur, we may not be able to recover our brand-building spend, and our rate of customer acquisition may fail 
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to meet market expectations, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. There can be no assurance that our brand-building efforts will result in increased sales of our products. See also the Risk 
Factors titled, “Customer or third-party complaints or negative reviews or publicity about our company or our hearing aids could harm 
our reputation and brand” and “We are subject to risks from legal proceedings, investigations, and inquiries, including a number of 
recent legal proceedings and investigations, which have had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our reputation, 
business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations, and could result in additional claims and material liabilities.” 

Our products are complex to design and manufacture and could contain defects. The production and sale of defective products 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. If product liability lawsuits are brought against 
us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our products. 

We make hearing aids that include highly complex electronic components, which are sourced from external third parties, and there is 
an inherent risk that defects may occur in the production of any of our products. Although we rely on the suppliers’ internal procedures 
designed to minimize risks that may arise from quality issues, there can be no assurance that we or our suppliers will be able to 
eliminate or mitigate occurrences of these issues and associated liabilities. Under consumer product legislation in many jurisdictions, 
we may be forced to recall or repurchase defective products, and more restrictive laws and regulations relating to these matters may be 
adopted in the future. We also face exposure to product liability claims in the event that any of our devices are alleged to have resulted 
in personal injury or damage to property, or otherwise to have caused harm. For example, we may be sued if any of our hearing aids 
allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such 
product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in 
the product, negligence, strict liability and a breach of warranty. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If 
we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit 
commercialization of our products. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. 
Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in: 

• decreased demand for our current or future products; 

• injury to our reputation; 

• costs to defend the related litigation; 

• a diversion of management’s time and our resources; 

• substantial monetary awards to customers; 

• regulatory investigations, product recalls, withdrawals or labelling, marketing or promotional restrictions; 

• loss of revenue; and 

• the inability to sell our current or any future products. 

Our inability to obtain and maintain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost and scope of coverage to protect against 
potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the sale of our current or any future products we develop. Although we 
currently carry product liability insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in 
an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. Our 
insurance policies also have various exclusions and deductibles, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we have 
no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or 
that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to pay such amounts. Moreover, in 
the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses. 

In addition, any product defects, recalls or claims that result in significant adverse publicity could have a negative effect on our 
reputation, result in loss of market share or failure to achieve market acceptance. For example, our first-generation hearing aid, 
launched in 2015, had a high incidence of product returns and warranty claims. As a result, we voluntarily withdrew the product from 
the market. The production and sale of defective products in the future could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

We are subject to consumer protection laws that regulate our marketing practices and prohibit unfair or deceptive acts or practices. 
Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business, and changes in such regulations or laws 
could require us to modify our products or marketing or advertising efforts. 

In connection with the marketing and advertisement of our products, we could be the target of claims relating to false, misleading, 
deceptive, unfair, or otherwise unsubstantiated or noncompliant advertising or marketing practices, including under the auspices of 
federal or state rules or regulations such as the Federal Trade Commission Act and state consumer protection statutes. If we rely on 
third parties, including customers, to provide any marketing or advertising of our products, including as we expand our product 
offerings in 
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physical retail settings or through online channels, we could be liable for, or face reputational harm as a result of, their practices if, for 
example, they or we fail to comply with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements. 

If we are found or perceived to have breached any consumer protection, advertising, unfair competition or other laws or regulations, 
we may be required to change our business model, products or practices in a manner that may negatively impact us. We could also be 
subject to regulatory investigations, enforcement actions, litigation (including class actions), fines, penalties, increased compliance or 
remediation costs, and adverse publicity that could cause reputational harm and loss of customer trust, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

There are a variety of hearing aid products and technologies, and consumer confusion about product features and technology 
could lead consumers to purchase competitive products instead of our products, or to conflate any adverse events or safety issues 
associated with third-party hearing aid products or other sound enhancement products with our products, which could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We believe that many individuals do not have full information regarding the types of hearing aids and hearing aid features and 
technologies available in the market, in part due to the lack of consumer education in the traditional hearing industry sales model. 
Consumers may not have sufficient information about hearing aids generally or how hearing aid products and technologies compare to 
each other. This confusion may result in consumers purchasing hearing aids from our competitors instead of our products, even if our 
hearing aids would provide them with their desired product features. Additionally, there may be confusion in the market following the 
publication of the OTC Final Rule and the implementation of the new OTC hearing aid regulatory framework, which does not include 
certain sound enhancement devices (such as PSAPs), because of the increased availability and access to hearing aid devices in similar 
locations and manners as sound enhancement devices. Our products and trademarks have also been and may continue to be subject to 
counterfeiting, infringement, or otherwise unauthorized resale. Such actions and other intellectual property infringement could result 
in consumer confusion, dilute our brand, and otherwise harm our reputation and business. Please see the Risk Factors titled, “Our 
success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we are unable to obtain, maintain or successfully enforce our intellectual 
property rights, the commercial value of our products and services will be adversely affected and our competitive position may be 
harmed” and “If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build name recognition in our 
markets of interest and our competitive position may be harmed.” Any adverse events or safety issues relating to competitive hearing 
aid products or other non-hearing aid, sound enhancement, or counterfeit devices and related negative publicity, even if such events 
are not attributable to our products, could result in reduced purchases of hearing aids by consumers generally. Any of these 
occurrences could lead to reduced sales of our products and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or other 
public health crises. 

We are subject to risks related to public health crises such as the global pandemic associated with COVID-19. The COVID-19 
pandemic and efforts to control its spread have affected, and any spread or resurgence of COVID-19 variants may in the future affect, 
how we and our partners conduct our businesses. For example, we have in the past taken, and may in the future take, steps to monitor 
our supply chain and actions to address limited supply and increasing lead times, including outreach to critical suppliers and spot 
market purchases. In addition, we have in the past been and may in the future be required to put measures in place to adjust our work 
patterns and protect our workforce in ways that may affect our productivity. If we are unable to respond to or manage the lingering 
effects of the pandemic or any future challenges resulting from any spread or resurgence of COVID-19, we could experience 
additional costs or other business disruptions, such as work stoppages, slowdowns and delays; travel restrictions and cancellation of 
events; delays in processing registrations or approvals by applicable state or federal regulatory bodies; delays in product development 
efforts; disruptions to or increased costs in our supply chain, including with respect to the sourcing of certain components and raw 
materials, such as semiconductors and memory chips; decreases in demand for our products due to consumer preferences or ability to 
afford our products; and additional government requirements or other incremental mitigation efforts. The effects and impact of any 
such challenges may be long-lasting and exceed the timeframe of any requirements to make adjustments to our business in the short 
term. Any failure to effectively address any such or any other disruptions could subject us to additional costs and limit our ability to 
develop, manufacture, sell and support the use of our Eargo systems. 

In addition, the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the broader economy and related effects on our business remains 
uncertain. For example, we believe our direct-to-consumer model has benefited from consumers’ pandemic-era reluctance to seek in-
person hearing care, and we are unable to predict whether or the extent to which this effect will endure. Moreover, the long-term 
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is difficult to assess or predict, and a recession or market correction resulting from the 
pandemic or other macro-economic factors could materially affect our business and the value of our common stock. For example, any 
increases in unemployment or other adverse economic trends could lead to reduced disposable income and access to health insurance, 
which could adversely affect demand for our products. The ultimate effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on our sales volume and other 
results of operations could therefore differ substantially from our expectations and our experience to date. 
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Repair or replacement costs due to guarantees we provide on our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

We provide product guarantees to our customers, both as a result of contractual and legal provisions and for marketing purposes. 

We generally allow for the return of products from direct customers within 45 days after the original sale and record estimated sales 
returns as a reduction of sales in the same period revenue is recognized. We also generally allow customers to return defective or 
damaged products for a replacement or refund. The term of the warranty provided is typically two years for our latest device and one 
year for all other devices. Existing and future product guarantees place us at the risk of incurring future repair and/or replacement 
costs. As of March 31, 2023, we had provisions of approximately $4.1 million relating to warranties. Substantial amounts of product 
guarantee claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, we reserve for the estimated cost of product warranties when revenue is recognized, and we evaluate our warranty 
reserves periodically by reviewing our warranty repair experience. While we engage in product quality programs and processes, 
including monitoring and evaluating the quality of our components sourced from our suppliers and instituting methods to remotely 
detect and correct defects or nonconformities, our warranty obligation is affected by actual product defect rates, parts and equipment 
costs and service labor costs incurred in correcting a product defect or nonconformity. Our warranty reserves may be inadequate due to 
undetected product defects or nonconformities, unanticipated component failures or changes in estimates for material, labor and other 
costs we may incur to replace projected product defects or nonconformities. As a result, if actual product defect or nonconformity 
rates, parts and equipment costs or service labor costs exceed our estimates, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Our failure to successfully anticipate sales returns may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Our reported net revenue and net losses are affected by changes in reserves to account for sales returns and product credits. The 
reserve for sales returns accounts for customer returns of our products after purchase. We record a reserve for sales returns estimated 
based on historical return trends together with current product sales performance in each reporting period. If actual returns are greater 
than those projected and reserved for by management, additional sales returns reserve may be recorded in the future and reported net 
revenue may be reduced accordingly. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
—DOJ investigation and settlement” for more information. 

We do not currently have the ability to resell all products that are returned. Our refurbishment capabilities are focused on components 
and allow us to reuse certain key components from our returned devices. To the extent we are unable to successfully refurbish devices 
in the future, we will not be able to resell such devices. Further, the introduction of new products, changes in product mix, changes in 
consumer confidence or other competitive and general economic conditions may cause actual returns to differ from product return 
reserves. Any significant increase in product returns that exceeds our reserves could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

If we are unable to reduce our return rates or if our return rates continue to increase, our net revenue may decrease, and our 
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Our customer sales returns rate was approximately 37% for the three months ended March 31, 2023. Our return policy generally 
allows our customers to return hearing aids for any reason within the first 45 days of delivery for a full refund, subject to a handling 
fee in certain states. Additionally, following learning of the DOJ investigation and prior to shifting to our current practice of accepting 
insurance benefits as a method of direct payment in certain limited circumstances, we offered customers with potential insurance 
benefits the option to return their hearing aids or purchase their hearing aids without use of their insurance benefits if their claim is 
denied or ultimately not submitted by us to their insurance plan for payment (see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations—DOJ investigation and settlement” for more information).

We report revenue net of expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by historical return rates. As such, our return rate 
impacts our reported net revenue and profitability. Our net revenue and profitability were previously negatively impacted by the 
inability to recognize revenue related to shipments to customers with potential insurance benefits as a result of the DOJ investigation. 
Our net revenue and profitability will continue to be negatively impacted by our limited volume from customers using insurance 
benefits as a direct method of payment to Eargo, as such customers generally have had a significantly lower rate of return as compared 
to cash-pay customers. As we have shifted to selling on a primarily “cash-pay” basis, we have experienced a significantly higher sales 
return rate. If actual sales returns differ significantly from our estimates, an adjustment to revenue in the current or subsequent period 
is recorded. Furthermore, if we are unable to reduce our return rates or if they continue to increase, our net revenue may continue to 
decrease, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. See “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Factors affecting our business—Sales returns rate.” 
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Accelerated consolidation and formation of purchasing groups increases the pricing pressure on hearing aids. 

Many purchasing groups, such as hearing aid clinics, retailers and hospital systems, are consolidating to create new entities with 
greater market power. Such groups, such as Costco and the VA, have used and may continue to use their increased purchasing power 
to negotiate price reductions or other concessions across our industry. This pricing leverage has resulted, and will likely continue to 
result, in downward pressure on the average selling prices of hearing aid products generally, including our own products. The OTC 
Final Rule could further contribute to the pace of consolidation as well as the introduction of new entrants in the hearing aid market, 
which would further increase pricing pressure on hearing aid manufacturers. Please see the Risk Factors titled, “Changes in the 
regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business models and 
lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products,” and “As 
we expand our product offerings to physical retail outlets and begin to rely on third parties outside of our control, any failure of such 
third parties to use comply with applicable laws and regulations could negatively impact our brand image and business and lead to 
negative publicity and potential liability.” These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Alternative technologies or therapies that improve or cure hearing loss could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

If medical research were to lead to the discovery of alternative therapies or technologies that improve or cure the various forms of 
hearing loss as an alternative to the hearing aid, such as by surgical techniques, the use of pharmaceuticals or breakthrough bio-
technological innovations or therapies, our profitability could suffer through a reduction in sales. The discovery of a cure for the 
various forms of hearing loss and the development of other alternatives to hearing aids could result in decreased demand for our 
products and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Adapting our production capacities to evolving patterns of demand is expensive, time-consuming and subject to significant 
uncertainties. We may not be able to adequately predict consumer trends and may be unable to adjust our production in a timely 
manner. Additionally, as we expand our product offering to physical retail settings, we may not be able to accurately estimate the 
inventory needs of such physical retail settings.

We market our products directly to consumers in the United States, where we face the risk of significant changes in the demand for our 
products. If demand decreases, we will need to implement capacity and cost reduction measures involving restructuring costs. If 
demand increases, we will be required to make capital expenditures related to increased production and expenditures to hire and train 
production and sales and product support personnel. Adapting to changes in demand inherently lags behind the actual changes because 
it takes time to identify the change the market is undergoing and to implement any measures taken as a result. Finally, capacity 
adjustments are inherently risky because there is imperfect information, and market trends may rapidly intensify, ebb or even reverse. 
We have in the past not always been, and may in the future not be, able to accurately or timely predict trends in demand and consumer 
behavior or to take appropriate measures to mitigate risks and exploit opportunities resulting from such trends. Any inability in the 
future to identify or to adequately and effectively react to changes in demand could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Additionally, following the effective date of the OTC Final Rule of October 17, 2022, customers can now purchase or order Eargo 
hearing aids in retail settings; we have also partnered with certain resellers or other distributors, including benefits managers, to offer 
Eargo hearing aids for sale through their online storefronts or portals. Our expansion into physical retail settings and other third-party 
partnerships represent new channels for the Company in which we currently have limited expertise. We may not be able to accurately 
estimate the return rate or inventory needs of such channels, which could result in supply disruptions if growth in demand in such 
channels exceeds our ability to supply product. Currently, we have no or limited historical basis for us to make judgments on the 
inventory demand of any such retail or other third-party partner. If we underestimate such return rate or inventory requirements, our 
retail and other third-party partners may have inadequate inventory for sale to their customers. In addition, delays in the delivery of 
our products to our retail and other third-party partners or a failure to provide our product to our retail and other third-party partners in 
sufficient quantities in a timely manner could harm our relationships with such partners and impact our business and operating results. 
Moreover, we sell our products to our retail and other third-party partners at prices that are lower than what we would otherwise 
charge in our direct-to-consumer channel, reducing our associated revenues and gross margins.

We are dependent on international manufacturers and suppliers, as well as certain international contractors we engage from time 
to time with respect to select research and development activities, which exposes us to foreign operational and political risks that 
may harm our business. 

We rely on a limited number of manufacturers: one located in Thailand, Hana Microelectronics, and our primary manufacturer, 
Pegatron Corporation, headquartered in Taiwan and with manufacturing facilities throughout Asia. Pegatron manufactures the Eargo 5, 
Eargo 6, and Eargo 7 hearing aid systems out of its facilities in Suzhou, China. In addition, we rely on some third-party suppliers in 
Europe, Southeast Asia, Japan, China and the United States, who supply, among other things, certain of the technology and raw 
materials used in the manufacturing of our products. We also engage certain international consultants, contractors and other specialists 
in connection with our research and development activities. 
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Our reliance on international operations exposes us to risks and uncertainties, including: 

• controlling quality of supplies and finished product; 

• trade protection measures, tariffs and other duties, especially in light of trade disputes between the United States and 
several foreign countries, including China and countries in Europe; 

• political, social and economic instability (for example, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 and the resultant 
sanctions and export controls introduced against Russia and recent escalations in geopolitical tension between the People’s 
Republic of China and Taiwan have created such instability and have and may continue to disrupt business activity both in 
the immediately affected region and around the world, the full effects of which remain unknown); 

• the outbreak of contagious diseases, such as COVID-19; 

• laws and business practices that favor local companies; 

• interruptions and limitations in telecommunication services; 

• product or material delays or disruption, including logistics challenges such as delays or disruptions in shipping; 

• import and export license requirements and restrictions; 

• difficulties in the protection of intellectual property; 

• inflation and/or deflation; 

• the threat of nationalization and expropriation; 

• exchange controls, currency restrictions and fluctuations in currency values; and 

• potential adverse tax consequences. 

If any of these risks were to materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We or the third parties upon whom we depend may be adversely affected by disasters, and our business continuity and disaster 
recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster. Any interruption in the operations of our or our suppliers’ 
manufacturing or other facilities may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, which has experienced severe earthquakes and wildfires as well 
as flooding and power outages. We do not carry earthquake insurance. Our manufacturers and many of our suppliers are located in 
Asia, which regions have experienced natural disasters such as earthquakes, landslides, flooding, tropical storms and tsunamis, and 
tornadoes. Our customer support operations as well as our third-party provider’s distribution facilities are based in regions of the 
Southern United States that have experienced flooding and tornadoes. Severe weather (including any potential effects of climate 
change), natural disasters and other calamities, such as pandemics (including COVID-19), earthquakes, tsunamis and hurricanes, fires 
and explosions, accidents, mechanical failures, unscheduled downtimes, civil unrest, strikes, transportation interruptions, unpermitted 
discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances, other environmental risks, sabotage, geopolitical unrest, political instability, 
terrorism or acts of war, could severely disrupt our operations, or our third-party manufacturers’ and suppliers’ operations, and have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our headquarters 
or other facilities, or those of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as our enterprise 
financial systems or manufacturing resource planning and enterprise quality systems, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be 
difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. A mechanical failure or 
disruption affecting any major operating line may result in a disruption to our ability to supply customers, and standby capacity may 
not be available. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in place currently are limited and are unlikely to prove 
adequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. The potential impact of any disruption would depend on the nature and 
extent of the damage caused by a disaster. There can be no assurance that alternative production capacity will be available in the future 
in the event of a major disruption or, if it is available, that it could be obtained on favorable terms. We may incur substantial expenses 
as a result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which, particularly when taken together with 
our lack of earthquake insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Furthermore, integral parties in our supply chain are similarly vulnerable to natural disasters or other sudden, unforeseen and severe 
adverse events. If such an event were to affect our supply chain, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 
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We depend on sales of our hearing aids for our revenue. Demand for our hearing aids may not increase due to a variety of factors. 

We expect that revenue from sales of our hearing aids will continue to account for our revenue for the foreseeable future. Continued 
and widespread market acceptance of hearing aids by consumers is critical to our future success. Consumer spending habits are 
affected by, among other things, prevailing economic conditions, levels of employment, salaries and wage rates, interest rates, 
inflation rates, consumer confidence and consumer perception of economic conditions, which have been adversely affected by the 
COVID-19 pandemic and may continue to be materially adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Hearing aids are often paid 
for directly by the consumer and, as a result, demand can vary significantly depending on economic conditions. The uncertainty 
regarding the extent to which we are able to validate and establish additional processes to support the submission of claims for 
reimbursement to health plans, including those under the FEHB program, the implementation of the new OTC hearing aid regulatory 
framework (which may lead insurance providers to take actions limiting our ability to access insurance coverage) and potential 
Medicare coverage for certain hearing aids (which may not include Eargo hearing aids) will require that we evaluate and consider any 
changes to our business model as new information becomes available, including a potential long-term shift to a primarily “cash-pay” 
model, with limited volume from our customers using insurance benefits as a method of direct payment to Eargo, which would likely 
result in a sustained increased cost of customer acquisition and a reduction in shipments, revenue, gross margin, and higher operating 
expenses, which could have a material negative impact on our profitability and growth prospects. Without the benefit of customers 
with insurance coverage, the future growth prospects and profitability of the Company are uncertain, unless we can identify new 
sources of profitable growth. 

Further, a general slowdown in the U.S. economy and international economies into which we may expand or an uncertain economic 
outlook could adversely affect consumer spending habits, which may result in, among other things, a reduction in consumer spending 
on elective or higher value products, a preference for lower cost products, or a reduction in demand for hearing aids generally, each of 
which would have an adverse effect on our sales and operating results. Ongoing challenges in global financial markets, as well as 
various social and political circumstances in the United States and around the world, have contributed and may continue to contribute 
to increased market volatility and economic uncertainties, including increased inflation pressures, supply chain challenges and 
international sanctions, some or all of which have resulted in an economic downturn and/or recession either globally or locally in the 
United States. These and other factors may continue to influence our customers’ behavior, disposable income, spending patterns and 
demand for our products. If there is a reduction in consumer demand for hearing aids generally, if consumers choose to use a 
competitive product rather than our hearing aids or if the average selling price of our hearing aids declines as a result of economic 
conditions, including employment levels and inflation, competitive pressures or any other reason, these factors could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are not successful in adapting our production and 
cost structure to the market environment, we may experience further adverse effects that may be material to our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. See also the Risk Factor titled, “We may be unsuccessful in validating and establishing processes 
to support the submission of claims for reimbursement from third-party payors, including those participating in the FEHB program.” 

We are subject to “conflict minerals” reporting obligations. 

We are required to diligence the origin of minerals used in the manufacture of our products that have been designated “conflict 
minerals” under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and, beginning in May 2023, disclose and report 
whether or not such minerals originated in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries. These requirements could 
adversely affect the sourcing, availability and pricing of minerals used in the manufacture of our products. In addition, we will incur 
additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of the relevant minerals 
and metals used in our products. 

Any future international expansion will subject us to additional costs and risks that may have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Historically, all of our sales have been to customers in the United States. To the extent we enter into international markets in the future, 
there are significant costs and risks inherent in conducting business in international markets. If we expand, or attempt to expand, into 
foreign markets, we will be subject to new business risks, in addition to regulatory risks. In addition, expansion into foreign markets 
imposes additional burdens on our executive and administrative personnel, finance and legal teams, research and marketing teams and 
general managerial resources. 

We have limited experience with regulatory environments and market practices internationally, and we may not be able to penetrate or 
successfully operate in new markets. We may also encounter difficulty expanding into international markets because of limited brand 
recognition in certain parts of the world, leading to delayed acceptance of our products by consumers in these international markets. If 
we are unable to expand internationally and manage the complexity of international operations successfully, it could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If our efforts to introduce our products into foreign 
markets are not successful, we may have expended significant resources without realizing the expected benefit. Ultimately, the 
investment required for expansion into foreign markets could exceed the results of operations generated from this expansion.

We rely substantially on our own employees, including our direct sales force, to market and sell our products, and if we are unable 
to maintain or expand our sales force or other employee base, it could harm our business. Additionally, our reliance on our 
employees 

48



 

to market and sell our products may result in higher fixed costs than our competitors and may slow our ability to reduce costs in 
the face of a sudden decline in demand for our products.  

We rely substantially on our own employees, including our own direct sales force, to market and sell our products. We do not have 
long-term employment contracts with the majority of our employees, including the members of our direct sales force. Our operating 
results are directly dependent upon the sales and marketing efforts of our employees, including our sales and customer support team. If 
our employees fail to adequately promote, market and sell our products, including by providing support and training for our partners, 
our sales could be negatively impacted. As we launch new products, expand our product offerings and increase our marketing efforts 
with respect to existing products, including through our third-party partners, we will need to expand the reach of our marketing and 
sales networks. Our future success will depend largely on our ability to continue to attract, hire, train, retain and motivate skilled 
employees with significant technical knowledge in various areas. New hires require training and take time to achieve full productivity. 

Additionally, most of our competitors rely predominantly on third-party distributors. Although we are in the early stages of expanding 
our product offerings in our omni-channel to various third-party distributors, including in such third parties’ physical retail locations, 
and as a result will  increasingly rely on such third parties’ sales forces, we anticipate that we will continue to rely substantially on our 
own employees for both the direct marketing and sales of our products as well as the provision of support and training for our partners, 
for the foreseeable future. Please also see the Risk Factor titled, “As we expand our omni-channel product offerings to various third-
party partners, including in such third parties’ physical retail outlets and begin to rely on third parties outside of our control, any 
failure of such third parties to comply with applicable laws and regulations could negatively impact our brand image and business and 
lead to negative publicity and potential liability. Additionally, any shift of the marketing and sales of our products to third-party 
partners will increase our reliance on sales personnel who may be less familiar with our products or may also sell competitive 
products.” Such reliance may subject us to higher fixed costs than those of our competitors that market their products primarily 
through independent third parties, due to the costs that we will bear associated with employee benefits, training and managing sales 
personnel. As a result, we could be at a competitive disadvantage. Additionally, these fixed costs may slow our ability to reduce costs 
in the face of a sudden decline in demand for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

We rely on our relationship with a professional employer organization for our human relations function and as a co-employer of 
our personnel, and if that party failed to perform its responsibilities under that relationship, our relations with our employees could 
be damaged and we could incur liabilities that could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

All of our U.S. personnel, including our executive officers, are co-employees of Eargo and a professional employer organization, 
Insperity. Under the terms of our arrangement, Insperity is the formal employer of all of our U.S. personnel and is responsible for 
administering all payroll, including tax withholding, and providing health insurance and other benefits for these individuals, and our 
employees are governed by the work policies created by Insperity. We reimburse Insperity for these costs and pay Insperity an 
administrative fee for its services. If Insperity fails to comply with applicable laws or its obligations under this arrangement or creates 
work policies that are viewed unfavorably by employees, our relationship with our employees could be damaged. We could, under 
certain circumstances, be held liable for a failure by Insperity to appropriately pay, or withhold and remit required taxes from 
payments to, our employees. In such a case, our potential liability could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business. 

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited. 

We do not expect to become profitable in the near future, may never achieve profitability, and have incurred substantial net operating 
losses (“NOLs”) during our history. Unused NOLs will carry forward to offset a portion of future taxable income, if any, until such 
unused NOLs expire, if ever. Federal NOLs generated after December 31, 2017 are not subject to expiration, but the yearly utilization 
of such federal NOLs is limited to 80 percent of taxable income for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020. In addition, in 
general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an 
“ownership change” (within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change 
NOLs or tax credits to offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the 
aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock 
increases by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of the corporation’s stock owned by such stockholders within 
a specified testing period. 

We have experienced an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code in the past, for which an estimate has been 
accounted for in our deferred tax disclosure. We may experience additional ownership changes in the future as a result of shifts in our 
stock ownership (some of which shifts may be outside our control). While we do not expect any limitation would impact our ability to 
use our tax attributes before they expire, we may be unable to use a material portion of our NOLs and other tax attributes even if we 
attain profitability.

Risks relating to intellectual property and legal and regulatory matters 

If we fail to comply with U.S. or foreign federal and state healthcare regulatory laws, we could be subject to penalties, including, 
but not limited to, administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in 
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governmental healthcare programs and the curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely impact our reputation and 
business operations. 

We operate in a complex regulatory environment with an extensive and evolving set of federal, state and local governmental laws, 
regulations, and other requirements. These laws, regulations and other requirements are promulgated and overseen by a number of 
different legislative, regulatory, administrative and quasi-regulatory bodies, each of which may have varying interpretations, 
judgments or related guidance. For example, broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations apply to our 
operations and business practices. These laws may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which 
we conduct our operations, including our sales and marketing practices, consumer incentive and other promotional programs and other 
business practices.

Such laws include, without limitation: 

• the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and 
willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or 
in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or 
recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under U.S. 
federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare, state Medicaid programs and TRICARE. A person or entity does 
not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; 

• the U.S. federal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, which can be enforced through whistleblower 
actions, and the civil monetary penalties law, which, among other things, impose criminal and civil penalties against 
individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S. federal government, claims for 
payment or approval that are false or fraudulent, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false record or 
statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from knowingly making a false statement to avoid, decrease or 
conceal an obligation to pay money to the U.S. federal government. In addition, the government may assert that a claim 
including items and services resulting from a violation of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or 
fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act; 

• Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which imposes criminal and civil liability for, 
among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare 
benefit program, or knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially 
false statement, in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the 
U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge; 

• state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, including state anti-kickback, self-referral and false claims laws 
that apply more broadly to healthcare items or services paid by all payors, including self-pay patients and private insurers, 
that govern our interactions with consumers or restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers; 

• the Federal Trade Commission Act and federal and state consumer protection, advertisement and unfair competition laws, 
which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers; 

• the U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act and its implementing regulations, which require certain manufacturers of 
drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health 
Insurance Program to report annually to the government information related to certain payments and other transfers of 
value to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain other 
healthcare providers (physician assistants, nurse practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, anesthesiologist assistants, 
certified registered nurse anesthetists and certified nurse midwives) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and 
investment interests held by the physicians described above and their immediate family members; 

• the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”), and similar regulations in other countries, 
which prohibit, among other things, companies and their employees and agents from authorizing, promising, offering or 
providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to foreign government officials, 
employees of public international organizations and foreign government owned or affiliated entities, candidates for 
foreign political office and foreign political parties or officials thereof and require companies to keep books and records 
that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions of the company and to maintain an adequate system of internal 
accounting controls; 

• foreign or U.S. analogous state laws and regulations, which may apply to our business practices, including but not limited 
to, state laws that require manufacturers to comply with the voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance 
guidance promulgated by the U.S. federal government; state laws and regulations that require manufacturers to file reports 
relating to pricing and marketing information or that require tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of value 
provided to healthcare professionals and entities; and 
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• similar healthcare laws and regulations in the EU and other jurisdictions in which we may conduct activities in the future, 
including reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments to healthcare providers. 

Foreign laws and regulations in this regard may vary greatly from country to country. For example, the advertising and promotion of 
our products in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) would be subject to EEA Directives concerning misleading and 
comparative advertising and unfair commercial practices, as well as other EEA Member State legislation governing the advertising 
and promotion of medical devices. These laws may limit or restrict the advertising and promotion of our products to the general public 
and may impose limitations on our promotional activities with healthcare professionals. We are also subject to healthcare fraud and 
abuse regulation and enforcement by the countries in which we conduct our business. These healthcare laws and regulations vary 
significantly from country to country. 

Ensuring that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and 
regulations will involve substantial costs. We utilize considerable resources on an ongoing basis to monitor, assess and respond to 
applicable legislative, regulatory, and administrative requirements, but there is no guarantee that we will be successful in our efforts to 
adhere to all of these requirements. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply 
with current or future statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws 
and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and 
regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, 
damages, fines, exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as state Medicaid programs, TRICARE or similar 
programs in other countries or jurisdictions, disgorgement, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits 
and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time-consuming 
and may require significant personnel resources. Even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought 
against us, our business may be impaired. 

Our hearing aids are subject to extensive government regulation at the federal and state level, and our failure to comply with 
applicable requirements could harm our business. 

Our hearing aids are medical devices that are subject to extensive regulation in the United States, including by the FDA and state 
agencies. The FDA regulates, among other things, the design, development, research, manufacture, testing, labelling, marketing, 
promotion, advertising, sale, import and export of hearing aid devices, such as those we market. Applicable medical device regulations 
are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time. Regulatory changes could result in restrictions on our ability to 
carry out or expand our operations. 

The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes (Class I, II, or III) based on the degree of risk associated with a device 
and the level of regulatory control deemed necessary to ensure its safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are those for which safety 
and effectiveness can be assured by adherence to the FDA’s general controls for medical devices, which include compliance with the 
FDA’s current good manufacturing practices (“cGMPs”) for devices, as reflected in the Quality System Regulation (“QSR”), 
establishment registration and device listing, reporting of adverse events, and truthful, non-misleading labelling, advertising, and 
promotional materials. Some Class I and Class II devices also require premarket clearance by the FDA through the premarket 
notification process set forth in Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”). 

We have marketed in the past, and continue to market, certain Eargo system devices as Class I air-conduction or Class II wireless air-
conduction hearing aids under existing regulations at 21 CFR 874.330 and 874.3305, respectively, both of which are exempt from 
510(k) premarket review. In June 2022, we submitted a 510(k) premarket notification seeking FDA clearance of expanded labelling 
for our Eargo 5 and 6 hearing aids as “self-fitting” devices. On December 22, 2022, we received FDA 510(k) clearance for Eargo 5 
and 6 as Class II self-fitting air-conduction hearing aids. In January 2023, we launched the Eargo 7 as our third over-the-counter, 
510(k) cleared self-fitting air-conduction hearing aid. In addition, in connection with the OTC Final Rule, as of April 14, 2023, the 
compliance date for marketed devices, we market our devices as OTC hearing aids. In addition, we may seek to market certain devices 
as prescription hearing aids, which would require compliance with separate physical and electronic labeling requirements under the 
OTC Final Rule.

In the 510(k) clearance process, before a device may be marketed, the FDA must determine that the proposed device is “substantially 
equivalent” to a legally-marketed “predicate” device, which includes a device that has been previously cleared through the 510(k) 
process, a device that was legally marketed prior to May 28, 1976 (a “pre-amendments” device), a device that was originally on the 
U.S. market pursuant to an approved PMA application and later down-classified, or a legally marketed 510(k)-exempt device. To be 
“substantially equivalent,” the proposed device must have the same intended use as the predicate device, and either have the same 
technological characteristics as the predicate device or have different technological characteristics that do not raise different questions 
of safety or effectiveness than the predicate device. Clinical data are sometimes required to support substantial equivalence. In the 
PMA process, the FDA must determine that a proposed device is safe and effective for its intended use based, in part, on extensive 
data, including, but not limited to, technical, pre-clinical, clinical trial, manufacturing and labelling data. The PMA process is typically 
required for Class III devices that are deemed to pose the greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supporting or implantable devices. 

Modifications to products that are approved through a PMA application generally require FDA approval. Similarly, certain 
modifications made to products cleared through a 510(k) may require a new 510(k) clearance. Both the PMA approval and the 510(k) 
clearance process 
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can be expensive, lengthy and uncertain. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance process usually takes from 3 to 12 months, but can last longer. 
The process of obtaining a PMA is much more costly and uncertain and generally takes from one to three years, or even longer, from 
the time the application is filed with the FDA. In addition, a PMA generally requires the performance of one or more clinical trials. 
Despite the time, effort and cost, we cannot assure you that any particular device will be approved or cleared by the FDA. 

Any delay or failure to obtain necessary regulatory clearances or approvals if required in the future could harm our business. 

The FDA can delay, limit or deny clearance or approval of a device for many reasons, including: 

• inability to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction that the product or modification is substantially equivalent to the 
proposed predicate device or safe and effective for its intended use, as applicable; 

• the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support clearance or approval, where required; 
and 

• the manufacturing process or facilities do not meet applicable requirements. 

In addition, the FDA may change its clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, or 
take other actions, which may prevent or delay our ability to introduce new products or modify our current products on a timely basis. 
For example, in November 2018, FDA officials announced forthcoming steps that the agency intends to take to modernize the 510(k) 
premarket notification pathway, and in September 2019, the FDA finalized guidance to describe an optional “safety and performance 
based” premarket review pathway for manufacturers of certain “well-understood device types,” which would allow manufacturers to 
demonstrate substantial equivalence by meeting objective safety and performance criteria established by the FDA, obviating the need 
for manufacturers to compare the safety and performance of their medical devices to specific predicate devices in the clearance 
process. As another example, in the FDA’s OTC Final Rule, the FDA states that it is separately proposing to harmonize the QSR with 
an international consensus standard. If we are required to seek additional premarket review of our devices in the future or if the FDA 
proposes modifications to quality system requirements, these proposals and reforms could impose additional regulatory requirements 
on us and increase the costs of compliance.

We operate in a regulated industry and changes in the regulations or the implementation of existing regulations could affect our 
operations and prospects for future growth globally. 

Our products and our business activities are subject to rigorous regulation in any jurisdiction in which we operate, now or in the 
future. In particular, these laws generally govern: (i) coverage and reimbursement by the national health services or by private health 
insurance services for the purchase of hearing aids; (ii) the supply of hearing aids to the public and, more specifically, the training and 
qualifications required to practice the profession of hearing aid fitting specialist; and (iii) the development, testing, manufacturing, 
labelling, premarket clearance or approval and marketing, advertising, promotion, export and import of our hearing aids. Accordingly, 
our business may be affected by changes in any such laws and regulations and, in particular, by changes to the conditions for coverage, 
the way in which reimbursement is calculated, the ability to obtain national health insurance coverage or the role of the ear, nose and 
throat specialists. 

While the FDA is the primary regulatory body affecting our business, which is currently based in the United States, there are 
numerous other regulatory schemes at the international, national and sub-national levels to which we are subject and, to the extent we 
expand internationally, we could become subject to international agencies and regulatory bodies such as the various agencies that 
enforce the European Union (“EU”) Medical Device Directive, the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, and sub-national 
regulatory schemes in such jurisdictions. These regulations can be burdensome and subject to change on short notice, exposing us to 
the risk of increased costs and business disruption, and regulatory premarket clearance or approval requirements may affect or delay 
our ability to market our new products. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain marketing clearance or approval for our 
new products, or enhancements or modifications to existing products. If we do, such clearance or approval may take a significant 
amount of time and require the expenditure of substantial resources. Further, such clearance or approval may involve stringent testing 
procedures, modifications, repairs or replacements of our products and could result in limitations on the proposed uses of our products. 
Regulatory authorities and legislators have been recently increasing their scrutiny of the healthcare industry, and there are ongoing 
regulatory efforts to reduce healthcare costs that may intensify in the future. Our business is also sensitive to any changes in tort and 
product liability laws. 

Regulations pertaining to our products have become increasingly stringent and more common, particularly in developing countries 
whose regulations approach standards previously attained only by some Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 
countries, and we may become subject to more rigorous regulation by governmental authorities in the future. Conversely, however, the 
regulation of hearing aids as medical devices provides a barrier to entry for new competitors. If the markets in which we operate 
become less regulated, those barriers to entry may be eliminated or reduced, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Both before and after a product is commercially released, we have ongoing responsibilities under various laws and regulations. If a 
regulatory authority were to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws or regulations, or that any of our hearing aids 
are ineffective or pose an unreasonable risk for the end-user, the authority may ban such hearing aids, detain or seize adulterated or 
misbranded hearing aids, order a recall, repair, replacement or refund of such instruments, and require us to notify health professionals 
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and others that the devices present unreasonable risks of substantial harm to the public health. A regulatory authority may also impose 
operating restrictions, enjoin and restrain certain violations of applicable law pertaining to medical devices, and assess civil or 
criminal penalties against our officers, employees or us. The regulatory authority may also recommend prosecution by law 
enforcement agencies. Any governmental law or regulation, existing or imposed in the future, or enforcement action taken may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Please also see the Risk Factor titled, “Changes 
in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business models 
and lead to increased regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products.” 

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their 
ability to hire, retain or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise delay or prevent necessary regulatory clearances 
or approvals, which could negatively impact our business. 

The ability of the FDA to review and clear or approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government 
budget and funding levels, statutory, regulatory and policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the 
payment of user fees, and other events that may otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times 
at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund 
research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the 
FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new medical devices or modifications to be cleared or approved by 
government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years, including for 35 days 
beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, 
have had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop critical activities. 

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the FDA postponed most inspections of domestic and foreign manufacturing 
facilities at various points. Even though the FDA has since resumed standard inspection operations of domestic facilities where 
feasible, the FDA has continued to monitor and implement changes to its inspectional activities to ensure the safety of its employees 
and those of the firms it regulates as it adapts to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic, and any resurgence of the virus or emergence of 
new variants may lead to further inspectional delays. Regulatory authorities outside the United States may adopt similar restrictions or 
other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health 
concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews or other 
regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process 
our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms may make it more difficult and costly to produce, market and distribute our products 
or to do so profitably. 

Recent political, economic and regulatory influences are subjecting the healthcare industry to fundamental changes. Both the federal 
and state governments in the United States and foreign governments continue to propose and pass new legislation and regulations 
designed to contain or reduce the cost of healthcare, improve quality of care and expand access to healthcare, among other purposes. 
For example, the implementation of the Affordable Care Act has changed healthcare financing and delivery by both governmental and 
private insurers substantially and has affected medical device manufacturers significantly. Other legislative changes have also been 
proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted, which included, among other things, reductions to Medicare 
payments to providers through the Budget Control Act of 2011 and the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012. In addition, the 
Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (“MACRA”), enacted on April 16, 2015, repealed the formula by which 
Medicare made annual payment adjustments to physicians and replaced the former formula with fixed annual updates and a new 
system of incentive payments which began in 2019 that are based on various performance measures and physicians’ participation in 
alternative payment models such as accountable care organizations. Future legislation and regulatory changes, including, for example, 
the new OTC regulatory framework, may result in, directly or indirectly, decreased coverage and reimbursement for medical devices, 
which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce the prices charged and impact market demand for medical devices. 
This could harm our ability to market and generate sales from our products. 

Our hearing aids may cause or contribute to adverse medical events that we are required to report to the FDA, and if we fail to do 
so, we would be subject to sanctions that could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. The 
discovery of serious safety issues with our products, or a recall of our products either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or 
another governmental authority, could have a negative impact on us. 

We are subject to the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations and similar foreign regulations, which require us to report to the 
FDA when we receive or become aware of information that reasonably suggests that one or more of our hearing aids may have caused 
or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that, if the malfunction were to recur, it could cause or contribute 
to a death or serious injury. The timing of our obligation to report is triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as 
well as the nature of the event. We may fail to report adverse events of which we become aware within the prescribed timeframe. We 
may also fail to recognize that we have become aware of a reportable adverse event, especially if it is not reported to us as an adverse 
event or if it is an adverse event that is unexpected or removed in time from the initial use of the hearing aid device. If we fail to 
comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA could take action, including warning letters, untitled letters, administrative actions, 
criminal 
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prosecution, imposition of civil monetary penalties, seizure of our products or, if premarket review is required in the future, delay in 
clearance of future products. 

The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have the authority to require the recall of commercialized medical device products in the event 
of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to 
health. The FDA’s authority to require a recall must be based on a finding that there is reasonable probability that the device could 
cause serious injury or death. We may also choose to voluntarily recall a product if any material deficiency is found. A government-
mandated or voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures, malfunctions, 
manufacturing defects, labelling or design deficiencies, packaging defects or other deficiencies or failures to comply with applicable 
regulations. We cannot assure you that product defects or other errors will not occur in the future. Recalls involving our hearing aids 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Medical device manufacturers are required to maintain certain records of recalls and corrections, even if they are not reportable to the 
FDA. We may initiate voluntary withdrawals or corrections for our hearing aid devices in the future that we determine do not require 
notification of the FDA. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations, it could require us to report those actions as recalls and we may 
be subject to enforcement action. A future recall announcement could harm our reputation with customers, potentially lead to product 
liability claims against us and negatively affect our sales. 

We must manufacture our products in accordance with federal and state regulations, and we could be forced to recall our products 
or terminate production if we fail to comply with these regulations. 

The methods used in, and the facilities used for, the manufacture of our hearing aid devices must comply with the FDA’s QSR, which 
is a complex regulatory scheme that covers the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, process controls, 
quality assurance, labelling, packaging, handling, storage, distribution, servicing and shipping of medical devices. Furthermore, we are 
required to verify that our suppliers maintain facilities, procedures and operations that comply with our quality and applicable 
regulatory requirements. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced or unannounced inspections of medical device 
manufacturing facilities, which may include the facilities of subcontractors, and such inspections can result in warning letters, untitled 
letters and other regulatory communications and adverse publicity. Our hearing aid devices are also subject to similar state regulations 
and various laws and regulations of foreign countries governing manufacturing. 

We cannot guarantee that we or any subcontractors will take the necessary steps to comply with applicable regulations, which could 
cause delays in the manufacture and delivery of our products. Manufacturing of our products may also result in defects or 
nonconformities that require rework prior to distribution to ensure QSR compliance, which could increase our anticipated 
manufacturing and compliance costs. For example, we expect to incur rework costs of approximately $1.0-1.5 million, primarily in 
2023, to be expensed in the quarters in which incurred, to ameliorate loss of charging capacity in certain of our previously 
manufactured hearing aids as a result of prolonged shelf life. No such rework costs were incurred in the three months ended March 31, 
2023. In addition, failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements or later discovery of previously unknown problems with our 
products or manufacturing processes could result in, among other things: 

• fines, injunctions or civil penalties; 

• suspension or withdrawal of future clearances or approvals; 

• refusal to clear or approve pending applications; 

• seizures or recalls of our products; 

• total or partial suspension of production or distribution; 

• administrative or judicially imposed sanctions; 

• refusal to permit the import or export of our products; and 

• criminal prosecution. 

Any of these actions could significantly and negatively impact supply of our products. If any of these events occurs, our reputation 
could be harmed, we could be exposed to product liability claims and we could lose customers and suffer reduced revenue and 
increased costs. 

We are subject to numerous state and local hearing aid and licensure laws and regulations as well as state laws regulating the 
corporate practice of audiology or fee splitting, and non-compliance with these laws and regulations may expose us to significant 
costs or liabilities and negatively impact our business, financial condition and ability to operate in those states. 

We are subject to numerous state and local hearing aid laws and regulations relating to, among other matters, licensure and registration 
of audiologists and other individuals we employ or contract with to provide services and dispense hearing aids. Many states also have 
laws that regulate the corporate practice of audiology, including exercising control, interfering with or influencing an audiologist or 
other hearing care specialist’s professional judgment and entering into certain financial arrangements, such as splitting professional 
fees 
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with audiologists. Other state and local laws and regulations require us to maintain warranty and return policies for consumers 
allowing for the return of product and restrict advertising and marketing practices. These state and local laws and regulations are 
complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time; additionally, these laws and their interpretations 
vary from state to state and are enforced by state courts and regulatory authorities, each with broad discretion. 

The FDCA preempts state laws relating to the safety and efficacy of medical devices and state laws that are different from or in 
addition to federal requirements. In addition, under FDARA, the OTC Final Rule preempts any state or local requirement specifically 
related to hearing products that would restrict or interfere with commercial activity involving OTC hearing aids. However, the FDA 
made clear in its rulemaking that although a state or local government may not require the order, involvement, or intervention of a 
licensed person for consumers to access OTC hearing aids, any person representing as a defined professional or establishment remains 
subject to applicable state and local requirements, even if the person undertakes commercial or professional activities only in relation 
to OTC hearing aids. Our ability to operate profitably will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintain any necessary licenses 
and other approvals and operate in compliance with applicable state laws and regulations. A determination that we are in violation of 
applicable laws and regulations in any jurisdiction in which we operate could have a material adverse effect on us, particularly if we 
are unable to restructure our operations and arrangements to comply with the requirements of that jurisdiction, if we are required to 
restructure our operations and arrangements, including those with our audiologists and other licensed professionals, at a significant 
cost, or if we are subject to penalties or other adverse action. 

Applicable federal laws and regulations continue to evolve. In addition to the changes under the OTC Final Rule, the Biden Executive 
Order July 9, 2021 instructed the FTC to review overly restrictive occupational licensing requirements that may impede the ability for 
licensed individuals to move between states. We cannot predict the impact on our business of new or amended laws or regulations or 
any changes in the way existing and future laws and regulations are interpreted or enforced, nor can we ensure we will be able to 
obtain or maintain any required licenses or permits. See the Risk Factor titled, “Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid 
devices could materially impact our direct-to-consumer and omni-channel business models and lead to increased regulatory 
requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products.” 

We may face risks related to any future international sales, including the need to obtain necessary foreign regulatory clearance or 
approvals. 

Sales of our products outside the United States will subject us to foreign regulatory requirements that vary widely from country to 
country. The time required to obtain clearances or approvals required by other countries may be longer than that required for FDA 
clearance or approval, and requirements for such approvals may differ from FDA requirements. We may be unable to obtain regulatory 
approvals and may also incur significant costs in attempting to obtain foreign regulatory approvals. If we experience delays in receipt 
of approvals to market our products in new jurisdictions, or if we fail to receive these approvals, we may be unable to market our 
products in international markets in a timely manner, if at all, which could materially impact our international expansion and adversely 
affect our business as a whole. Some international regulations may also limit the availability of our hearing aids to customers in 
certain jurisdictions without our first obtaining a license or engaging a third party to provide such financing, or limit the financing 
options we can offer our customers. If any of these risks were to materialize, they could limit our expected international expansion 
opportunities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Regulations in certain foreign countries may challenge our direct-to-consumer sales model. 

Our business may also be affected by actions of domestic and foreign governments to restrict the activities of direct-to-consumer 
companies for various reasons, including a limitation on the ability of direct-to-consumer companies to operate without the 
involvement of a traditional retail channel. To the extent that we begin to offer our products in international markets, foreign 
governments may also introduce other forms of protectionist legislation, such as limitations or requirements on where the products can 
or must be produced or requirements that non-domestic companies doing or seeking to do business place a certain percentage of 
ownership of legal entities in the hands of local nationals to protect the commercial interests of its citizens. Customs laws, tariffs, 
import duties, export and import quotas and restrictions on repatriation of foreign earnings and/or other methods of accessing cash 
generated internationally, may negatively affect our local or corporate operations. Additionally, the U.S. government may impose 
restrictions on our ability to engage in business in other countries in connection with the foreign policy of the United States. Any such 
restrictions on our direct-to-consumer sales model in international jurisdictions could limit our ability to grow internationally, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we are unable to obtain, maintain or successfully enforce our 
intellectual property rights, the commercial value of our products and services will be adversely affected and our competitive 
position may be harmed. 

Our success and ability to compete depend in part on our ability to maintain and enforce existing intellectual property and to obtain, 
maintain and enforce further intellectual property protection for our products and services, both in the United States and in other 
countries. We attempt to protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret 
laws, as well as licensing agreements and third-party confidentiality and assignment agreements. Our inability to do so could harm our 
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competitive position. As of March 31, 2023, we had 26 issued U.S. patents, 26 patents outside the United States, 10 pending U.S. 
patent applications and 12 pending foreign patent applications. 

We rely on our portfolio of issued and pending patent applications in the United States and other countries to protect our intellectual 
property and our competitive position. However, the patent positions of medical device companies, including our patent position, may 
involve complex legal and factual questions, and, therefore, the scope, validity and enforceability of any patent claims that we may 
obtain cannot be predicted with certainty. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurances that any of our issued patents have, or that 
any of our currently pending or future patent applications that mature into issued patents will include, claims with a scope sufficient to 
protect our products and services. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in the issuance of patents or, if issued, 
may not issue in a form that will be advantageous to us. While we generally apply for patents in those countries where we intend to 
make, have made, use or sell patented products, we may not accurately predict all of the countries where patent protection will 
ultimately be desirable. If we fail to timely file for a patent, we may be precluded from doing so at a later date. Additionally, any 
patents issued to us may be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented, or may not be sufficiently broad to 
prevent third parties from producing competing products similar in design to our products. 

Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of 
our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent protection, which in turn could diminish the commercial value of our 
products and services. In addition, any protection afforded by foreign patents may be more limited than that provided under U.S. 
patent and intellectual property laws. There can be no assurance that any of our patents, any patents licensed to us or any patents 
which we may be issued in the future will provide us with a competitive advantage or afford us protection against infringement by 
others, or that the patents will not be successfully challenged or circumvented by third parties, including our competitors. Further, 
there can be no assurance that we will have adequate resources to enforce our patents. 

In addition, from time to time we engage international consultants, contractors and other specialists to assist in our research and 
development activities. Certain of these third parties may operate in jurisdictions where it is difficult or impossible for us to assert our 
intellectual property rights in case of infringement or theft, either as a statutory or practical matter. We have engaged in, and may in 
the future engage in, various contractual relationships with third parties outside the United States in connection with the development 
of our products, which may expose our technology and intellectual property to a heightened risk of unauthorized use or theft. 

Any of the foregoing risks, individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, 
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of 
interest and our competitive position may be harmed. 

We rely on our trademarks, trade names and brand names to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors, and have 
registered or applied to register many of these trademarks. There can be no assurance that our trademark applications will be approved. 
Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our 
trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in loss of brand recognition, 
and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Further, there can be no assurance that competitors 
will not infringe our trademarks or that we will have adequate resources to enforce our trademarks. We also license third parties to use 
our trademarks. In an effort to preserve our trademark rights, we enter into license agreements with these third parties, which govern 
the use of our trademarks and require our licensees to abide by quality control standards with respect to the goods and services that 
they provide under our trademarks. Although we make efforts to monitor the use of our trademarks by our licensees, there can be no 
assurance that these efforts will be sufficient to ensure that our licensees abide by the terms of their licenses. In the event that our 
licensees fail to do so, our trademark rights could be diluted. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our 
competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and 
unsuccessful. 

Third parties, including our competitors, could be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating our intellectual property rights. 
While we are not aware of any unauthorized use of our intellectual property, we do not regularly conduct monitoring for unauthorized 
use at this time. In the future, we may from time to time, seek to analyze our competitors’ products and services, or seek to enforce our 
rights against potential infringement, misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. However, the steps we have taken to 
protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to enforce our rights as against such infringement, misappropriation or violation of 
our intellectual property. We may not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual 
property rights. Any inability to meaningfully enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our ability to compete and reduce 
demand for our products and services. 

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights. An adverse result in any 
litigation proceeding could harm our business. In any lawsuit we bring to enforce our intellectual property rights, a court may refuse to 
stop the other party from using the technology at issue on grounds that our intellectual property rights do not cover the technology in 
question. 
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If we initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering a product, the defendant could counterclaim that such 
patent is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or 
unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory 
requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an 
allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office (“USPTO”) or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Mechanisms for such challenges include re-
examination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in 
foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation of, cancellation of, or amendment 
to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our products, or any future products that we may develop. 

The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for 
example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during 
prosecution. If a third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and 
perhaps all, of the patent protection on our products. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on our 
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

Because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of 
our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of the 
results of hearing, motions, or other interim developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it 
could have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our common stock. Even if we ultimately prevail, a court may decide not 
to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages, which may not be an adequate 
remedy. Furthermore, the monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management could outweigh any 
benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or 
other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

If we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of third parties or are subject to an intellectual 
property infringement or misappropriation claim, our ability to grow our business may be severely limited and our business could 
be adversely affected. 

We may in the future be the subject of patent or other litigation. Our products and services may infringe, or third parties may claim 
that they infringe, intellectual property rights covered by patents or patent applications under which we do not hold licenses or other 
rights. Third parties may own or control these patents and patent applications in the United States and abroad. These third parties 
could bring claims against us that would cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could cause us 
to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement or other intellectual property-related lawsuit were brought against us, we 
could be forced to stop or delay production or sales of the product that is the subject of the suit. From time to time, we have received 
and may in the future receive letters from third parties drawing our attention to their patent rights. While we take steps to ensure that 
we do not infringe upon, misappropriate or otherwise violate the rights of others, there may be other more pertinent rights of which we 
are presently unaware. The defense and prosecution of intellectual property lawsuits could result in substantial expense to us and 
significant diversion of effort by our technical and management personnel. An adverse determination of any litigation or interference 
proceeding to which we may become a party could subject us to significant liabilities. As a result of patent infringement claims, or in 
order to avoid potential claims, we may choose or be required to seek a license from the third party and be required to pay significant 
license fees, royalties or both. Licenses may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, in which event our business 
would be materially and adversely affected. Even if we were able to obtain a license, the rights may be nonexclusive, which could 
result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. Ultimately, if we are unable to obtain such licenses, we could 
be forced to cease some aspect of our business operations, which could harm our business significantly. 

Changes in U.S. patent laws may limit our ability to obtain, defend and/or enforce our patents. 

Any patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the 
enforcement or defense of our issued patents. For example, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the “Leahy-Smith Act”) included a 
number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affected the way patent applications are prosecuted 
and also affect patent litigation. The USPTO developed regulations and procedures to govern administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, 
and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first to file provisions, 
which became effective on March 16, 2013. The first to file provisions limit the rights of an inventor to patent an invention if not the 
first to file an application for patenting that invention, even if such invention was the first invention. Accordingly, it is not clear what, 
if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. 

However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the enforcement and 
defense of our issued patents. For example, the Leahy-Smith Act provides that an administrative tribunal known as the Patent Trial and 
Appeals Board (“PTAB”) provides a venue for challenging the validity of patents at a cost that is much lower than district court 
litigation and on timelines that are much faster. Although it is not clear what, if any, long-term impact the PTAB proceedings will have 
on the operation of our business, the initial results of patent challenge proceedings before the PTAB since its inception in 2013 have 
resulted 
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in the invalidation of many U.S. patent claims. The availability of the PTAB as a lower-cost, faster and potentially more potent 
tribunal for challenging patents could increase the likelihood that our own patents will be challenged, thereby increasing the 
uncertainties and costs of maintaining and enforcing them. 

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property of a third party, including 
trade secrets or know-how, or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors and third 
parties may claim an ownership interest in intellectual property we regard as our own. 

Many of our employees and consultants were previously employed at or engaged by other medical device companies, including our 
competitors or potential competitors. Some of these employees, consultants and contractors may have executed proprietary rights, 
non-disclosure and non-competition agreements in connection with such previous employment. Although we try to ensure that our 
employees and consultants do not use the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their 
work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, misappropriated the intellectual 
property or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information, of these former employers, competitors or other third 
parties. Additionally, we may be subject to claims from third parties challenging our ownership interest in or inventorship of 
intellectual property we regard as our own, based on claims that our agreements with employees or consultants obligating them to 
assign intellectual property to us are ineffective or in conflict with prior or competing contractual obligations to assign inventions to 
another employer, to a former employer, or to another person or entity. Litigation may be necessary to defend against claims, and it 
may be necessary or we may desire to enter into a license to settle any such claim; however, there can be no assurance that we would 
be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If our defense to those claims fails, in addition to paying 
monetary damages or a settlement payment, a court could prohibit us from using technologies, features or other intellectual property 
that are essential to our products, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets or other 
proprietary information of the former employers. An inability to incorporate technologies, features or other intellectual property that 
are important or essential to our products could have a material adverse effect on our business and competitive position, and may 
prevent us from selling our products. In addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are 
successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. Any 
litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire employees or contract with independent sales representatives. A 
loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our products, which could materially 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and prospects. 

If we fail to execute invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors involved in the development of 
intellectual property or are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our products and our business and 
competitive position could be harmed. 

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on protection of copyright, trade secrets, know-how and confidential and proprietary 
information. We generally enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants and third 
parties upon their commencement of a relationship with us. However, we may not enter into such agreements with all employees, 
consultants and third parties who have been involved in the development of our intellectual property. In addition, these agreements 
may not provide meaningful protection against the unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or other confidential 
information, and adequate remedies may not exist if unauthorized use or disclosure were to occur. The exposure of our trade secrets 
and other proprietary information would impair our competitive advantages and could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. In particular, a failure to protect our proprietary rights may allow competitors to copy our 
technology, which could adversely affect our pricing and market share. Further, other parties may independently develop substantially 
equivalent know-how and technology. 

In addition to contractual measures, we try to protect the confidential nature of our proprietary information using commonly accepted 
physical and technological security measures. Such measures may not, for example, in the case of misappropriation of a trade secret 
by an employee or third party with authorized access, provide adequate protection for our proprietary information. Our security 
measures may not prevent an employee or consultant from misappropriating our trade secrets and providing them to a competitor, and 
recourse we take against such misconduct may not provide an adequate remedy to protect our interests fully. Unauthorized parties may 
also attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our products that we consider proprietary. Enforcing a claim that a party 
illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret can be difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. 
Even though we use commonly accepted security measures, trade secret violations are often a matter of state law, and the criteria for 
protection of trade secrets can vary among different jurisdictions. In addition, trade secrets may be independently developed by others 
in a manner that could prevent legal recourse by us. We also have agreements with our employees, consultants and third parties that 
obligate them to assign their inventions to us; however, these agreements may not be self-executing, not all employees or consultants 
may enter into such agreements, or employees or consultants may breach or violate the terms of these agreements, and we may not 
have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation. If any of our intellectual property or confidential or proprietary information, 
such as our trade secrets, were to be disclosed or misappropriated, or if any such information was independently developed by a 
competitor, it could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and 
prospects. 
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We may be unable to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world. 

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many 
companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign 
jurisdictions. This could make it difficult for us to stop infringement of our foreign patents, if obtained, or the misappropriation of our 
other intellectual property rights. For example, some foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner 
must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including 
government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit. Patent protection must 
ultimately be sought on a country-by-country basis, which is an expensive and time-consuming process with uncertain outcomes. 
Accordingly, we may choose not to seek patent protection in certain countries, and we will not have the benefit of patent protection in 
such countries. 

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention 
from other aspects of our business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be 
inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in the United States and foreign countries may affect our 
ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the enforcement of our intellectual property. 

Actual or perceived failures to comply with applicable data privacy and security laws, regulations, policies, standards, contractual 
obligations and other requirements related to data privacy and security and changes to such laws, regulations, standards, policies 
and contractual obligations could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues 
with the potential to affect our business. We are or may become subject to numerous state, federal and foreign laws, requirements and 
regulations governing the collection, transmission, use, disclosure, storage, retention and security of personal and personally-
identifying information, such as information that we may collect in connection with conducting our business in the United States and 
abroad. Implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, and we cannot 
yet determine the impact future laws, regulations, standards or perception of their requirements may have on our business. This 
evolution may create uncertainty in our business, affect our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions or to collect, store, transfer use 
and share personal information, necessitate the acceptance of more onerous obligations in our contracts, result in liability or impose 
additional costs on us. The cost of compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is high and is likely to increase in the future. 
Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with federal, state or foreign laws or regulation, our internal policies and procedures 
or our contracts governing our processing of personal information could result in negative publicity, government investigations and 
enforcement actions, fines, imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims by third parties, damage to our reputation 
and loss of goodwill, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including protected health information (“PHI”), personally 
identifiable information (“PII”), intellectual property and proprietary business information owned or controlled by ourselves or our 
customers, third-party payors and other parties. We also collect and store sensitive data of our employees and contractors. We manage 
and maintain our applications and data utilizing cloud-based data centers for PII. We utilize external security and infrastructure 
vendors to manage parts of our data centers. 

As our operations and business grow, we are and may become subject to or affected by new or additional data protection laws and 
regulations and face increased scrutiny or attention from regulatory authorities. In the United States, HIPAA establishes, among other 
things, privacy and security standards that limit the use and disclosure of PHI, and imposes certain obligations, including mandatory 
contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of PHI by covered entities, such as health plans, 
healthcare clearinghouses and healthcare providers, as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use 
or disclosure of PHI, and their covered subcontractors. HIPAA requires covered entities and their business associates to develop and 
maintain certain policies and procedures with respect to PHI that is used or disclosed. Further, in the event of a breach of unsecured 
protected health information, HIPAA requires covered entities to notify each individual whose PHI is breached as well as federal 
regulators and, in some cases, the media. Certain states have also adopted comparable privacy and security laws and regulations, some 
of which may be more stringent than HIPAA. Such laws and regulations will be subject to interpretation by various courts and other 
governmental authorities, thus creating potentially complex compliance issues for us and our future customers and strategic partners. 
Determining whether protected health information has been handled in compliance with applicable privacy standards and our 
contractual obligations can be complex and may be subject to changing interpretation. If we are unable to properly protect the privacy 
and security of PHI, we could be found to have breached our contracts. Further, if we fail to comply with applicable privacy laws, 
including applicable privacy and security standards, we could face civil and criminal penalties. The U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services (“HHS”), has the discretion to impose penalties without attempting to resolve violations through informal means. 
HHS enforcement activity can result in financial liability and reputational harm, and responses to such enforcement activity can 
consume significant internal resources, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business financial condition, results 
of operations or prospects.

In addition, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which took effect on January 1, 2020, creates individual privacy rights 
for California consumers and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain personal information. The 
CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data 
breach 
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litigation. Further, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”), which generally went into effect on January 1, 2023, imposes 
additional data protection obligations on covered businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, 
new audit requirements for higher risk data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data. It also created a new California data 
protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and could result in increased privacy and information security 
enforcement. The CCPA and CPRA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, and many similar laws have been 
proposed at the federal level and in other states. In the event that we are subject to or affected by HIPAA, the CCPA, the CPRA or 
other domestic privacy and data protection laws, any liability from failure to comply with the requirements of these laws could 
adversely affect our financial condition. Similar laws have passed in Virginia, Connecticut, Colorado and Utah, and have been 
proposed in other states and at the federal level, reflecting a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the United States. The 
enactment of such laws could have potentially conflicting requirements that would make compliance challenging. We may need to 
invest substantial resources in putting in place policies and procedures to comply with these evolving state laws.

In addition, state attorneys general are authorized to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations 
that threaten the privacy of state residents. We cannot be sure how these regulations will be interpreted, enforced or applied to our 
operations. In addition to the risks associated with enforcement activities and potential contractual liabilities, our ongoing efforts to 
comply with evolving laws and regulations at the federal and state level may be costly and require ongoing modifications to our 
policies, procedures and systems. 

Data protection laws are evolving globally and may add additional compliance costs and legal risks to our operations. We are subject 
to the GDPR, which went into effect in May 2018 and which imposes obligations on companies that operate in our industry with 
respect to the processing of personal data and the cross-border transfer of such data. The GDPR imposes onerous accountability 
obligations requiring data controllers and processors to maintain a record of their data processing and policies. If our or our partners’ 
or service providers’ privacy or data security measures fail to comply with the GDPR requirements, we may be subject to litigation, 
regulatory investigations, enforcement notices requiring us to change the way we use personal data and/or fines of up to 20 million 
Euros or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual turnover of the preceding financial year, whichever is higher, as well as compensation 
claims by affected individuals, negative publicity, reputational harm and a potential loss of business and goodwill. Further, as of 
January 1, 2021, impacted companies have to comply with the GDPR and the UK GDPR, which, together with the amended UK Data 
Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in UK national law, the latter regime having the ability to separately fine up to the greater of 
£17.5 million or 4% of global turnover. While we continue to address the implications of the recent changes to European data privacy 
regulations, data privacy remains an evolving landscape at both the domestic and international level, with new regulations coming into 
effect and continued legal challenges, and our efforts to comply with the evolving data protection rules may be unsuccessful. It is 
possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our practices. Accordingly, we must 
devote significant resources to understanding and complying with this changing landscape. 

Although we work to comply with applicable laws, regulations and standards, our contractual obligations and other legal obligations, 
these requirements are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to 
another, and may conflict with one another or other legal obligations with which we must comply. Any failure or perceived failure by 
us or our employees, representatives, contractors, consultants or other third parties to comply with such requirements or adequately 
address privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, 
negative publicity, loss of goodwill and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations or 
prospects. 

Risks relating to our common stock 

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and entity level controls. If our remediation 
of the material weaknesses is not effective, or if we experience additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to 
maintain an effective system of internal controls in the future, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial 
condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common 
stock. 

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements at the time of our IPO and through the financial reporting period ended 
March 31, 2023, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and our entity level controls. A 
material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal controls such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

With respect to the material weakness related to internal control over financial reporting, we have implemented, and are in the process 
of reviewing corrective actions taken to improve our internal control over financial reporting to remediate this material weakness, 
including (i) the hiring of additional qualified supervisory resources and finance department employees, and (ii) the engagement of 
additional technical accounting consulting resources. 

With respect to the material weakness related to entity level controls related to a lack of sufficient qualified healthcare industry 
compliance and risk management resources, including those necessary to provide appropriate oversight, monitor compliance, and to 
identify and mitigate risks with respect to the financial reporting and disclosures of our operations, we have expended, and intend to 
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continue to expend, considerable time and effort to enhance our compliance and risk management processes with respect to our 
operations in the healthcare industry to remediate this material weakness, including the hiring of additional qualified personnel, and 
the engagement of additional specialized consulting resources. 

We cannot assure you that the measures we intend to take will be sufficient to remediate the material weaknesses we have identified or 
avoid potential future material weaknesses. While we believe that our efforts will enhance our internal control, remediation of the 
material weaknesses will require further validation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls over a 
sustained period of financial reporting cycles, and we cannot assure you that we have identified all, or that we will not in the future 
have additional, material weaknesses. 

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, we may not be able to 
accurately report our financial condition or results of operations which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a 
result, the value of our common stock.

We are subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, and the related rules of the SEC, which generally require our 
management to furnish a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The process of designing, 
implementing and testing the internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation is time-consuming, 
costly and complicated. If we fail to remediate identified material weaknesses or identify additional material weaknesses in our 
internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 
a timely manner, or if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could decline, and we 
could also become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, the SEC or other regulatory 
authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. Because we qualify as a smaller reporting company 
and we have less than $100 million in annual revenue, we are a non-accelerated filer and are no longer required to comply with the 
auditor attestation requirements regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act until we become an accelerated filer or large accelerated filer. These exemptions and reduced disclosures in our 
SEC filings due to our status as a smaller reporting company may make it harder for investors to analyze our results of operations and 
financial prospects. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these 
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our 
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. 

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our 
technologies or products. 

Since our inception, our operations have been financed primarily by net proceeds received from the sale of our securities, indebtedness 
and revenue from the sale of our products. We anticipate our future capital requirements will be substantial and that we will need to 
raise significant additional capital to fund our operations through equity or debt financing, or some combination thereof. If we are 
unable to raise additional funding to meet our operational needs, we will be forced to limit or cease our operations. 

In addition to our current capital needs, we regularly consider fundraising opportunities and may decide, from time to time, to raise 
capital based on various factors, including market conditions and our plans of operation. We may seek funds through borrowings or 
through additional rounds of financing, including private or public equity or debt offerings. Uncertainty in the market generally due to 
increasing interest rates and inflation may make it challenging to raise additional capital, and such capital may not be available to us 
on acceptable terms on a timely basis, or at all.  If adequate funds are not available, or if the terms of potential funding sources are 
unfavorable, our business and our ability to develop our technology and our products would be harmed. If we raise additional funds by 
issuing equity securities, our stockholders may suffer dilution and the terms of any financing may adversely affect the rights of our 
stockholders. In addition, as a condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be granted, rights 
superior to those of existing stockholders. Debt financing, if available, is likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility 
in conducting future business activities, and, in the event of insolvency, debt holders would be repaid before holders of our equity 
securities receive any distribution of our corporate assets. We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with partners 
or others that may require us to relinquish rights or jointly own some aspects of our technologies or products that we would otherwise 
pursue on our own. 

We incur significantly increased costs and are subject to additional regulations and requirements as a result of becoming a public 
company, which could lower our profits or make it more difficult to run our business. 

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company, including 
costs associated with public company reporting requirements. We also have incurred and will continue to incur costs associated with 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and related rules implemented by the SEC and the exchange our securities are listed on. The expenses 
generally incurred by public companies for reporting and corporate governance purposes have been increasing. We expect these rules 
and regulations to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly, 
although we are currently unable to estimate these costs with any degree of certainty. These laws and regulations also could make it 
more difficult 
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or costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept 
reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. These laws and 
regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on our 
board committees or as our executive officers. Furthermore, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we could 
be subject to delisting of our common stock, fines, sanctions, other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation. 

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet any guidance that we provide to the public, the 
market price of our common stock may decline. 

Any public guidance we provided regarding our expected operating and financial results for future periods is comprised of forward-
looking statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other public 
filings and public statements. Our actual results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we provide, especially in times 
of economic uncertainty. If our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance we provide or the 
expectations of investment analysts, or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our common stock may 
decline. In September 2021, we withdrew our financial guidance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 as a result of 
uncertainties arising with respect to the DOJ investigation and claims audits (see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations—DOJ investigation and settlement” for more information). While we have since provided some 
limited financial guidance, we cannot be certain if or when we will resume providing more fulsome financial guidance. 

Our principal stockholder, an entity affiliated with Patient Square, owns a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to 
exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval. 

As of March 31, 2023, our principal stockholder, an entity affiliated with Patient Square, held approximately 76.3% of our outstanding 
voting stock. As a result of this ownership position, Patient Square may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder 
approval. For example, Patient Square may be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or 
approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition 
proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. 

We have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock; as a result, you may not receive any return on investment 
unless you sell your common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our 
common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the 
development and expansion of our business. Any future determination related to dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our 
board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, 
contractual restrictions and capital requirements. Additionally, our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock may be limited 
by the terms of any future debt or preferred securities we issue or any future credit facilities we enter into. As a result, you may not 
receive any return on an investment in our common stock unless you sell your common stock for a price greater than that which you 
paid for it. 

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and, as a result, qualify for, and rely on, certain 
exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements.

Patient Square controls a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, we are a “controlled company” 
within the meaning of the Nasdaq corporate governance standards. A company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by 
an individual, a group or another company is a “controlled company” within the meaning of the Nasdaq rules and may elect not to 
comply with certain corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq, including:

• the requirement that a majority of our board of directors consist of independent directors;

• the requirement that we have a nominating/corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent 
directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities;

• the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written 
charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and

We intend to rely on some or all of the exemptions listed above for so long as we are eligible to do so. To the extent we utilize these 
exemptions, we will not have a majority of independent directors and our nominating and corporate governance and compensation 
committees will not consist entirely of independent directors. As a result, our board of directors and those committees may have more 
directors who do not meet Nasdaq’s independence standards than they would if those standards were to apply. The independence 
standards are intended to ensure that directors who meet those standards are free of any conflicting interest that could influence their 
actions as directors. Accordingly, our stockholders may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are 
subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq.
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Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall. 

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the 
trading price of our common stock could decline. On a post-reverse stock split basis, we had a total of 20,741,841 shares of common 
stock outstanding as of March 31, 2023. 

Patient Square, which holds approximately 76.3% of our common stock, and maintains rights with respect to the registration of their 
shares under the Securities Act. On December 16, 2022, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
268859) to register for resale up to 15,821,299 shares held by Patient Square (as amended, the “PSC Resale Registration Statement”), 
representing the entirety of Patient Square’s holdings in the Company’s common stock as of March 31, 2023. The PSC Resale 
Registration Statement became effective on February 13, 2023. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act has resulted in the 
shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by affiliates. Any sales of 
these securities by Patient Square could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock. 

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider 
favorable and may lead to entrenchment of management. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent 
changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions include: 

• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the 
membership of a majority of our board of directors; 

• no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director 
candidates; 

• the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of 
directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies 
on our board of directors; 

• the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and 
other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to 
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror; 

• the ability of our board of directors to alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval; 

• the required approval of at least 662⁄3% of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend or repeal 
our amended and restated bylaws or to repeal certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation; 

• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special 
meeting of our stockholders; 

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, which may delay the 
ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and 

• advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or 
to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from 
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control 
of us. 

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under Section 
203, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless 
the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the transaction. 

Claims for indemnification by our directors, officers and other employees or agents may reduce our available funds to satisfy 
successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors 
and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. 

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated bylaws and our 
indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors, officers and certain other employees provide that: 

• We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at 
our request, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify 
such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to 
the 
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best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such 
person’s conduct was unlawful. 

• We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by 
applicable law. 

• We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, 
except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person 
is not entitled to indemnification. 

• We will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings 
initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of 
directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification. 

• The rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into 
indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such 
persons. 

• We may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to 
directors, officers, employees and agents. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the 
State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for certain disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our 
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the 
State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of 
Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our 
behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or any 
action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided that, the exclusive forum provision will 
not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act, or any other claim for which the federal courts 
have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided further that, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any such 
action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal court sitting in the State of 
Delaware. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal district 
courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action 
against us or any of our directors, officers, employees or agents and arising under the Securities Act. Nothing in our amended and 
restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws precludes stockholders that assert claims under the Exchange Act 
from bringing such claims in state or federal court, subject to applicable law. 

We believe these provisions may benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law and federal 
securities laws by chancellors and judges, as applicable, particularly experienced in resolving corporate disputes, efficient 
administration of cases on a more expedited schedule relative to other forums and protection against the burdens of multi-forum 
litigation. However, this choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 
favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with 
respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and 
the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ 
certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of 
provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are 
facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum 
provisions, and there can be no assurance that such provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were 
to find the choice of forum provision that will be contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and 
restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action 
in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

If securities analysts publish negative evaluations of our stock or stop publishing research or reports about our business, the price 
of our stock could decline. 

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us 
or our business. We currently have limited research coverage by financial analysts. Some of the analysts who previously covered the 
Company have discontinued coverage, and certain analysts have downgraded their evaluation of our stock. For example, certain of our 
analysts downgraded our common stock following our announcement of the DOJ investigation and claims audits (see “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— DOJ investigation and settlement”), which may have 
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contributed to a significant decline in the price of our common stock. If any of the analysts who continue to cover or cover us in the 
future downgrade their evaluation of our common stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our 
common stock price may decline. If additional analysts cease to cover our stock, we could lose visibility in the market for our stock, 
which in turn could cause our stock price to decline. 

General risk factors 

Engaging in acquisitions or strategic partnerships may increase our capital requirements, dilute our stockholders, cause us to 
incur debt or assume contingent liabilities and subject us to other risks. 

As part of our business strategy, we may acquire companies or businesses, enter into strategic partnerships and joint ventures and 
make investments to further our business. Risks associated with these transactions include the following, any of which could adversely 
affect our revenue, gross margin, profitability, cash flows and financial condition: 

• increased operating expenses and cash requirements; 

• the assumption of additional indebtedness or contingent liabilities; 

• assimilation of operations, intellectual property and products of an acquired company, including difficulties associated 
with integrating new personnel; 

• the diversion of our management’s attention from our existing product programs and initiatives in pursuing such a 
strategic merger or acquisition; 

• loss of key personnel, and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships; 

• uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party and their existing 
products or product candidates and regulatory approvals; 

• our inability to generate revenue from acquired technology and/or products sufficient to meet our objectives in 
undertaking the acquisition or even to offset the associated acquisition and maintenance costs; and 

• causing us to become subject to additional laws and regulations. 

In addition, in connection with these acquisitions or strategic partnerships, we may issue dilutive securities, assume or incur debt 
obligations, incur large one-time expenses and acquire intangible assets that could result in significant future amortization expense. 
Moreover, we may not be able to locate suitable acquisition or partnership opportunities, and even if we do locate such opportunities 
we may not be able to successfully bid for or obtain them due to competitive factors or lack of sufficient resources. This inability 
could impair our ability to grow or obtain access to technology or products that may be important to the development of our business. 

We experience seasonality in our business, which may cause fluctuations in our financial results. 

In the past we have experienced, and we may continue to experience, seasonality in our business, with higher sales volumes in 
quarters when we commercially launch new products and in the fourth calendar quarter as a result of holiday promotional activity. 
However, since our public disclosure of the DOJ investigation and our related decision to temporarily stop accepting insurance 
benefits as a method of direct payment between December 8, 2021 and September 15, 2022, we have experienced and may continue to 
experience a material decline in gross systems shipped. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations—DOJ investigation and settlement” for more information. As a result, seasonal factors did not have a material 
impact on our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023. Negative publicity, including in relation to the DOJ 
investigation, the claims audits, and other legal proceedings has and could continue to harm our reputation and brand and diminish 
consumer confidence in our products, which may further impact any seasonal trends in our business.

Because of these fluctuations, among other factors, it is possible that in future periods our operating results will fall below the 
expectations of securities analysts or investors, in which case the market price of our stock would likely decrease. These fluctuations, 
among other factors, also mean that our operating results in any particular period may not be relied upon as an indication of future 
performance.

Our effective tax rate may vary significantly from period to period. 

Various internal and external factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on our future effective tax rate. These factors include, 
but are not limited to, changes in tax laws both within and outside the United States, regulations and/or rates, structural changes in our 
business, new or changes to accounting pronouncements, non-deductible goodwill impairments, changing interpretations of existing 
tax laws or regulations, changes in the relative proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we 
operate that have differing statutory tax rates, the future levels of tax benefits of equity-based compensation, changes in overall levels 
of pretax earnings or changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. Additionally, we could be challenged by state 
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and local tax authorities as to the propriety of our sales tax compliance, and our results could be materially impacted by these 
compliance determinations. 

In addition, our effective tax rate may vary significantly depending on our stock price. The tax effects of the accounting for share-
based compensation may significantly impact our effective tax rate from period to period. In periods in which our stock price is higher 
than the grant price of the share-based compensation vesting in that period, we will recognize excess tax benefits that will decrease our 
effective tax rate. In periods in which our stock price is lower than the grant price of the share-based compensation vesting in that 
period, our effective tax rate may increase. The amount and value of share-based compensation issued relative to our earnings in a 
particular period will also affect the magnitude of the impact of share-based compensation on our effective tax rate. These tax effects 
are dependent on our stock price, which we do not control, and a decline in our stock price could significantly increase our effective 
tax rate and adversely affect our financial results.

We are subject to a number of risks related to the credit card and debit card payments we accept. 

We accept payments through credit and debit card transactions. For credit and debit card payments, we pay interchange and other fees, 
which may increase over time. An increase in those fees may require us to increase the prices we charge and would increase our 
operating expenses, either of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If we or our processing vendors fail to maintain adequate systems for the authorization and processing of credit and debit card 
transactions, it could cause one or more of the major credit card companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In 
addition, if these systems fail to work properly and, as a result, we do not charge our customers’ credit or debit cards on a timely basis, 
or at all, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The payment methods that we offer also subject us to potential fraud and theft by criminals, who are becoming increasingly more 
sophisticated in exploiting weaknesses that may exist in the payment systems. If we fail to comply with applicable rules or 
requirements for the payment methods we accept, or if payment-related data is compromised due to a breach, we may be liable for 
significant costs incurred by payment card issuing banks and other third parties or subject to fines and higher transaction fees, or our 
ability to accept or facilitate certain types of payments may be impaired. In addition, our customers could lose confidence in certain 
payment types, which may result in a shift to other payment types or potential changes to our payment systems that may result in 
higher costs. If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card transactions, we may face civil liability, diminished public 
perception of our security measures and significantly higher card-related costs, each of which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds 
transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it more difficult for us to comply. We are required to comply with payment 
card industry security standards. Failing to comply with those standards may violate payment card association operating rules, federal 
and state laws and regulations and the terms of our contracts with payment processors. Any failure to comply fully also may subject us 
to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability, and may result in the loss of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments. 
Further, there is no guarantee that such compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our payment systems or the theft, loss or 
misuse of data pertaining to credit and debit cards, card holders and transactions. 

If we are unable to maintain our chargeback rate or refund rates at acceptable levels, our processing vendor may increase our 
transaction fees or terminate its relationship with us. Any increases in our credit and debit card fees could harm our results of 
operations, particularly if we elect not to raise our rates for our products to offset the increase. The termination of our ability to process 
payments on any major credit or debit card would significantly impair our ability to operate our business. 

Our information technology systems or those used by our third-party service providers, vendors, strategic partners or other 
contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches and other disruptions, which could result in a material disruption 
of our products and services development programs, compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from 
accessing critical information, potentially exposing us to liability or otherwise adversely affecting our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

We collect and maintain information in digital form that is necessary to conduct our business, and we are increasingly dependent on 
information technology systems and infrastructure to operate our business, including our cloud-based infrastructure, mobile and web-
based applications, our e-commerce platform and our enterprise software. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and 
transmit large amounts of confidential information, including intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal 
information of customers and our employees and contractors. It is critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the 
confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. We have also outsourced elements of our information technology 
infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party vendors may or could have access to our confidential information. We do not 
conduct audits or formal evaluations of our third-party vendors’ information technology systems and cannot be sure that our third-
party vendors have sufficient measures in place to ensure the security and integrity of their information technology systems and our 
confidential and proprietary information. If our third-party vendors fail to protect their information technology systems and our 
confidential and proprietary information, we may be vulnerable to disruptions in service and unauthorized access to our confidential or 
proprietary information and we could incur liability and reputational damage.
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Our information technology systems and those of our third-party service providers, vendors, strategic partners and other contractors or 
consultants are vulnerable to attack and damage or interruption from computer viruses and malware (e.g., ransomware), natural 
disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and electrical failures, hacking, cyberattacks, phishing attacks and other social 
engineering schemes, malicious code, employee theft or misuse, denial or degradation of service attacks, sophisticated nation-state and 
nation-state-supported actors or unauthorized access or use by persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems 
inside our organization. The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyberattacks or cyber intrusion, including by 
computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of 
attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Russia’s invasion of Ukraine or another war or international 
dispute (such as, for example, any escalation in geopolitical turmoil between the People’s Republic of China and Taiwan) may cause a 
general increase in the number and severity of such malicious incidents. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and continued hybrid 
working environment, we may also face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the number of our 
employees who are working remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. 
Furthermore, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to, or to sabotage, systems change frequently and often are 
not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative 
measures. We may also experience security breaches that may remain undetected for an extended period. Even if identified, we may be 
unable to adequately investigate or remediate incidents or breaches due to attackers increasingly using tools and techniques that are 
designed to circumvent controls, to avoid detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence. 

The costs to us to investigate and mitigate network security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs, 
ransomware, and security vulnerabilities could be significant, and while we have implemented security measures to protect our data 
security and information technology systems from system failure, accident and security breach, our efforts to address these problems 
may not be successful, and these problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, disruption of our development programs 
and our business operations, cessation of service, negative publicity and other harm to our business and our competitive position, 
whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other disruptions. We and certain of our vendors and 
service providers are from time to time subject to cyberattacks and security incidents. While we do not believe that we have 
experienced any significant system failure, accident or security breach to date, if we were to experience a significant breach of our 
information systems or data, the costs associated with the investigation, remediation and potential notification of the breach to 
counterparties and data subjects could be material. In addition, our remediation efforts may not be successful. If we do not allocate and 
effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper technology and cybersecurity infrastructure, we could suffer 
significant business disruption, including transaction errors, supply chain or manufacturing interruptions, processing inefficiencies, 
data loss or the loss of or damage to intellectual property or other proprietary information. If such an event were to occur and cause 
interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations, 
whether due to a loss, corruption or unauthorized disclosure of our trade secrets, personal information or other proprietary or sensitive 
information or other similar disruptions. 

If a security breach or other incident were to result in the unauthorized access to or unauthorized use, disclosure, release or other 
processing of personal information, it may be necessary to notify individuals, governmental authorities, supervisory bodies, the media 
and other parties pursuant to applicable privacy and security laws. For example, the Company retains data that is subject to HIPAA, 
which contain specific security and notification requirements to which we must adhere. Any security compromise affecting us, our 
service providers, vendors, strategic partners, other contractors, consultants, or our industry, whether real or perceived, could harm our 
reputation, erode confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures and lead to regulatory scrutiny. To the extent that any 
disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or systems, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential 
or proprietary or personal information, we could incur liability, including litigation exposure, penalties and fines, we could become the 
subject of regulatory action or investigation, our competitive position could be harmed and the further development and 
commercialization of our products and services could be delayed. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our 
operations, it could result in a material disruption of our business. Furthermore, federal, state and international laws and regulations 
can expose us to enforcement actions and investigations by regulatory authorities, and potentially result in regulatory penalties, fines 
and significant legal liability, if our information technology security efforts fail. We would also be exposed to a risk of loss or 
litigation and potential liability, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations 
or prospects. Further, any losses, costs or liabilities may not be covered by, or may exceed the coverage limits of, any applicable 
insurance policies. 

International trade disputes could result in tariffs and other protectionist measures that could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Tariffs could increase the cost of our products and the raw materials that go into making them. These increased costs could adversely 
impact the gross margin that we earn on our products. Tariffs could also make our products more expensive for customers, which 
could make our products less competitive and reduce consumer demand. Countries may also adopt other protectionist measures that 
could limit our ability to offer our products. Political uncertainty surrounding international trade disputes and protectionist measures 
(including as a result of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the various sanctions and export controls being implemented by 
the international community against Russia, as well as any escalating geopolitical turmoil between the People’s Republic of China and 
Taiwan) could also have a negative effect on consumer confidence and spending, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

If we are unable to continue to drive consumers to our website, it could cause our revenue to decrease. 
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Many consumers find our website by searching for hearing aid information through internet search engines or from word-of-mouth 
and personal recommendations. A critical factor in attracting visitors to our website is how prominently we are displayed in response 
to search queries. Accordingly, we use search engine marketing as a means to provide a significant portion of our customer 
acquisition. Search engine marketing includes both paid website visitor acquisition on a cost-per-click basis and visitor acquisition on 
an unpaid basis, often referred to as organic or algorithmic search. 

One method we employ to acquire visitors via organic search is commonly known as search engine optimization (“SEO”). SEO 
involves developing our website in a way that enables the website to rank high for search queries for which our website’s content may 
be relevant. We also rely heavily on favorable recommendations from our existing customers to help drive traffic to our website. If our 
website is listed less prominently or fails to appear in search result listings for any reason, it is likely that we will attract fewer visitors 
to our website, which could adversely affect our revenue. 

Disruptions in internet access, or in cloud-based hosting services from certain third parties, could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

As an online business, we are dependent on the internet and maintaining connectivity between ourselves and consumers and sources of 
internet traffic, such as Google. As consumers increasingly turn to mobile devices, we also become dependent on consumers’ access to 
the internet through mobile carriers and their systems. Disruptions in internet access, whether generally, in a specific market or 
otherwise, especially if widespread or prolonged, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For 
example, the “denial-of-service” attack against Dyn in October 2016 resulted in a service outage for several major internet companies. 
It is possible that we could experience an interruption in our business, and we do not carry business interruption insurance sufficient to 
compensate us for all losses that may occur. 

Additionally, we rely on third-party service providers to host our data and to provide services to key aspects of our operations, 
including production, logistics, delivery and customer services and databases as well as employee and payroll services. We do not 
control the operations, physical security, or data security of any of these third parties. Despite our efforts to use commercially 
reasonable diligence in the selection and retention of such third-party providers, such efforts may be insufficient or inadequate to 
prevent or remediate such risks. Our third-party providers, including our cloud computing providers, may be subject to intrusions, 
computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, sabotage, acts of vandalism, acts of terrorism, and other misconduct. They are vulnerable 
to damage or interruption from power loss, telecommunications failures, fires, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, tornadoes, and similar 
events, and they may be subject to financial, legal, regulatory, and labor issues, each of which may impose additional costs or 
requirements on us or prevent these third parties from providing services to us or our customers on our behalf. 

In addition, these third parties may breach their agreements with us, disagree with our interpretation of contract terms or applicable 
laws and regulations, refuse to continue or renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms or at all, fail to or refuse to 
process transactions or provide other services adequately, take actions that degrade functionality, increase prices, impose additional 
costs or requirements on us or our customers, or give preferential treatment to our competitors. If we are unable to procure alternatives 
in a timely and efficient manner and on acceptable terms, or at all, we may be subject to business disruptions, losses, or costs to 
remediate any of these deficiencies. The occurrence of any of the above events could result in reputational damage, legal or regulatory 
proceedings, or other adverse consequences, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Changes in the regulation of the internet could adversely affect our business. 

Laws, rules and regulations governing internet communications, advertising and e-commerce are dynamic, and the extent of future 
government regulation is uncertain. Federal and state regulations govern various aspects of our online business, including intellectual 
property ownership and infringement, trade secrets, the distribution of electronic communications, marketing and advertising, user 
privacy and data security, search engines and internet tracking technologies. Future taxation on the use of the internet or e-commerce 
transactions could also be imposed. Existing or future regulation or taxation could increase our operating expenses and expose us to 
significant liabilities. To the extent any such regulations require us to take actions that negatively impact us, they could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Recent Sale of Unregistered Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
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None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.
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number

 
Exhibit description Form   Dated Number

   

3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. 8-K   10/20/2020 3.1    
                 

3.2   First Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation.

8-K   10/13/2022 3.1    

                 

3.3   Second Certificate of Amendment to Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

8-K   1/17/2023 3.1    

                 

10.1   2020 Incentive Award Plan, as amended through February 
1, 2023.# 

10-K   3/23/2023 10.3(a)    

                 

10.2   2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.# 10-K   3/23/2023 10.4    
                 

10.3   Non-Employee Director Compensation Program, as 
amended through April 20, 2023.#†

           

                 

10.4   Office Lease, dated January 11, 2023, by and between 
Eargo, Inc. and Nashland TT, LP.

8-K   1/13/2023 10.1    

                 

31.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.†

           

                 

31.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.†

           

                 

32.1   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.‡

           

                 

32.2   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.‡

           

101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document†            
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document†            
101.CAL   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 

Document†
           

101.DEF   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document†

           

101.LAB   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document†

           

101.PRE   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
Document† 

           

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the 
Inline XBRL document)†

           

† Filed herewith.

‡ Furnished herewith.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

  Eargo, Inc.
    
Date: May 11, 2023  By: /s/ Christian Gormsen
   Christian Gormsen
   President and Chief Executive Officer 
      (Principal Executive Officer)
     
Date: May 11, 2023  By: /s/ Adam Laponis
   Adam Laponis
   Chief Financial Officer
      (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.3
EARGO, INC.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION PROGRAM
 (as amended through April 20, 2023)

 
Non-employee members of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Eargo, Inc. (the 

“Company”) shall be eligible to receive cash and equity compensation as set forth in this Non-
Employee Director Compensation Program (this “Program”) effective as of October 15, 2020 
(the “Effective Date”).  The cash and equity compensation described in this Program shall be 
paid or be made, as applicable, automatically and without further action of the Board, to each 
member of the Board who is not an employee of the Company or any parent or subsidiary of the 
Company (each, a “Non-Employee Director”) who may be eligible to receive such cash or 
equity compensation, unless such Non-Employee Director declines the receipt of such cash or 
equity compensation by written notice to the Company.  This Program shall remain in effect until 
it is revised or rescinded by further action of the Board. The terms and conditions of this 
Program shall supersede any prior cash or equity compensation arrangements between the 
Company and its Non-Employee Directors effective as of the Effective Date.

1. Cash Compensation. 

(a) Annual Retainers. Each Non-Employee Director shall be eligible to receive 
an annual retainer of $40,000 for service on the Board. In addition, a Non-Employee Director 
shall receive the following additional annual retainers, as applicable:

(i) Chairperson of the Board. A Non-Employee Director serving as 
Chairperson of the Board shall receive an additional annual retainer of $35,000 for such service.

(ii) Chair of the Audit Committee. A Non-Employee Director serving 
as Chair of the Audit Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $20,000 for such 
service.

(iii) Chair of the Compensation Committee. A Non-Employee Director 
serving as Chair of the Compensation Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of 
$15,000 for such service.

 (iv) Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. A 
Non-Employee Director serving as Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee shall receive an additional annual retainer of $10,000 for such service.

(v) Member of the Audit Committee. A Non-Employee Director 
serving as a member of the Audit Committee (other than the Chair) shall receive an additional 
annual retainer of $10,000 for such service.

(vi) Member of the Compensation Committee. A Non-Employee 
Director serving as a member of the Compensation Committee (other than the Chair) shall 
receive an additional annual retainer of $7,500 for such service.

(vii) Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 
A Non-Employee Director serving as a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
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Committee (other than the Chair) shall receive an additional annual retainer of $5,000 for such 
service.

(b) Payment of Retainers. The annual retainers described in Section 1(a) shall be 
earned on a quarterly basis based on a calendar quarter and shall be paid by the Company in 
arrears. In the event a Non-Employee Director does not serve as a Non-Employee Director, or in 
the applicable positions described in Section 1(a), for an entire calendar quarter, the retainer paid 
to such Non-Employee Director shall be prorated for the portion of such calendar quarter 
actually served as a Non-Employee Director, or in such positions, as applicable.

2. Equity Compensation. Non-Employee Directors shall be granted the equity awards 
described below.  The awards described below shall be granted under and shall be subject to the 
terms and provisions of the Company’s 2020 Incentive Award Plan, as may be amended from 
time to time (the “Plan”), and shall be granted subject to the execution and delivery of award 
agreements, including attached exhibits, in substantially the same forms previously approved by 
the Board, setting forth the vesting schedule applicable to such awards and such other terms as 
may be required by the Plan. 

(a) Initial Awards. Each person who is initially elected or appointed to the Board as a 
Non-Employee Director shall be granted, automatically and without necessity of any action by 
the Board or any committee thereof, on the date of such initial election or appointment an option 
to purchase that number of shares of Company common stock (the “Common Stock”) calculated 
by dividing (i) $200,000 by (ii) the per share grant date fair value of the option, calculated based 
on the 30 trading day average closing price of the Common Stock as of the date of grant (or if the 
date of grant is not a trading day, the immediately preceding trading day) and using assumptions 
published in the Company’s most recent periodic report in which such assumptions are included 
as of the date of grant, rounded down to the nearest whole share (each, an “Initial Option”).

(b) Annual Awards. On the date of each annual meeting of the Company’s 
stockholders, each Non-Employee Director who has served on the Board for at least 6 months as 
of such date and who will continue to serve as a Non-Employee Director immediately following 
such annual meeting shall be granted, automatically and without necessity of any action by the 
Board or any committee thereof, on the date of such annual meeting an option to purchase that 
number of shares of Common Stock equal to the lesser of (i) 5,000 and (ii) the number 
determined by dividing (A) $120,000 by (B) the per share grant date fair value of the option, 
calculated based on the 30 trading day average closing price of the Common Stock as of the 
trading day immediately preceding the date of grant and using assumptions published in the 
Company’s most recent periodic report in which such assumptions are included as of the date of 
grant, rounded down to the nearest whole share (each, an “Annual Option”).  

(c) Terms of Awards Granted to Non-Employee Directors.

(i) Exercise Price.  Each Initial Option and Annual Option shall have an 
exercise per share equal to Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) as of the date of grant.

(ii) Vesting. 
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(A)  Initial Option.  Each Initial Option shall vest and become exercisable as 

to 1/36th of the shares subject thereto on each monthly anniversary of the applicable date of 
grant such that the shares subject to the Initial Option are fully vested on the third anniversary of 
the grant, subject to the Non-Employee Director continuing in service to the Company through 
the applicable vesting date.

(B) Annual Option.  Subject to the Non-Employee Director continuing in 
service to the Company through the applicable vesting date, each Annual Option shall vest and 
become exercisable as to 1/12th of the shares subject thereto on each monthly anniversary of the 
applicable date of grant, provided, that if the annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders 
immediately following the date of grant takes place prior to the first anniversary of the date of 
grant, the Annual Option shall vest and become exercisable immediately prior to the annual 
meeting of the Company’s stockholders following the date of grant.

(iii) Term.  Each Initial Option and Annual Option shall have a term of ten years 
from the date of grant, subject to earlier termination in connection with a termination of services 
to the Company, as set forth in the agreement evidencing the Initial Option or Annual Option.

(iv) Accelerated Vesting.  

 (A) Termination Due to Death or Disability.  In the event that any Non-
Employee Director terminates service with the Company due to such Non-Employee Director’s 
death or Disability (as defined below), each of such Non-Employee Director’s Initial Option and 
Annual Option(s), along with any other stock options or other equity-based awards held by such 
Non-Employee Director, shall vest and, if applicable, become exercisable with respect to one 
hundred percent (100%) of the shares subject thereto upon such termination of service.  For 
purposes of this Program, “Disability” shall mean a permanent and total disability within the 
meaning of Section 22(e)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  

(B) Change in Control.  In the event that a Change in Control (as defined in 
the Plan) occurs, each Initial Option and Annual Option, along with any other stock options or 
other equity-based awards held by any Non-Employee Director, shall vest and, if applicable, 
become exercisable with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of the shares subject thereto as 
of immediately prior to such Change in Control.

3. Reimbursements.  The Company shall reimburse each Non-Employee Director 
for all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket travel and other business expenses incurred 
by such Non-Employee Director in the performance of his or her duties to the Company 
in accordance with the Company’s applicable expense reimbursement policies and 
procedures as in effect from time to time.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christian Gormsen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eargo, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: May 11, 2023  By:  /s/ Christian Gormsen
   Christian Gormsen

   
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 





Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Adam Laponis, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eargo, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 

Date: May 11, 2023  By:  /s/ Adam Laponis
   Adam Laponis

   
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 





Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

 

Date: May 11, 2023  By:  /s/ Christian Gormsen
   Christian Gormsen

   
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 





Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

 

Date: May 11, 2023  By:  /s/ Adam Laponis
   Adam Laponis

   
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 




